**Probability Surveys** Vol. 20 (2023) 1–86 ISSN: 1549-5787 https://doi.org/10.1214/22-PS12

# Tensor- and spinor-valued random fields with applications to continuum physics and cosmology

#### Anatoliy Malyarenko

Division of Mathematics and Physics, Mälardalen University, Box 883, 721 23 Västerås, Sweden e-mail: anatoliy.malyarenko@mdu.se url: https://sites.google.com/view/anatoliy-malyarenko

#### Martin Ostoja-Starzewski

Department of Mechanical Science & Engineering, also Institute for Condensed Matter Theory and Beckman Institute, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, IL, 61801-2906 USA e-mail: martinos@illinois.edu url: https://martinos.mechanical.illinois.edu

**Abstract:** In this paper, we review the history, current state-of-art, and physical applications of the spectral theory of two classes of random functions. One class consists of homogeneous and isotropic random fields defined on a Euclidean space and taking values in a real finite-dimensional linear space. In applications to continuum physics, such a field describes the physical properties of a homogeneous and isotropic continuous medium in the situation, when a microstructure is attached to all medium points. The range of the field is the fixed point set of a symmetry class, where two compact Lie groups act by orthogonal representations. The material symmetry group of a homogeneous medium is the same at each point and acts trivially, while the group of physical symmetries may act nontrivially. In an isotropic random medium, the rank 1 (resp., rank 2) correlation tensors of the field transform under the action of the group of physical symmetries according to the above representation (resp., its tensor square), making the field isotropic.

Another class consists of isotropic random cross-sections of homogeneous vector bundles over a coset space of a compact Lie group. In applications to cosmology, the coset space models the sky sphere, while the random crosssection models a cosmic background. The Cosmological Principle ensures that the cross-section is isotropic.

For the convenience of the reader, a necessary material from multilinear algebra, representation theory, and differential geometry is reviewed in Appendix.

**MSC2020 subject classifications:** Primary 60G60; secondary 74A40, 74E35, 74H50, 74S60, 76F55, 76M35.

Keywords and phrases: Random field, cosmic microwave background, microstructure, spectral expansion.

Received December 2021.

arXiv: 2112.04826

# Contents

Lis	List of Figures		•	3
1	1 Introduction			3
2	2 Physical motivation			8
3	3 A short history of the topic			11
4	4 Random fields defined on an Euclidean space		•	15
	4.1 The formulation of a problem			15
	4.2 Principles for finding a solution			16
	4.3 The description of homogeneous fields			17
	4.4 A preliminary description of homogeneous and isotropic	fields .		18
	4.5 The general form of the two-point correlation tensor $\therefore$			20
	4.6 Examples			21
	4.7 Concluding remarks			31
5	5 Applications to continuum physics			32
	5.1 Motivation from stochastic mechanics			32
	5.2 TRFs of dependent fields			33
	5.2.1 Rank 1 TRFs (vector random field)			33
	5.2.2 Rank 2 TRFs			35
	5.3 TRFs of constitutive responses			38
	5.3.1 From a random microstructure to mesoscale resp	onse .		38
	5.3.2 TRFs in damage phenomena			42
	5.3.3 TRFs as dyadics			44
	5.4 Concluding remarks			46
6	6 Random cross-sections of homogeneous vector bundles			46
7	7 Applications to cosmology			49
8	8 Conclusions			59
А	A The mathematical language of the theory			60
	A.1 Tensors			60
	A.2 Group representations			61
	A.3 The Adams construction			63
	A.4 Manifolds			64
	A.5 Bundles			67
	A.6 Induced representations			71
	A.7 The structure of the induced representation			72
	A.8 The construction of a basis in the space of an induced repr	esentati	on	73
	A.8.1 Schur's Lemma			73
	A.8.2 The construction of a basis			74
Ac	Acknowledgments			75
Re	References			

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

# List of Figures

- 1 (a) Lamb's problem for a homogeneous half-plane with a concentrated tangential load P(t) having a triangular-in-time history. (b) The same problem on a random field of mass density, with: the coefficient of variation = 0.124, Cauchy correlation function [120], fractal dimension D = 2.1, and Hurst coefficient H = 0.5. Solutions in both cases have been obtained via a cellular automata method which (i) allows the assignment of heterogeneous material properties from cell to cell and (ii) in the limit of infinitesimal cells, is analytically equivalent to the continuum elastodynamics equations [98]. Reprinted from [61] by permission of Elsevier. . .
- 2 (a) Random crack field; (b) distribution of n on the unit sphere;
  (c) random ellipse field with a single ellipse (with semi-axes b, a) showing the (m, n) pair for determination of the fabric tensor.
  Reprinted from [82] by permission of Cambridge University Press. 43

#### 1. Introduction

Random functions of several variables appeared for the first time as mathematical models for physical phenomena like turbulence, see [62, 119, 137, 146, 147, 148, 149, 150, 151]. Since then, the theory developed further and many of new applications appeared, see historical accounts in [73, 90, 91, 106, 143, 158, 162, 163].

In this survey paper, we describe two particular directions in the theory of random functions of several variables.

- 1. The first one studies random fields defined on the space  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and taking values in a real finite-dimensional space, say U. The case, when the elements of U are tensors of a fixed rank over  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , turns out to be very interesting for applications in continuum physics.
- 2. The second direction studies random cross-sections of vector, tensor and spinor bundles over manifolds. The case, when the base of the bundle is the sphere  $S^2$ , finds applications in cosmology.

It turns out that the two directions described above are linked to several parts of mathematics. In Section 2, we give a physical motivation for introducing random fields and random cross-sections of vector and tensor bundles. Following a mathematical physics tradition, we place physical media into an affine space without a fixed origin, and later vectorise the above space. We explain *Curie's principle* that gives a relation between *medium* and *physical* symmetry groups of a physical medium. It is here where we give a rigourous mathematical definition of a homogeneous and isotropic random field, the main object for investigations in Sections 4 and 5. An explanation of the fact that the Cosmic Microwave Background can be modelled mathematically as an isotropic random cross-section of a bundle over the sky sphere, is given.

In Section 3, we give a short historical account of the topic and describe how the two directions mentioned above developed in time and how the links

between the theory of random functions of several variables and several parts of deterministic mathematics have been established.

Section 4 occupies a significant part of the paper. In applications to continuum physics, a random field model is applied to different physical phenomena like turbulence, strain field, piezoelectricity, linear elasticity, etc. How many strain, piezoelectric, elasticity,...classes do there exist? In Subsection 4.1, to answer this question, we attach a homogeneous and isotropic random field to the orthogonal representation of the physical symmetry group that acts in the fixed point set of a symmetry class of the medium symmetry group, and formulate a general problem: how to calculate the general form of the one- and two-point correlation tensors of the introduced field? How to find its spectral expansion?

As usual, there are several ways to solve a given mathematical problem. In Subsection 4.2 we explain our approach. In short: we divide our solution into two parts; the first one is coordinate-free, the second one starts from choosing the most convenient basis in the fixed point set U of a symmetry class and finishes by writing the two-point correlation tensor and the spectral expansion of the field in the chosen basis.

The material given in Subsection 4.3 is well-known and given there for the sake of completeness. We describe a homogeneous random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  defined on the space domain  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and taking values in a real finite-dimensional linear space U, in terms of a measure F defined on the Borel  $\sigma$ -field  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  of the wavevector domain  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and taking values in the cone of Hermitian nonnegative-definite linear operators on the complexification cU of the space U. It remains to find all such measures F that the corresponding random field is not only homogeneous, but also isotropic.

A preliminary answer to this question is given in Subsection 4.4. We identify the closed subgroup  $\tilde{G}$  of the group O(d), the subspace  $\tilde{U}$  of the real linear space of Hermitian linear operators in cU, and the orthogonal representation  $\theta^{\tilde{U}}$  of the group  $\tilde{G}$  such that: a U-valued homogeneous random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  is isotropic if and only if the corresponding measure F satisfies Equation (4.6) below. This statement is immediately formulated in the form of Equation (4.8) which describes more simple objects: an ordinary (not operator-valued) measure  $\mu$ , and a function f defined on the wavevector domain and taking values in a finite-dimensional convex compact set. This link between the theory of homogeneous and isotropic random fields and the theory of finite-dimensional convex compacta was established by the authors.

In Subsection 4.5, we sketch a proof for Equation (4.10), which gives the two-point correlation tensor of a homogeneous and isotropic random field in a coordinate-free form. We refer to the papers, when the above equation is transformed to a coordinate form.

Instead of reproducing the above form with a lot of indices, we consider several examples important for continuum physics. All examples follow the same 6-steps scheme, described in the beginning of Subsection 4.6. In different examples, the steps are described with different degree of details. We conclude in Subsection 4.7. In Section 5, we describe two major applications of the theory developed in Section 4, to continuum physics. One has to do with imposing restrictions on dependent tensor fields such as displacement, velocity or stress. These restrictions are dictated by the field equations of continuum theories such as mechanics, conductivity, or electrostatics.

The second application relates to positive-definiteness property of tensor fields of constitutive properties in continuum mechanics. First and foremost, it appears in linear constitutive theories such as classical elasticity or electrical permeability, which are defined in terms of free energy functionals. Secondly, positive-definiteness is crucial in formulating models of irreversible material behaviour based on the dissipation functionals, such as exemplified by conductivity and viscous fluids. Thus, if statistical continuum mechanics theories are built on stochastic functionals of free energy and/or dissipation function, tensor-valued random fields of rank 2 and 4 are essential.

Fluctuations of random fields of elasticity and viscosity provide statistical information about the extremes. The minima correspond to the loss of positivedefiniteness, which is a well-known possibility in elasticity, e.g. [53]. On the other hand, and in light of the non-equilibrium statistical mechanics [58], there is also a possibility of violations of the Clausius–Duhem inequality when the continuum point is set up on length and/or time scales comparable to characteristic features (mean-free paths and/or collision times) of microstructure [109, 110]. When the number of elements (atoms or grains) in this statistical volume element becomes sufficiently large, and when the observation time windows grow, the probability of spontaneous violations of the Second Law vanishes.

The exposition in Section 6 is motivated by the idea formulated in [6]. On the one hand, in the current standard model of particle physics, both six quarks and six leptons are divided into three *generations*: pairs of particles that demonstrate a similar physical behaviour. For example, the first generation of leptons includes electron and electron neutrino, the second muon and muon neutrino, the third tau and tau neutrino.

On the other hand, modern quantum physics is based on the theory of complex unitary representations of topological groups. The latter come in three flavours: the representations of *real, complex*, and *quaternionic* type. It is supposed that there exists a link between three generations of particles and three types of complex representations.

Following this idea, we consider in a *unified* way homogeneous vector bundles  $(E, B, \pi)$  whose fibers are (right) finite-dimensional linear spaces over three (skew) fields: the field  $\mathbb{R}$  of reals, the field  $\mathbb{C}$  of complex numbers, and the skew field  $\mathbb{H}$  of quaternions. Theorem 6.1 is new and gives the spectral expansion of an isotropic random section of a homogeneous vector bundle with the above described fibres. The expansion is performed with respect to a *special* basis in the Hilbert space of square-integrable cross-sections of the bundle  $(E, B, \pi)$ . Here, we explain how such a basis appears, using a simple homogeneous vector bundle.

Let G = SO(3) be the group of orthogonal  $3 \times 3$  matrices with unit determinant, and let H = SO(2) be the subgroup of G that leave the point  $(0,0,1)^{\top} \in \mathbb{R}^3$  fixed. It is well-known that the set G/H of left cosets is identified with the sphere  $B = S^2$ . Put  $E = B \times \mathbb{C}^1$  and  $\pi(x,z) = x$  for all  $x \in S^2$  and  $z \in \mathbb{C}^1$ . The Hilbert space  $L^2(S^2)$  of square-integrable cross-sections of the bundle  $(E, B, \pi)$  with respect to the Lebesgue measure dx consists of functions on the sphere. The unitary representation  $(g \cdot f)(x) = f(g^{-1}x)$  for  $g \in G$  and  $f \in L^2(S^2)$  is the direct sum of the irreducible unitary representations  $cU_\ell$  of the group G over nonnegative integers  $\ell$ . The space  $cU_\ell$  of dimension  $2\ell + 1$  is the famous space of harmonic polynomials of degree  $\ell$ .

Let s(x) be a centred second-order random cross-section of the line bundle  $(E, B, \pi)$ , and let  $\{f_n(x): n \ge 1\}$  be an arbitrary orthonormal basis of the space  $L^2(S^2)$ . The random variables

$$a_n = \int_{S^2} s(x) \overline{f_n(x)} \, \mathrm{d}x$$

are the Fourier coefficients of the random field s(x). In general, they are correlated. However, if s(x) is *isotropic* and the basis can be divided into countably many subsets such that the  $\ell$ th one constitute a basis of the space  $cU_{\ell}$ , then the random variables  $a_n$  are uncorrelated. Moreover, the variance of  $a_n$  depends only on the subset to which  $f_n(x)$  belongs. In particular, if one chooses the spherical harmonics  $Y_{\ell,m}(x)$  as the basis, we recover the result of [100]:

$$s(x) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m} Y_{\ell,m}(x).$$

The general algorithm for choosing such a basis is described in Subsection A.8. We discuss it below.

Note that the random fields considered in Sections 4 and 5 are random sections of *trivial* tensor bundles over Euclidean spaces.

Section 7 is a collection of examples. We collect different spectral expansions of the Stokes parameters of the CMB using different orthonormal bases in the Hilbert spaces of square-integrable sections of various homogeneous vector bundles, where the fibers are linear spaces over various (skew) fields. See also similar calculations in [74].

Finally, Appendix A is intended for readers who do not specialise in the areas of mathematics linked to the theory of random fields. The material here is standard, but some results are new and some approaches require a short explanation.

In the vast majority of mathematical and physical literature, three equivalent approaches to the definition of a tensor are the most popular. An axiomatic approach using some universal property due to Bourbaki [11] is probably the most elegant of them. A constructive approach through multidimensional arrays goes back to [117, 118] and is well-known to all physicists. See also a comprehensive historical account in [63] and a modern one in [67]. We choose an intermediate approach through multi-linear maps, which goes back at least to the first edition of [138] in 1960. A discussion concerning the tensor product of quaternionic spaces goes to [50].

There exist a lot of excellent books concerning group representations. A few of them consider real, complex, and quaternionic representations simultaneously, [1, 15, 30] are among them. A closely connected area, Invariant Theory, is described in [134].

The definition of a manifold as the level set of a continuously differentiable function goes back to [115], while the definition in terms of patching Euclidean pieces together was given in 1913 in the first edition of [154]. These definitions are equivalent by the *Whitney Embedding Theorem* [156]. We choose to use the latter; nevertheless, the dispute aimed to argue which definition is better continues nowadays, see, e.g., [3].

Fiber bundles can also be defined in several ways. We give a short description of two of them. The first one is gluing up a bundle from trivial patches  $\mathcal{U} \times F$ , where  $\mathcal{U}$  is the domain of a chart on the base manifold B, and F is the fiber. The second one is the principal bundle point of view. See a detailed comparison of the two approaches in [122] as well as a very condensed explanation in [18].

We choose the latter approach. With the help of principal bundles, we give a simple description of spin groups, see Example A.6 below, and of spin bundles in Example A.9. Compare the latter explanation with [13, Section 2.1] which uses the former approach. See also [122, 142] for equivalence of the two approaches.

The most important class of fiber bundles for applications to random fields are the so called homogeneous vector bundles. In our approach, we start from a principal fibre bundle  $(G, H, B, \tilde{\pi})$ , where G is a Lie group, H its closed subgroup, B = G/H is the set of left cosets, and  $\tilde{\pi}(g) = gH$ . We restrict ourselves to the case of compact group G. A homogeneous vector bundle is the bundle  $(E, B, \pi)$ associated to  $(G, H, B, \tilde{\pi})$  by a representation of H in a finite-dimensional linear space  $L_0$  over a (skew) field K. The Hilbert space  $L^2(E)$  of square-integrable cross-sections of such a bundle carries the representation of the group G induced by the representation of H described above. The space  $L^2(E)$  can be uniquely represented as the direct sum of finite-dimensional isotypic subspaces, where the representations of G, multiple to the irreducible ones, act. The multiplicities of the irreducible components are calculated with the help of the Frobenius reciprocity explained in Subsection A.7. Note that the Frobenius reciprocity can be formulated for the case when the Lie group G is not necessarily compact, see [8].

As we have seen above, using the trivial homogeneous line bundle over the sphere  $S^2$ , it is important to construct orthonormal bases in the isotypic subspaces of the space  $L^2(E)$ . To construct such a basis, we use the following fact. Let L be an irreducible representation of the group G. Either one copy or multiple copies of L act in the nonzero isotypic subspace of  $L^2(E)$  corresponding to L if and only if the dimension of the linear space  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}G}(L, L^2(E))$  of intertwining operators between L and  $L^2(E)$  is positive. By the Frobenius reciprocity, the above space is isomorphic to the linear space  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(\operatorname{res}_H^G L, L_0)$  of intertwining operators between the representation  $\operatorname{res}_H^G L$  of the group G given by the restriction of the representation L from G to H, and the representation  $L_0$ . Moreover, the isomorphism is constructed *explicitly*.

In Subsection A.8, we start by construction of a basis in the linear space

 $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G}L, L_{0})$ . The basis is constructed with the help of Schur's Lemma. Up to our knowledge, the last item in our formulation of Lemma A.1 about the structure of the real linear space of intertwining operators between two copies of an irreducible quaternionic representation is new. Proof is included.

The images of the elements of the above described basis under the explicit Frobenius reciprocity isomorphism form an orthogonal basis in the isotypic subspace of  $L^2(E)$  corresponding to a given irreducible representation L of the group G. After eventual normalisation, the obtained basis is suitable for a spectral expansion of an isotropic cross-section of the homogeneous vector bundle  $(E, B, \pi)$ . In particular, both ordinary and spin-weighted complex-valued spherical harmonics can be considered as particular cases of our construction. In Section 7, we construct their real-valued counterparts and use both complex- and real-valued harmonics for spectral expansion of the Stokes parameters of the Cosmic Microwave Background.

Finally, it is known that the current standard cosmological model predicts the existence of *three* cosmic backgrounds. In addition to the Cosmic Microwave Background, the gravitational and neutrino backgrounds should exist, see, e.g., [26]. The spectral expansions of the corresponding random fields may be constructed using the methods described in this paper. The spectral expansion of the CMB's linear polarisation starts from  $\ell = 2$ , because the CMB consists of photons of spin 1. Likewise, the expansion of the linear polarisation for the case of gravitational background should start from  $\ell = 4$ , because the hypothetical quants of the gravitational radiation, gravitons, have spin 2. For a model, where neutrino is a Dirac particle, the above expansion for the case of neutrino background should start from  $\ell = 1$ , because neutrinos have spin  $\frac{1}{2}$ .

#### 2. Physical motivation

The reader may consult Appendix A for mathematical terms used below.

**Example 2.1.** Let D be a bounded domain in the affine Euclidean space  $E^d$ , filled with a continuous medium. Following a physics tradition, we call the points in D places. Let U be a real finite-dimensional linear space, and let  $T: D \to U$  be a function that describes a particular physical parameter of the medium. For example:

- $U = \mathbb{R}^1$  and T(A) is the temperature at the place  $A \in D$ ;
- $d = 3, U = \mathbb{R}^3$  and T(A) is the velocity of the fluid at A;
- $U = S^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , the linear space of symmetric rank 2 tensors over  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , and T(A) is the strain tensor of a deformable body at A;
- $U = S^2(\mathbb{R}^3) \otimes \mathbb{R}^3$  and T(A) is the piezoelectricity tensor at A;
- $U = S^2(S^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$  and T(A) is the elasticity tensor at A.

More examples can be found in [5, 102, 104].

If the medium is gaseous or liquid, its movement may become turbulent. In a deformable body, a spatially random material microstructure may be present. In all these cases, we speak of a *random medium*. More explanation can be found in [82, Section 1.1] and [106]. The function T becomes a random field. There is a probability space  $(\Omega, \mathfrak{F}, \mathsf{P})$  and a function  $T: D \times \Omega \to V$  such that for any fixed  $A \in D$  and a Borel set  $B \subseteq V$ , the set  $\{\omega \in \Omega: T(A, \omega) \in B\}$  is an event. As usual, the random field  $T(A, \omega)$  is completely determined by its finite-dimensional distributions  $(T(A_1, \omega), \ldots, T(A_n, \omega))$ , where n is a positive integer, and  $A_1, \ldots, A_n$  are n distinct places in D.

Fix a place  $O \in D$ . There exists a unique structure of a *linear* space in  $E^d$  such that the map  $E^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $A \mapsto A - O$ , is an isomorphism of linear spaces. In what follows, we identify the spaces  $E^d$  and  $\mathbb{R}^d$  with the help of the above map. To simplify the exposition, we suppose that the random field  $\{T(\mathbf{x}): \mathbf{x} \in D \subset \mathbb{R}^d\}$  is the restriction to D of another random field defined on all of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and denote the new field by the same symbol  $T(\mathbf{x})$ .

Assume that the physical properties of the random medium do not depend on the choice of the origin O, that is, the medium is homogeneous. Mathematically, the random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  is strictly homogeneous.

**Definition 2.1.** A random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  is called *strictly homogeneous* if for any positive integer n, for any n distinct points  $\mathbf{x}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_n$  in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and for arbitrary  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , the finite-dimensional distributions of  $(T(\mathbf{x}_1), \ldots, T(\mathbf{x}_n))$  and  $(T(\mathbf{x}_1 + \mathbf{x}), \ldots, T(\mathbf{x}_n + \mathbf{x}))$  are identical.

Assume that the random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  is *second-order*, that is,  $\mathsf{E}[||T(\mathbf{x})||^2] < \infty$ ,  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^d$ . If, in addition, such a field is strictly homogeneous, then it is wide-sense homogeneous.

**Definition 2.2.** A second-order random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  is called *wide-sense homo*geneous if and only if its *one-point correlation tensor*  $\langle T(\mathbf{x}) \rangle = \mathsf{E}[T(\mathbf{x})]$  and the *two-point correlation tensor* 

$$\langle T(\mathbf{x}), T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \mathsf{E}[(T(\mathbf{x}) - \langle T(\mathbf{x}) \rangle) \otimes (T(\mathbf{y}) - \langle T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle)]$$
 (2.1)

are shift-invariant, that is, for any  $\mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{R}^d$  we have

$$\langle T(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{z}) \rangle = \langle T(\mathbf{x}) \rangle, \qquad \langle T(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{z}), T(\mathbf{y} + \mathbf{z}) \rangle = \langle T(\mathbf{x}), T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle.$$
 (2.2)

In what follows, we consider only wide-sense homogeneous random fields and call them just homogeneous. We also assume, that a random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  is *mean-square continuous*, that is, for any  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^d$  we have

$$\lim_{\mathbf{y}-\mathbf{x}\to\mathbf{0}} \mathsf{E}[\|T(\mathbf{x}) - T(\mathbf{y})\|^2] = 0.$$
(2.3)

Note under some weak conditions a measurable second-order random field is automatically mean-square continuous, see [86].

What happens with the random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  under rotation and/or reflection? A microstructure is attached to any material point  $\mathbf{x} \in D$ . At the macroscopic scale all the details of the microstructure are lost, all what remains is the *ma*terial symmetry group G. The above group is the same for all material points, because the medium is homogeneous. The group G is a closed subgroup of the group O(d) of orthogonal  $d \times d$  matrices. On the other hand, the physical properties of the media are encoded by the *physical symmetry group*, denote it by H. Curie's principle states that  $G \subseteq H$ , see [4, 168].

Under the action of a matrix  $g \in G$ , a point  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^d$  becomes the point  $g\mathbf{x}$ . The random element  $T(\mathbf{x})$  of the linear space U becomes the element  $\theta^U(g)T(\mathbf{x})$ . The random fields  $T(g\mathbf{x})$  and  $\theta^U(g)T(\mathbf{x})$  must be identical.

**Definition 2.3.** A random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  is called *strictly isotropic* if for any positive integer n, for any n distinct points  $\mathbf{x}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_n$  in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and for arbitrary  $g \in G$ , the finite-dimensional distributions

$$(T(g\mathbf{x}_1),\ldots,T(g\mathbf{x}_n))$$
 and  $(\theta^U(g)T(\mathbf{x}_1),\ldots,\theta^U(g)T(\mathbf{x}_n))$ 

are identical.

In particular, we have

$$\langle T(g\mathbf{x})\rangle = \langle \theta^U(g)T(\mathbf{x})\rangle, \qquad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

The continuous linear operator  $\theta^U(g)$  commutes with the mathematical expectation, and we obtain

$$\langle T(g\mathbf{x})\rangle = \theta^U(g)\langle T(\mathbf{x})\rangle.$$
 (2.4)

Similarly, the two-point correlation tensors of the two above random fields must be equal:

$$\langle T(g\mathbf{x}), T(g\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \langle \theta^U(g)T(\mathbf{x}), \theta^U(g)T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle.$$

By definition of the two-point correlation tensor (2.1) and by continuity of the tensor product, we have

$$\langle \theta^U(g)T(\mathbf{x}), \theta^U(g)T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = (\theta^U \otimes \theta^U)(g) \langle T(\mathbf{x}), T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle$$

which gives

$$\langle T(g\mathbf{x}), T(g\mathbf{y}) \rangle = (\theta^U \otimes \theta^U)(g) \langle T(\mathbf{x}), T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle.$$
 (2.5)

**Definition 2.4.** A second-order random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  is called *wide-sense isotropic* if and only if its one-point correlation tensor satisfies Equation (2.4) and its two-point correlation tensor satisfies Equation (2.5).

In what follows, we consider only wide-sense isotropic random fields and call them just isotropic.

**Example 2.2.** The current standard model of cosmology assumes that the universe is a 4-dimensional differentiable manifold, say M, called a *spacetime*. For any two intersecting charts  $(\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}, \varphi_{\alpha})$  and  $(\mathcal{U}_{\beta}, \varphi_{\beta})$  of the manifold M, and for any  $x \in \mathcal{U}_{\alpha} \cap \mathcal{U}_{\beta}$ , denote by  $w_{\alpha\beta}(x)$  the Jacobi matrix of the map  $\varphi_{\alpha} \circ \varphi_{\beta}^{-1}$  at the point x. Glue up a topological space from Cartesian products  $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha} \times \mathbb{R}^{4}$  by identifying a point  $(x, \mathbf{y}_{\alpha}) \in \mathcal{U}_{\alpha} \times \mathbb{R}^{4}$  with a point  $(x, \mathbf{y}_{\beta}) \in \mathcal{U}_{\beta} \times \mathbb{R}^{4}$  whenever  $\mathbf{y}_{\alpha} = w_{\alpha\beta}\mathbf{y}_{\beta}$ . The obtained topological space is denoted by TM. The projection  $p: TM \to M$  that maps a point  $(x, \mathbf{y}) \in TM$  to the point  $x \in M$ , defines

a tangent bundle (TM, p, M). It is assumed that a symmetric non-degenerate bilinear form  $g_x$  with signature (-, +, +, +) in  $T_xM = p^{-1}(x)$  is assigned in a differentiable way at each  $x \in M$ .

About 380,000 years after the Big Bang, the electromagnetic waves decoupled from the rest of the universe. Now, they are observable as the *Cosmic Microwave Background*, or just the CMB. The waves of the CMB spread in the manifold (M, g) according to the Maxwell equations. The *geometric optic approximation*, see [89], says that the trajectories of the CMB waves are very close to the so called *null geodesics*, that is, the geodesic lines with null tangent vectors. A tangent vector  $X \in T_x M$  is null if  $g_x(X, X) = 0$ . The manifold (M, g) is assumed to be *time-oriented*, that is, one can continuously choose a negative component

$$N^{-}(x) = \{ X \in T_{x}M \colon g_{x}(X, X) = 0, X^{0} < 0 \}$$

in each null cone  $N(x) = \{ X \in T_x M : g_x(X, X) = 0 \}$ . An observer at the point  $x \in M$  observes the waves of the CMB at each point of the celestial sphere

$$S^2 = \{ X \in N^-(x) \colon (X^1)^2 + (X^2)^2 + (X^3)^2 = 1 \}.$$

A CMB detector measures an *electric field*  $\mathbf{E}$  perpendicular to the direction of observation  $\mathbf{n} \in S^2$ . Mathematically,  $\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{n}) \in T_{\mathbf{n}}S^2$ , the tangent plane at the point  $\mathbf{n}$ . The *intensity tensor*  $P(\mathbf{n})$  is proportional to the tensor product  $\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{n}) \otimes \mathbf{E}^*(\mathbf{n})$ . It is a cross-section of the tensor bundle  $(TM \otimes T^*M, p \otimes p^*, M)$ .

The Cosmological Principle states that at least on large scales, the Universe is homogeneous and isotropic. Therefore, the standard model of cosmology assumes that the CMB is an *isotropic random cross-section* of the above tensor bundle. We develop the theory of isotropic random cross-sections in Section 6.

### 3. A short history of the topic

Recall that a continuous function  $f : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  is called *positive-definite* if for any positive integer n, for any n points  $\mathbf{x}^1, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_n$  in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and for arbitrary real numbers  $c_1, \ldots, c_n$  we have

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_j c_j f(\mathbf{x}_i, \mathbf{x}_j) \ge 0.$$

In 1938, Isaac Jacob Schoenberg [121] proved the following result.

Theorem 3.1 (I.J. Schoenberg, [121]). Equation

$$f(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = 2^{(d-2)/2} \Gamma(d/2) \int_0^\infty \frac{J_{(d-2)/2}(\lambda \|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}\|)}{\|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}\|^{(d-2)/2}} \,\mathrm{d}\Phi(\lambda)$$
(3.1)

establishes a one-to-one correspondence between the class of continuous positivedefinite functions  $f(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})$  whose values depend only on the distance  $\|\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y}\|$ between the points  $\mathbf{x}$  and  $\mathbf{y}$ , and the class of finite Borel measures  $\Phi$  on the set  $[0, \infty)$ . In Theorem 3.1, the symbol  $\Gamma$  denotes the gamma function, while the symbol  $J_{(d-2)/2}$  denoted the Bessel function of the first kind of order (d-2)/2. It turns out that Theorem 3.1 is equivalent to the following result. Put G = O(d),  $U = \mathbb{R}^1$  and  $\theta^U(g) = 1$ .

**Theorem 3.2.** Equation (3.1) establishes a one-to-one correspondence between the class of two-point correlation tensors of homogeneous and isotropic random fields and the class of finite Borel measures  $\Phi$  on the set  $[0, \infty)$ .

See the proof of equivalence of the above Theorems in [35]. This result clearly shows a link between the theory of homogeneous and isotropic random fields and the theories of positive-definite kernels and of special functions.

**Remark 3.1.** The spectral representations of type (3.1) are not unique. Indeed, one cam multiply the function under the integral by a positive constant and divide the measure  $\Phi$  by the same constant. In Equation (3.1), the integrand is equal to 1 at the point 0 in the following sense:

$$\lim_{u \downarrow 0} 2^{(d-2)/2} \Gamma(d/2) \frac{J_{(d-2)/2}(u)}{u^{(d-2)/2}} = 1$$

In 1938, Theodore von Kármán and Leslie Howarth [150] provided a physical proof of the following result. Let G = O(3),  $U = \mathbb{R}^3$  and  $\theta^U(g) = g$ , see Example 2.1, the case of a turbulent fluid. Denote by  $\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{x})$  the velocity of the fluid. Let  $\mathbf{x}$  and  $\mathbf{y}$  be two vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , denote  $\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{y} - \mathbf{x}$ , and  $r = ||\mathbf{r}||$ . Let  $v_l(\mathbf{x})$  be the projection of the vector  $\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{x})$  in the direction  $\mathbf{r}$ , and let  $v_k(\mathbf{x})$  be the projection of the same vector in a direction perpendicular to  $\mathbf{r}$ . The two-point correlation tensor of the  $\mathbb{R}^1$ -valued homogeneous and isotropic random field  $v_l(\mathbf{x})$ ,

$$B_{ll}(r) = \mathsf{E}[v_l(\mathbf{x})v_l(\mathbf{x}+\mathbf{r})]$$

is called the *longitudinal correlation function* of the random field  $\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{x})$ . Similarly, the two-point correlation tensor of the random field  $v_k(\mathbf{x})$ ,

$$B_{kk}(r) = \mathsf{E}[v_k(\mathbf{x})v_k(\mathbf{x}+\mathbf{r})]$$

is called the *transversal correlation function*. Introduce the matrix-valued functions

$$L_{ij}^1(\mathbf{r}) = \delta_{ij}, \qquad L_{ij}^2(\mathbf{r}) = r_j r_j. \tag{3.2}$$

The two-point correlation tensor of the random field  $\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{x})$  has the form

$$\langle v_i(\mathbf{x}), v_j(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{r}) \rangle = [B_{ll}(r) - B_{kk}(r)] \frac{L_{ij}^2(\mathbf{r})}{r^2} + B_{kk}(r) L_{ij}^1(\mathbf{r}).$$
 (3.3)

In 1940, Howard Percy Robertson [119] gave a mathematical proof of the above result, using the invariant theory. Thus, a link between the theory of homogeneous and isotropic random fields and the invariant theory was established.

Equation (3.3) gives only *necessary* conditions for a function to be the twopoint correlation tensor of the velocity of a turbulent fluid. In 1948, Akiva

Moiseevich Yaglom [159] found the necessary and sufficient conditions for the case of d = 3. This result was proved independently in 1952 by José Enrique Moyal in [93]. We formulate their result for arbitrary d as proved by Yaglom in [160]. Equations

$$B_{ll}(r) = 2^{(d-2)/2} \Gamma(d/2) \left[ \int_0^\infty \left( \frac{J_{d/2}(\lambda r)}{(\lambda r)^{d/2}} - \frac{J_{(d+2)/2}(\lambda r)}{(\lambda r)^{(d-2)/2}} \right) d\Phi_1(\lambda) + (d-1) \int_0^\infty \frac{J_{d/2}(\lambda r)}{(\lambda r)^{d/2}} d\Phi_2(\lambda) \right],$$

$$B_{kk}(r) = 2^{(d-2)/2} \Gamma(d/2) \left[ \int_0^\infty \frac{J_{d/2}(\lambda r)}{(\lambda r)^{d/2}} d\Phi_1(\lambda) + \int_0^\infty \left( \frac{J_{(d-2)/2}(\lambda r)}{(\lambda r)^{(d-2)/2}} - \frac{J_{d/2}(\lambda r)}{(\lambda r)^{d/2}} \right) d\Phi_2(\lambda) \right]$$
(3.4)

establish a one-to-one correspondence between the class of longitudinal and transverse correlation functions of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ -valued homogeneous and isotropic random fields and the class of pairs  $(\Phi_1, \Phi_2)$  of finite Borel measures on  $[0, \infty)$  satisfying the condition

$$\Phi_1(\{0\}) = \Phi_2(\{0\}). \tag{3.5}$$

In 1961, A.M. Yaglom [161] and independently Mykhaĭlo Ĭosypovych Yadrenko in his unpublished PhD thesis proved the following result.

**Theorem 3.3** (Yadrenko–Yaglom). A centred  $\mathbb{R}^1$ -valued homogeneous and isotropic random field has the form

$$T(r,\theta_{1},\ldots,\theta_{d-2},\varphi) = \left(2^{d-1}\Gamma(d/2)\pi^{d/2}\right)^{1/2} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{h(\ell,d)} Y_{\ell}^{m}(\theta_{1},\ldots,\theta_{d-2},\varphi) \\ \times \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{J_{\ell+(d-2)/2}(\lambda r)}{(\lambda r)^{(d-2)/2}} \, \mathrm{d}Z_{\ell}^{m}(\lambda).$$
(3.6)

In Theorem 3.3, the symbols  $(r, \theta_1, \ldots, \theta_{d-2}, \varphi)$  denote the spherical coordinates in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , the functions  $Y_{\ell}^m(\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_{d-2}, \varphi)$  are real-valued spherical harmonics, the number

$$h(\ell, d) = (2\ell + d - 2)\frac{(\ell + d - 3)!}{(d - 2)!\ell!}$$

is the total number of spherical harmonics of degree  $\ell$  on the centred unit sphere  $S^{d-1}$ , and  $Z_{\ell}^m$  are Borel measures on  $[0, \infty)$  taking values in the Hilbert space  $L_0^2(\Omega)$  of centred real-valued random variables with finite variance on the probability space  $(\Omega, \mathfrak{F}, \mathsf{P})$  with control measure  $\Phi$  given in Equation (3.1), that is,

$$\mathsf{E}[Z_{\ell}^{m}(A_{1})] = 0, \qquad \mathsf{E}[Z_{\ell_{1}}^{m_{1}}(A_{1})Z_{\ell_{2}}^{m_{2}}(A_{2})] = \delta_{\ell_{1}\ell_{2}}\delta_{m_{1}m_{2}}\Phi(A_{1}\cap A_{2})$$

for arbitrary Borel subsets  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  of the set  $[0, \infty)$ . The real-valued spherical harmonics  $Y_{\ell}^m$  are not so known as their complex-valued cousins  $Y_{\ell,m}$ , see [25],

[72, Subsection A.4.3], or [82, Section 2.10]. Our notation follows [105], which is nowadays a de facto standard.

In 1964, Victor Aleksandrovich Lomakin [68] provided a physical proof of the following result. Let G = O(3),  $U = S^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $\theta^U(g) = S^2(g)$ , see Example 2.1, the case of a strain tensor of a random deformable body. Denote by  $T(\mathbf{x})$  the strain tensor of the body. To simplify notation, introduce the *Ogden tensors* after [101]. For a nonnegative integer  $\nu$ , the Ogden tensor I of rank  $2\nu + 2$  is defined inductively by

$$I_{ij} = \delta_{ij}, \qquad I_{ijkl} = \frac{1}{2} (\delta_{ik} \delta_{jl} + \delta_{il} \delta_{jk}),$$
$$I_{i_1 \cdots i_{2\nu+2}} = \nu^{-1} (I_{i_1 p i_3 i_4} I_{p i_2 i_5 \cdots i_{2\nu+2}} + \dots + I_{i_1 p i_{2\nu+1} i_{2\nu+2}} I_{p i_2 \cdots i_{2\nu}}),$$

where there is a summation over p. The two-point correlation tensor of the random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  has the form

$$\langle T_{ij}(\mathbf{x}), T_{kl}(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = P_4(r) L_{ijkl}^1(\mathbf{r}) + P_6(r) L_{ijkl}^2(\mathbf{r}) + [P_5(r) - P_6(r)] L_{ijkl}^3(\mathbf{r}) + [P_3(r) - P_4(r)] L_{ijkl}^4(\mathbf{r}) ' + [P_1(r) + P_2(r) - 2P_3(r) - 4P_5(r)] L_{ijkl}^5(\mathbf{r})$$
(3.7)

with  $P_4(r) + 2P_6(r) - P_2(r) = 0$ , where

$$\begin{split} L^{1}_{ijkl}(\mathbf{r}) &= I^{0}_{ij}I^{0}_{kl}, & L^{2}_{ijkl}(\mathbf{r}) = 2I_{ijkl}, \\ L^{3}_{ijkl}(\mathbf{r}) &= r_{j}r_{k}I_{il} + r_{i}r_{l}I_{jk} + r_{i}r_{k}I_{jl} + r_{j}r_{l}I_{ik}, & L^{4}_{ijkl}(\mathbf{r}) = r_{j}r_{j}I_{kl} + r_{k}r_{l}I_{ij}, \\ L^{5}_{ijkl}(\mathbf{r}) &= r_{i}r_{j}r_{k}r_{l}. \end{split}$$

In 1965, V.A. Lomakin [69] found the general form of the two-point correlation tensor of the random field  $T_{ijkl}(\mathbf{x})$  that corresponds to the case of an elasticity tensor of a deformable body, see Example 2.1. His formula includes 15 terms and will not be reproduced here.

In 2014–2022 the authors of the survey published a series of papers and books [61, 75, 76, 77, 79, 80, 81, 83, 84, 111] in collaboration with colleagues, where they extended the results described above. We describe the above extensions in Sections 4 and 5.

The Cosmic Microwave Background was discovered serendipitously in 1964–1965 by Arno Allan Penzias and Robert Woodrow Wilson, see [113]. As the authors wrote

This excess temperature is, within the limits of our observations, isotropic, unpolarised, and free from seasonal variations (July, 1964–April, 1965).

Later on, with the help of more advanced instruments, it was found that the CMB deviates from isotropy and is polarised. Two mathematical models of the CMB in the form of a random field were constructed in 1997 independently by two research groups, see [59] and [164]. More mathematical studies appeared in [7], [34], and [72]. We describe these results in Sections 6 and 7.

# 4. Random fields defined on an Euclidean space

#### 4.1. The formulation of a problem

Let d be a positive integer. Let G be a closed subgroup of the orthogonal group O(d) of  $d \times d$  orthogonal matrices acting on a real finite-dimensional linear space U with an inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)$  by an orthogonal representation with translation  $\theta^U(g)$ . Let  $T(\mathbf{x})$  be a U-valued mean-square continuous random field on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  which is homogeneous according to Equation (2.2) and isotropic according to Equation (2.5). We would like to find the general form of its one- and two-point correlation tensors similar to Equation (3.1) and the representation of the field itself similar to Equation (3.6).

Before we continue, the following question will be considered. Which fields of the above described class are most interesting for continuum physics?

First, we give an answer to this question, using a particular example. In Example 2.1 we have seen that the representation with translation  $\theta^{S^2(S^2(\mathbb{R}^3))}$  corresponds to linear elasticity. How many classes of elastic bodies are there?

The mathematically correct answer to this question was given by Sandra Forte and Maurizio Vianello in 1996, see [28]. Fix a tensor T in the linear space  $U = S^2(S^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$ . Let  $K_T$  be group defined by

$$K_T = \{ g \in \mathcal{O}(3) \colon g \cdot T = T \}.$$

Mathematicians call  $K_T$  the stationary subgroup of the point T. Physicists call it the material symmetry group of the microstructure attached to a physical medium.

As g runs over O(3), the point  $g \cdot T$  runs over the orbit  $O_T$  of the point T:

$$O_T = \{ g \cdot T \colon g \in \mathcal{O}(3) \}.$$

It is easy to see that the material symmetry group of a point  $g \cdot T \in O_T$ is conjugate to  $K_T$ , that is, it is equal to  $gK_Tg^{-1}$ . Call two tensors  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  equivalent if their material symmetry groups are conjugate. This relation partitions the space U into equivalence classes called symmetry classes. Each symmetry class is completely determined by the conjugacy class [K], that is, the set of all closed subgroups of the group O(3) that are conjugate to the material symmetry group K of a particular tensor in the symmetry class. Forte and Vianello found 8 symmetry classes for elasticity, or elasticity classes.

For a group K that defines a symmetry class, define its *fixed point set* or the *linear slice* as

$$U_K = \{ T \in U : g \cdot T = T \text{ for all } g \in K \}.$$

The linear slice  $U_K$  is the linear space that meets all the orbits of tensors which have *at least* the symmetry class [K]. It is also the isotypical subspace of Uwhere the copies of the trivial representation of the group K act. Moreover, in many cases there exists a group G such that K is a proper subgroup of G but  $U_K$  is still an invariant subspace for G. The maximal group with this property is the *normaliser* of K:

$$N(K) = \{ g \in \mathcal{O}(3) \colon gKg^{-1} = K \}.$$

The normaliser N(K) is the maximal physical symmetry group that corresponds to the material symmetry group K.

The most interesting case for continuum physics is as follows: d = 2 (the so called *plane problems*) or d = 3 (space problems), U is the linear slice of a symmetry class [K], and G is a closed subgroup of the normaliser N(K) such that K is a subgroup of G. A continuous medium occupies a compact subset D of the linear space  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . A microstructure is attached to any material point  $\mathbf{x} \in D$ . The group K is the group of symmetries of the above microstructure. We assume that the medium is homogeneous and this group is the same for all material points. At the macroscopic scale all the details of the microstructure are lost, all what remains is the material symmetry group K.

On the other hand, the physical properties of the media are encoded by the *physical symmetry group*, the group G. Such defined group satisfies the *Curie principle* explained above.

Note that an algorithm for determining all symmetry classes for a given finitedimensional representation of the group O(3), is described in [102, 103, 104].

In all examples that follow below, G is a closed subgroup of the group O(d) satisfying the condition  $K \subseteq G \subseteq N(K)$ , where the group K defines a symmetry class, and U is the fixed point set of the symmetry class [K], where an orthogonal representation of the group G acts.

# 4.2. Principles for finding a solution

First of all, we can easily find the one-point correlation tensor  $\langle T(\mathbf{x}) \rangle$  of a homogeneous and isotropic random field. It follows from the first equation in (2.2) that this quantity does not depend on  $\mathbf{x}$ . Denote it just by T. It follows from Equation (2.4) that  $\theta^U(g)T = T$  for all  $g \in G$ , which is equivalent to the following: if the isotypical space of U that corresponds to the trivial irreducible representation of G, has positive dimension, then T is an arbitrary element of the above isotypical space, otherwise T = 0. In what follows, we always consider the centred random field  $T(\mathbf{x}) - T$  and denote it again by  $T(\mathbf{x})$ .

The general form of the two-point correlation tensor of the field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  clearly depends on the choice of the basis in the space U. Therefore, the above choice should be included to the proof. We divide the proof into two parts. The first, coordinate-free part, will be sketched in Subsections 4.3–4.5. Equations of this part will be written in a simple, coordinate-free form. The price one has to pay for such a simplification is that while deducing the result, we introduce a couple of notions which are not always familiar to some readers.

It is possible to write down the second, coordinate part of the proof for a general group and representation. This leads to a Bacchanalia of indices, see

[79, Theorem 0], [82, Theorem 13]. Instead, we consider examples of introducing coordinates for different representations of the group O(3) in Subsection 4.6.

Finally, the problem will be sold in such a way: first we describe all homogeneous fields and then find the conditions under which a particular homogeneous field is isotropic.

### 4.3. The description of homogeneous fields

Let the group G act in U by an orthogonal representation. Consider the set  $\mathbb{C}$  of complex numbers as a two-dimensional real linear spaces and define cU as the tensor product  $\mathbb{C} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} U$ . There is a unique representation of the group G in the space cU such that  $g \cdot (z \otimes u) = z \otimes (g \cdot u)$  for all  $g \in G$ ,  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $u \in U$ . Moreover, there exists a unique positive-definite Hermitian form  $H(v_1, v_2)$  on cU such that

$$H(z_1 \otimes u_1, z_2 \otimes u_2) = z_1^* z_2(u_1, u_2),$$

and the above form is G-invariant. In other words, the constructed representation is a *unitary* one.

The set U can be treated as a subset of cU by identifying  $u \in U$  with  $1 \otimes u \in cU$ . Thus, a U-valued random field T(x) can be treated as a cU-valued one. It is easy to see that a mean-square continuous U-valued random field is a mean-square continuous cU-valued random field in the obvious sense.

Denote by id the identical map in cU. There exists a unique map  $j_{cU}: cU \rightarrow cU$  with the following properties:  $j_{cU}(zv) = z^*j(v)$  for all  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  and all  $v \in cU$ ,  $j_{cU}^2 = id$ , and  $j_{cU}(z \otimes u) = z^* \otimes u$ . This map is a *real structure* on cU, a coordinate-free form of the complex conjugation.

Define the two-point correlation tensor of the *cU-valued* random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  by

$$\langle T(\mathbf{x}), T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \mathsf{E}[j_{cU}T(\mathbf{x}) \otimes T(\mathbf{y})].$$

If, in addition, the *U*-valued random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  is homogeneous, then  $jT(\mathbf{y}) = T(\mathbf{y})$ , and the second equation in (2.2) holds true for the *cU*-valued random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$ . That is, the *cU*-valued random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  is homogeneous. The two-point correlation tensor of such a field is described by the following result.

#### Theorem 4.1. Equation

$$\langle T(\mathbf{x}), T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \int_{\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d} e^{i(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{y} - \mathbf{x})} dF(\mathbf{k})$$
 (4.1)

establishes a one-to-one correspondence between the class of cU-valued meansquare continuous and homogeneous random fields on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and the class of measures on the wavevector domain  $\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d$  taking values in the cone of Hermitian nonnegative-definite linear operators on cU.

The measure F is called the *spectral measure* of the random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$ .

Under what conditions does a cU-valued homogeneous random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  take values in U? Let  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(cU, cU)$  be the set of  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear maps from cU to

itself. The complex linear space  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(cU, cU)$  admits a real structure j given by

$$jF = j_{cU}Fj_{cU}^{-1}, \qquad F \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(cU, cU).$$
 (4.2)

**Lemma 4.1.** A cU-valued homogeneous random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  takes values in U if and only if for any Borel set A in the wavevector domain  $\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d$  we have

$$F(-A) = jF(A), \tag{4.3}$$

where  $-A = \{ -\mathbf{k} \colon \mathbf{k} \in A \}.$ 

*Proof.* Indeed, let  $T(\mathbf{x})$  takes values in U. Then the random field  $j_{cU}T(\mathbf{x})$  has the same two-point correlation tensor as  $T(\mathbf{x})$  has:

$$\langle j_{cU}T(\mathbf{x}), j_{cU}T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \int_{\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d} \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r})} \,\mathrm{d}F(\mathbf{k}).$$

On the one hand, by definition of the two-point correlation tensor, the left hand side is

$$\langle j_{cU}T(\mathbf{x}), j_{cU}T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \mathsf{E}[j_{cU}j_{cU}T(\mathbf{x}) \otimes j_{cU}T(\mathbf{y})] = \mathsf{E}[T(\mathbf{x}) \otimes j_{cU}T(\mathbf{y})]$$

$$= \int_{\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d} \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}(\mathbf{k},-\mathbf{r})} \, \mathrm{d}F(\mathbf{k}) = \int_{\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d} \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r})} \, \mathrm{d}F(-\mathbf{k}).$$

$$(4.4)$$

On the other hand, the left hand side is

$$\langle j_{cU}T(\mathbf{x}), j_{cU}T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = j \langle j_{cU}T(\mathbf{x}), j_{cU}T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle$$
  
=  $j \int_{\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d} e^{i(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r})} dF(\mathbf{k}) = \int_{\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d} e^{i(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r})} djF(\mathbf{k}).$  (4.5)

Conversely, let F(-A) = jF(A). Then the right hand sides of Equations (4.4) and (4.5) are equal, and we obtain

$$\langle j_{cU}T(\mathbf{x}), j_{cU}T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = j \langle j_{cU}T(\mathbf{x}), j_{cU}T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle,$$

which means that the random field  $j_{cU}T(\mathbf{x})$  takes values in U, so  $T(\mathbf{x})$  does.  $\Box$ 

#### 4.4. A preliminary description of homogeneous and isotropic fields

The linear space  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(cU, cU)$  carries a representation of the group G given by

$$g \cdot F = \theta^{cU}(g)F(\theta^{cU})^{-1}(g), \qquad F \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(cU, cU).$$

It is trivial to check that  $(g \cdot F)^* = g \cdot F^*$ , where the index \* denotes the conjugation of a linear operator. Split the space  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(cU, cU)$  into the linear spaces of Hermitian and skew-Hermitian linear operators. By [1, Section 3.3], the above spaces carry the equivalent representations of G intertwined by the multiplication by i. Denote them by X. We have  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(cU, cU) = cX$ . By [1, Section 3.9 (i)], one possibility for X is  $X = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{R}}(U, U)$ , and by [1, Corollary 3.28 (i)],

this possibility is unique. Observe that  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{R}}(U, U)$  and  $U \otimes U$  are equivalent. In what follows, we identify the equivalent orthogonal representations acting in  $U \otimes U$  and in the real linear space of Hermitian linear operators in cU.

Denote the  $d \times d$  identity matrix by *I*. Define the closed subgroup  $\tilde{G}$  of the group O(d) by

$$\tilde{G} = G \cup \{ (-I)g \colon g \in G \}.$$

Observe, that if  $-I \in G$ , then the sets in the left hand side are identical. In this case, put  $\tilde{U} = S^2(U)$ . Otherwise, if  $-I \notin G$ , the above sets do not intersect. In that case, put  $\tilde{U} = U \otimes U$ . Note that the linear space  $S^2(U)$  of symmetric rank 2 tensors over U and the linear space  $\Lambda^2(U)$  of skew-symmetric rank 2 tensors over U are complementary invariant subspaces of the representation  $U \otimes U$  of the group G.

In the first case,  $\tilde{U}$  is an invariant subspace of the representation  $U \otimes U$  and defines the orthogonal representation of  $\tilde{G}$ . To define an orthogonal representation of  $\tilde{G}$  in the second case, put

$$(-I)g \cdot u = \begin{cases} g \cdot u, & \text{if } u \in \mathsf{S}^2(U), \\ -g \cdot u, & \text{if } u \in \Lambda^2(U), \end{cases}$$

and extend this action to all of  $U \otimes U$  by linearity.

**Lemma 4.2.** A random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  is U-valued, homogeneous and isotropic if and only if the spectral measure F in Equation (4.1) takes values in the intersection of the space  $\tilde{U}$  with the cone of Hermitian nonnegative-definite linear operators on cU, and

$$F(\tilde{g}A) = \theta^U(\tilde{g})F(A), \qquad \tilde{g} \in \tilde{G}$$

$$(4.6)$$

for all Borel subsets A of the wavevector domain  $\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d$ .

Sketch of a proof. Denote the group  $\{I, -I\}$  by  $Z_2^c$ , this notation is taken from [37]. The main idea is that Equation (4.3) in Lemma 4.1 is equivalent to the following condition:

$$F(gA) = g \cdot F(A), \qquad g \in Z_2^c, \tag{4.7}$$

where the element  $-I \in \mathbb{Z}_2^c$  multiplies by  $\pm 1$  the elements of the  $\pm 1$  eigenspace of the real structure j given by Equation (4.2).

On the other hand, it is easy to prove that Equation (2.5) in Definition (2.4) is equivalent to the condition

$$F(gA) = (\theta^U \otimes \theta^U)(g) \cdot F(A), \qquad g \in G.$$

If  $-I \in G$ , then -I acts trivially in  $U \otimes U$ . This action coincides with that in the right hand side of condition (4.7) only on the intersection of  $U \otimes U$  with the +1 eigenspace of the real structure j. This intersection is equal to  $\tilde{U} = S^2(U)$ , and the above two conditions are equivalent to single condition (4.6).

Otherwise, if  $-I \notin G$ , we constructed  $\tilde{G}$  as the minimal extension of G by -I, and the representation  $\tilde{U}$  is constructed in such a way that the above two conditions agree on all of  $\tilde{U} = U \otimes U$ .

The details of proof can be found in [82, Section 3.3, Lemma 1] and in [84, Lemma 4.1].  $\hfill \Box$ 

Consider a measure  $\mu$  given by  $\mu(A) = \operatorname{tr} F(A)$ , where tr denotes the trace of an operator. It is well-known that the spectral measure F is absolutely continuous with respect to  $\mu$ , that is,  $\mu(A) = 0$  implies F(A) = 0, and the Radon–Nikodym derivative  $f(\mathbf{k}) = \mathrm{d}F/\mathrm{d}\mu(\mathbf{k})$  is a measurable function on the wavevector domain  $\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d$  that takes values in the convex compact set of Hermitian nonnegative-definite operators in cU with unit trace. For a proof, see, for instance, [9, Chapter 5, Theorem 1.1].

In new terms, condition (4.6) becomes

$$\mu(\tilde{g}A) = \mu(A), \qquad f(\tilde{g}\mathbf{k}) = \theta^U(\tilde{g})f(\mathbf{k}) \tag{4.8}$$

for all  $\tilde{g} \in \tilde{G}$ .

# 4.5. The general form of the two-point correlation tensor

We find all measures  $\mu$  satisfying the first equation in (4.8). In general, the action of a topological group G can be very sophisticated, see [14, 92, 116]. However, in the case when a compact Lie group like  $\tilde{G}$  acts in a real finite-dimensional linear space by an orthogonal representation, its action can be easily described, see [22].

Let  $\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d/\tilde{G}$  be the set of orbits for the action of the group  $\tilde{G}$  on  $\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d$  by matrixvector multiplication. For  $\mathbf{k} \in \hat{\mathbb{R}}^d$ , let  $\tilde{G}_{\mathbf{k}}$  be the stationary subgroup of  $\mathbf{k}$ . We say that the orbits  $\tilde{G}\mathbf{k}_1$  and  $\tilde{G}\mathbf{k}_2$  are of the same type, or  $\tilde{G}\mathbf{k}_1 \sim \tilde{G}\mathbf{k}_2$ , if and only if  $\tilde{G}_{\mathbf{k}_1}$  is conjugate to  $\tilde{G}_{\mathbf{k}_2}$  within  $\tilde{G}$ . There are only finitely many, say M, distinct types  $(\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d/\tilde{G})_m, 0 \leq m \leq M-1$ , called the *strata*. Moreover, the closure of each stratum is the union of that stratum and strata of smaller dimension.

We say that  $\tilde{G}\mathbf{k}_2$  dominates  $\tilde{G}\mathbf{k}_1$ , or  $\tilde{G}\mathbf{k}_1 \preceq \tilde{G}\mathbf{k}_2$ , if and only if  $\tilde{G}_{\mathbf{k}_1}$  is conjugate to a subgroup of  $\tilde{G}_{\mathbf{k}_2}$  within  $\tilde{G}$ . This relation defines a partial ordering in the set of strata. There exists a unique maximal element in the above set. We call this type the *principal stratum* and denote it by  $(\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d/\tilde{G})_0$ .

Fix a choice of stationary subgroups  $\{\hat{G}_m: 0 \leq m \leq M-1\}$  of points in different strata. For simplicity, assume that there exist a chart  $\varphi_m$  in the manifold  $\tilde{G}/\tilde{G}_m$  and a chart  $\lambda_m$  in the manifold  $(\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d/\tilde{G})_m$  with dense domains. There exists a unique probabilistic  $\tilde{G}$ -invariant measure on the orbit of each point  $\lambda_m \in (\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d/\tilde{G})_m$ , call it  $d\varphi_m$ .

According to [12, Chapter VII, § 2, Proposition 4], for every finite measure  $\mu$  satisfying the first equation in (4.8), there is a unique measure defined on the Borel subsets of the space  $(\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d/\tilde{G})_m$ , call it  $d\Phi_m(\lambda_m)$ , such that the restriction of the measure  $\mu$  to the symmetry class  $(\tilde{G}/\tilde{G}_m) \times (\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d/\tilde{G})_m$  has the form

$$\mathrm{d}\mu_m = \mathrm{d}\varphi_m \,\mathrm{d}\Phi_m(\lambda_m).$$

Conversely, a measure given by the above equation obviously satisfies the first equation in (4.8).

We find all functions f satisfying the second equation in (4.8). Obviously, it is enough to find the restrictions of the function f to the sets  $(\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d/\tilde{G})_m$ ,  $0 \leq m \leq M - 1$ . For such a restriction, we have

$$f(\tilde{g}\lambda_m) = \theta^U(\tilde{g})f(\lambda_m), \qquad \tilde{g} \in \tilde{G}.$$
(4.9)

If  $\tilde{g} \in \tilde{G}_m$ , then  $\tilde{g}\lambda_m = \lambda_m$  and

$$f(\lambda_m) = \theta^{\tilde{U}}(\tilde{g})f(\lambda_m), \qquad \tilde{g} \in \tilde{G}_m.$$

This condition means that  $f(\lambda_m)$  belongs to the isotypical subspace of the linear space  $\tilde{U}$ , in which the direct sum of several copies of the trivial representation of the group  $\tilde{G}_m$  acts. Call this space  $\tilde{U}_m$  and observe that it is a linear slice for the group  $\tilde{G}_m$ . The intersection of the linear slice  $\tilde{U}_m$  with the convex compact set of Hermitian nonnegative-definite operators in cU with unit trace is again a convex compact set, call it  $\mathcal{C}_m$ . The restriction of the function f to the set  $(\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d/\tilde{G})_m$  is a measurable function taking values in  $\mathcal{C}_m$ .

Conversely, let  $f(\lambda_m)$ :  $(\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d/\tilde{G})_m \to \mathcal{C}_m$  be an arbitrary measurable function. Extend it to the symmetry class  $(\tilde{G}/\tilde{G}_m) \times (\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d/\tilde{G})_m$  with the help of Equation (4.9). The result obviously satisfies the second equation in (4.8).

Equation (4.1) takes the form

$$\langle T(\mathbf{x}), T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \sum_{m=0}^{M-1} \int_{(\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d/\tilde{G})_m} \int_{\tilde{G}/\tilde{G}_m} e^{i(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r})} \theta^{\tilde{U}}(\tilde{g}) f(\lambda_m) \, \mathrm{d}\varphi_m \, \mathrm{d}\Phi_m(\lambda_m), \quad (4.10)$$

where a point  $\mathbf{k} \in (\tilde{G}/\tilde{G}_m) \times (\hat{\mathbb{R}}^d/\tilde{G})_m \subset \hat{\mathbb{R}}^d$  has coordinates  $(\varphi_m, \lambda_m)$ , and where  $\tilde{g}$  is an arbitrary element of the group  $\tilde{G}_m$  with  $\tilde{g}\lambda_m = \mathbf{k}$ .

# 4.6. Examples

Put d = 3 and  $G = \tilde{G} = O(3)$ . The group  $\tilde{G}$  acts in the wavevector domain  $\hat{\mathbb{R}}^3$  by matrix-vector multiplication. The set of orbits,  $\hat{\mathbb{R}}^3/O(3)$ , has M = 2 strata:

$$(\hat{\mathbb{R}}^3/\mathcal{O}(3))_0 = (0,\infty), \qquad (\hat{\mathbb{R}}^3/\mathcal{O}(3))_1 = \{0\}.$$

Fix a choice of stationary subgroups:  $\hat{G}_0 = O(2)$ , the stationary subgroup of the point  $\mathbf{k} = (0, 0, 1)^{\top}$  and  $\tilde{G}_1 = O(3)$ . The chart  $\varphi_0$  in the manifold  $O(3)/O(2) = S^2$  is the angular spherical coordinates on the two-dimensional sphere  $S^2$  in the wavevector domain. Call them  $(\hat{\theta}, \hat{\varphi})$ , because we reserve the notation  $(\theta, \varphi)$  for the angular spherical coordinates in the space domain. The chart  $\varphi_1$  maps the singleton  $\{0\}$  to itself. The measure  $d\varphi_0$  is  $d\varphi_0 = \frac{1}{4\pi} \sin \hat{\theta} \, d\hat{\theta} \, d\hat{\varphi}$ , the measure  $d\varphi_1$ is the Dirac measure on the singleton  $\{0\}$ . The chart  $\lambda_0$  is the radial distance in the wavevector domain, denote it just by  $\lambda$ . In spherical coordinates, the measure  $\mu$  can be written in the form

$$d\mu(\lambda,\hat{\theta},\hat{\varphi}) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \sin \hat{\theta} \, d\hat{\theta} \, d\hat{\varphi} \, d\Phi(\lambda).$$

Examples of homogeneous fields that are isotropic with respect to orthogonal representations of proper subgroups of O(3) with up to 8 strata can be found in [82, 84]. Nevertheless, all examples follow the same 6-steps scheme.

- 1. Splitting the representation  $\tilde{U}$  into irreducible components.
- 2. Introducing coordinates in the linear slices  $U_0, \ldots, U_{M-1}$ .
- 3. Describing the sets of extreme points of the convex compacta  $C_0, \ldots, C_{M-1}$ .
- 4. Calculating the matrices  $f(\lambda_m)$ ,  $0 \le m \le M$  in the introduced coordinates.
- 5. Calculating the inner integrals in Equation (4.10).
- 6. Calculating the spectral expansion of the field.

**Example 4.1.** Let  $U = \mathbb{R}^1$  and  $\theta^U(g) = 1$ . The first four steps are trivial. Indeed, we have  $\tilde{U} = S^2(U) = U$ . The linear slice  $\tilde{U}_0$  for the group  $\tilde{G}_0 = O(2)$  is identical to  $\tilde{U}$ , and so is  $\tilde{U}_1$ . The convex compact set of Hermitian linear operators in  $cU = \mathbb{C}^1$  with unit trace is the singleton {1}. Both convex compacta  $\mathcal{C}_0$  and  $\mathcal{C}_1$  are equal to {1}. Equation (4.1) takes the form

$$\langle T(\mathbf{x}), T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_0^\infty \int_{S^2} e^{\mathbf{i}(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{r})} \sin \hat{\theta} \, \mathrm{d}\hat{\theta} \, \mathrm{d}\hat{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\Phi(\lambda).$$
(4.11)

In order to perform the fifth step and calculate the inner integral, use the following general idea. Consider the restriction of the *plane wave*  $e^{i(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r})}$  to the orbit of a point  $\lambda \in (\hat{\mathbb{R}}^3/O(3))_0$ . The Hilbert space of the square-integrable functions on this orbit with respect to the measure  $d\varphi_0$  has an orthonormal basis whose elements are multiples of some matrix entries of the irreducible orthogonal or unitary representations of the group  $\tilde{G}$ . For a continuous function, the Fourier series with respect to the above basis converges uniformly. In the unitary case, this proposition is known as the *Peter–Weyl Theorem*, in the orthogonal case as the *Fine Structure Theorem*, see [52] and Subsection A.7.

Let  $(r, \theta, \varphi)$  be the spherical coordinates of a point **r** in the space domain, while  $(\lambda, \hat{\theta}, \hat{\varphi})$  be those of a point **k** in the wavevector domain. In the case of the sphere  $S^2$ , the Fourier expansion of the plane wave is known as the *Rayleigh* expansion:

$$\mathbf{e}^{\mathbf{i}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r})} = 4\pi \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} \mathbf{i}^{\ell} j_{\ell}(\lambda r) Y_{\ell}^{m}(\theta,\varphi) Y_{\ell}^{m}(\hat{\theta},\hat{\varphi}),$$

where  $j_{\ell}(u) = \sqrt{\pi/(2u)} J_{\ell+1/2}(u)$  is the spherical Bessel function.

Insert the Rayleigh expansion into Equation (4.11). One may calculate the inner integral term by term because of uniform convergence of the above expansion. As a result, all terms with  $\ell \neq 0$  disappear, and we obtain

$$\langle T(\mathbf{x}), T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \int_0^\infty \int_{S^2} j_0(\lambda r) Y_0^0(\theta, \varphi) Y_0^0(\hat{\theta}, \hat{\varphi}) \sin \hat{\theta} \, \mathrm{d}\hat{\theta} \, \mathrm{d}\hat{\varphi} \, \mathrm{d}\Phi(\lambda).$$

We have  $Y_0^0(\theta,\varphi) = (4\pi)^{-1/2}$  and the inner integral is equal to  $\sqrt{4\pi}$ . The two-

point correlation function becomes

$$\langle T(\mathbf{x}), T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \int_0^\infty j_0(\lambda r) \,\mathrm{d}\Phi(\lambda) = \sqrt{2/\pi} \int_0^\infty \frac{J_{1/2}(\lambda r)}{\sqrt{\lambda r}} \,\mathrm{d}\Phi(\lambda),$$

which is the same as Equation (3.1) in the case of d = 3.

In the case of arbitrary positive integer d, the calculations are similar and can be left to the reader. The uniformly convergent Rayleigh expansion for arbitrary d has the form

$$e^{i(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r})} = (2\pi)^{d/2} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} i^{\ell} \frac{J_{\ell+(d-2)/2}(\lambda r)}{(\lambda r)^{(d-2)/2}} \times \sum_{m=1}^{h(\ell,d)} Y_{\ell}^{m}(\theta_{1},\dots,\theta_{d-2},\varphi) Y_{\ell}^{m}(\hat{\theta}_{1},\dots,\hat{\theta}_{d-2},\hat{\varphi}),$$
(4.12)

see [145].

How to perform the last step and prove spectral expansions similar to (3.6)? One uses a technical tool known as the Karhunen theorem, [60]. Let X be a set, and let T(x) be a centred second order random field indexed by X taking values in a complex finite-dimensional linear space V with norm  $\|\cdot\|$  and real structure j. Let  $\Lambda$  be another set,  $\mathfrak{L}$  be a  $\sigma$ -field of subsets of  $\Lambda$ , F be a spectral measure defined on a measurable space  $(\Lambda, \mathfrak{L})$  and taking values in the cone of Hermitian nonnegative-definite linear operators on V,  $\mu$  be its trace measure,  $\mu(A) = \operatorname{tr} F(A)$  for  $A \in \mathfrak{L}$ . Assume that the two-point correlation function of the random field T(x) can be written in the following form

$$\langle T(x), T(y) \rangle = \int_{\Lambda} a(x, \lambda)^* a(y, \lambda) \,\mathrm{d}F(\lambda),$$
 (4.13)

where the function  $a \colon X \times \Lambda \to \mathbb{C}$  satisfies the condition

$$\int_{\Lambda} |a(x_0,\lambda)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mu(\lambda) < \infty, \qquad x_0 \in X$$

Moreover, assume that the set of finite linear combinations of the functions from the family  $\{f(x_0, \lambda) : x_0 \in X\}$  is dense in the Hilbert space of  $\mu$ -square-integrable functions on  $\Lambda$ .

**Theorem 4.2** (K. Karhunen). Under the above conditions, the random field T(x) has the form

$$T(x) = \int_{\Lambda} a(x,\lambda) \, \mathrm{d}Z(\lambda),$$

where Z is a measure on  $(\Lambda, \mathfrak{L})$  taking values in the Hilbert space of centred V-valued random vectors Y with  $\mathsf{E}[||Y||^2] < \infty$ . Moreover, the spectral measure F is the control measure of Z in the sense that for all  $A, B \in \mathfrak{L}$  we have

$$\mathsf{E}[jZ(A)\otimes Z(B)]=F(A\cap B).$$

The measure Z is called the *stochastic spectral measure*.

Note that Equation (3.1) does not have the form of (4.13) and Theorem 4.2 cannot be applied. We use another general idea to overcome this difficulty. For a general dimension d, Equation (4.11) takes the form

$$\langle T(\mathbf{x}), T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \frac{\Gamma(d/2)}{2\pi^{d/2}} \int_0^\infty \int_{S^{d-1}} e^{i(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r})} dS d\Phi(\lambda),$$

where dS is the Lebesgue measure on the sphere  $S^{d-1}$ . Recall that  $\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{y} - \mathbf{x}$ and write down the integrand as  $e^{i(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r})} = e^{-i(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{x})}e^{i(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{y})}$ . Replace *each* term with its absolutely converging expansion (4.12) and calculate the inner integral. We obtain

$$\langle T(\mathbf{x}), T(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = 2^{d-1} \Gamma(d/2) \pi^{d/2} \int_0^\infty \sum_{\ell=0}^\infty \frac{J_{\ell+(d-2)/2}(\lambda r)}{(\lambda r)^{(d-2)/2}} \frac{J_{\ell+(d-2)/2}(\lambda r')}{(\lambda r')^{(d-2)/2}} \\ \times \sum_{m=1}^{h(\ell,d)} Y_\ell^m(\theta_1, \dots, \theta_{d-2}, \varphi) Y_\ell^m(\theta_1', \dots, \theta_{d-2}', \varphi') \, \mathrm{d}\Phi(\lambda),$$

where  $(r, \theta_1, \ldots, \theta_{d-2}, \varphi)$  (resp.,  $(r', \theta'_1, \ldots, \theta'_{d-2}, \varphi')$ ) are the spherical coordinates of the point **x** (resp., **y**). The above equation has the form (4.13), where  $\Lambda$  is the disjoint union of countably many copies of the interval  $[0, \infty)$  enumerated by the indices  $\ell$  and m, the restriction of the function  $a(\mathbf{x}, \lambda)$  to the Cartesian product of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and the  $(\ell, m)$ th copy of  $[0, \infty)$  has the form

$$a(\mathbf{x},\lambda) = \left(2^{d-1}\Gamma(d/2)\pi^{d/2}\right)^{1/2} \frac{J_{\ell+(d-2)/2}(\lambda r)}{(\lambda r)^{(d-2)/2}} Y_{\ell}^{m}(\theta_{1},\ldots,\theta_{d-2},\varphi),$$

the restriction of the spectral measure dF to the above copy is equal to  $\Phi$ , and  $V = c\mathbb{R}^1$ . Apply Theorem 4.2 and obtain Equation (3.6). In this equation, the random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  is real-valued if and only if all stochastic spectral measures  $Z_{\ell}^m$  are real-valued.

Before proceeding to the next example, we describe some elements of the equivalence classes of irreducible orthogonal representations of the group O(3). Let  $H_{\ell}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $H_{\ell*}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  be two copies of the real linear space of homogeneous polynomials of degree  $\ell$  in three real variables that are harmonic (with null Laplacian). Assume that the group O(3) acts in the space  $H_{\ell}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  by

$$(g \cdot p)(\mathbf{x}) = p(g^{-1}\mathbf{x}), \qquad g \in \mathcal{O}(3), \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^3,$$

and in the space  $H_{\ell*}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  by

$$(g \cdot p)(\mathbf{x}) = \det(g)p(g^{-1}\mathbf{x}), \qquad g \in \mathcal{O}(3), \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^3.$$

First, any irreducible orthogonal representation of the group O(3) is equivalent to a unique representation in the above described class. Second, it is easy to see that the element  $-I \in O(3)$  acts by multiplication by 1 in the spaces

 $H_0(\mathbb{R}^3), H_2(\mathbb{R}^3), \ldots, H_{1*}(\mathbb{R}^3), H_{3*}(\mathbb{R}^3), \ldots$ , and acts by multiplication by -1 in the remaining spaces.

We denote by  $U_{\ell+}$  (resp.,  $U_{\ell-}$ ) a real linear space of dimension  $2\ell + 1$  where an irreducible representation  $\theta^{U_{\ell+}}$  (resp.,  $\theta^{U_{\ell-}}$ ) with  $\theta^{U_{\ell+}}(-I)x = x$  (resp.,  $\theta^{U_{\ell-}}(-I)x = -x$ ) acts. The Clebsch–Gordan rule states that the representations  $U_{\ell_1+} \otimes U_{\ell_2+}$  and  $U_{\ell_1-} \otimes U_{\ell_2-}$  are equivalent to the direct sum of irreducible components  $U_{|\ell_1-\ell_2|+}, U_{(|\ell_1-\ell_2|+1)+}, \ldots, U_{(\ell_1+\ell_2)+}$ . Similarly, the representations  $U_{\ell_1} \otimes U_{\ell_2-}$  and  $U_{\ell_1-} \otimes U_{\ell_2+}$  are equivalent to the direct sum of irreducible components  $U_{|\ell_1-\ell_2|-}, U_{(|\ell_1-\ell_2|+1)-}, \ldots, U_{(\ell_1+\ell_2)-}$ .

The result (3.3) is easy to prove. Indeed, Equation (2.5) states that the twopoint correlation tensor of the random field that describes a turbulent fluid, is a form-invariant map for the pair  $(U_{1-} \otimes U_{1-}, U_{1-})$ . To find the general form of the above tensor, we use the Wineman–Pipkin Theorem A.1. It is well-known that the polynomial  $I_1(\mathbf{x}) = ||\mathbf{x}||^2$  constitutes an integrity basis for polynomial invariants of the representation  $U_{1-}$ . To find an integrity basis for form-invariant polynomials of the pair  $(U_{1-} \otimes U_{1-}, U_{1-})$ , we use the following result by Hermann Weyl proved by him in 1939 in the first edition of [155].

**Theorem 4.3** (Hermann Weyl). Any form-invariant polynomial of the group O(d) is a linear combination of products of Kronecker's deltas  $\delta_{ij}$  and second degree homogeneous polynomials  $r_i r_j$ .

In particular, the matrix-valued polynomials (3.2) form an integrity basis for form-invariant polynomials of degree not more than 2. Equation (3.3) immediately follows from Theorem A.1.

**Example 4.2.** Let  $U = U_{1-}$ , that is,  $U(g) = g, g \in O(3)$ . The Clebsch–Gordan rule gives  $U_{1-} \otimes U_{1-} \sim U_{0+} \oplus U_{1+} \oplus U_{2+}$ , where the symbol  $\sim$  means the equivalence of representations. The representation  $\tilde{U} = S^2(U_{1-})$  is

$$S^2(U_{1-}) \sim U_{0+} \oplus U_{2+}.$$
 (4.14)

The second step becomes nontrivial and requires a new concept. There is a basis in the spaces  $U_{\ell\pm}$  described in [38], denote its elements by  $\{\mathbf{e}_m^{\ell}: -\ell \leq m \leq \ell\}$ . The Godunov–Gordienko coefficients  $g_{\ell[\ell_1,\ell_2]}^{m[m_1,m_2]}$  are defined by

$$\mathbf{e}_{m}^{\ell} \sim \sum_{m_{1}=-\ell_{1}}^{\ell_{1}} \sum_{m_{2}=-\ell_{2}}^{\ell_{2}} g_{\ell[\ell_{1},\ell_{2}]}^{m[m_{1},m_{2}]} \mathbf{e}_{m_{1}}^{\ell_{1}} \otimes \mathbf{e}_{m_{2}}^{\ell_{2}}, \qquad (4.15)$$

that is, under the equivalence of representations stated in the Clebsch–Gordan rule, the basis vector  $\mathbf{e}_m^{\ell}$  is mapping to the matrix in the right hand side. These coefficients were calculated in [36]. They are *not* the same as classical Clebsch–Gordan coefficients for unitary representations of the groups SU(2) and SO(3) known from quantum mechanics.

In particular, the basis vector  $\mathbf{e}_0^0$  in the space  $U_{0+}$  in the right hand side of Equation (4.14) is mapping to the matrix  $g_{0[1,1]}^0$  with matrix entries  $g_{0[1,1]}^{0[m_1,m_2]}$ .

The algorithm for calculating the Godunov–Gordienko coefficients is described in [123], see also the properties of matrices  $g^m_{\ell[\ell_1,\ell_2]}$  in [39]. The algorithm gives

$$g_{0[1,1]}^{0} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Similarly, the basis vector  $\mathbf{e}_0^2$  in the space  $U_{2+}$  is mapping to the matrix

$$g_{2[1,1]}^{0} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 2 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$

The linear slice  $\tilde{U}_0$  is the linear space generated by the matrices  $g^0_{0[1,1]}$  and  $g^0_{2[1,1]}$ .

Similarly, the linear slice  $\tilde{U}_1$  is the linear space generated by the matrix  $g^0_{0[1,1]}$ .

At the third step, an easy application of the Sylvester Theorem shows that a matrix in  $\tilde{U}_0$  is nonnegative-definite and has unit trace if and only if it has the form  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}g^0_{0[1,1]} + ug^0_{2[1,1]}$  with  $-\frac{1}{\sqrt{6}} \leq u \leq \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}}$ . The convex compact set  $\mathcal{C}_0 \subset \mathsf{S}^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  is the interval with extreme points

$$A_1 = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

A matrix in  $\tilde{U}_1$  is nonnegative-definite and has unit trace if and only if it is equal to  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}g^0_{0[1,1]}$ . The convex compact set  $C_1$  is a singleton  $\{\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}g^0_{0[1,1]}\}$ .

At the fourth step, we introduce the *barycentric coordinates*  $u_1(\lambda)$  and  $u_2(\lambda)$  of the matrix  $f(\lambda, 0, 0)$  with respect to the simplex  $C_0$ , that is,

$$f(\lambda, 0, 0) = u_1(\lambda)A_1 + u_2(\lambda)A_2, \qquad \lambda > 0.$$

In terms of the basis matrices  $g^0_{0[1,1]}$  and  $g^0_{2[1,1]}$  this equation becomes

$$f(\lambda, 0, 0) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} (u_1(\lambda) + u_2(\lambda)) g_{0[1,1]}^0 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}} (-u_1(\lambda) + 2u_2(\lambda)) g_{2[1,1]}^0.$$

Observe that  $u_1(\lambda) + u_2(\lambda) = 1$ . When  $\lambda = 0$ , we have  $f(0, 0, 0) \in C_1$ , that is,  $f(0, 0, 0) = \frac{1}{3}\delta_{ij}$ . The above equation holds true for  $\lambda = 0$  if and only if

$$u_1(0) = \frac{2}{3}, \qquad u_2(0) = \frac{1}{3}.$$
 (4.16)

Let  $\theta_{ij}^{\tilde{U}}(g)$  be the matrix entries of the representation  $\theta^{\tilde{U}}$ ,  $g \in O(3)$ . Equation (4.8) gives

$$f_{ij}(\lambda,\hat{\theta},\hat{\varphi}) = \frac{1}{3}\delta_{ij}\theta_{00}^{U_{0+}}(\hat{\theta},\hat{\varphi}) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}}(-u_1(\lambda) + 2u_2(\lambda))\sum_{m=-2}^2 g_{2[1,1]}^{m[i,j]}\theta_{m0}^{U_{2+}}(\hat{\theta},\hat{\varphi}).$$

Equation (4.1) takes the form

$$\langle T_i(\mathbf{x}), T_j(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_0^\infty \int_{S^2} e^{i(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{r})} \left[ \frac{1}{3} \delta_{ij} \theta_{00}^{U_0+}(\hat{\theta}, \hat{\varphi}) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}} (-u_1(\lambda) + 2u_2(\lambda)) \sum_{m=-2}^2 g_{2[1,1]}^{m[i,j]} \theta_{m0}^{U_{2+}}(\hat{\theta}, \hat{\varphi}) \right] dS d\Phi(\lambda).$$

$$(4.17)$$

At the fifth step, we use the following. It is well-known that  $\theta_{m0}^{U_{\ell+}}(\hat{\theta}, \hat{\varphi}) = \frac{2\sqrt{\pi}}{\sqrt{2\ell+1}}S_{\ell}^m(\hat{\theta}, \hat{\varphi})$ . Using the Rayleigh expansion, we calculate the inner integral and obtain

$$T_{i}(\mathbf{x}), T_{j}(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \int_{0}^{\infty} \left[ \frac{1}{3} (u_{1}(\lambda) + u_{2}(\lambda)) j_{0}(\lambda r) \delta_{ij} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}} (u_{1}(\lambda) - 2u_{2}(\lambda)) j_{2}(\lambda r) \sum_{m=-2}^{2} g_{2[1,1]}^{m[i,j]} \theta_{m0}^{U_{2+}}(\theta, \varphi) \right] d\Phi(\lambda).$$

Define the measures  $\Phi_1$  and  $\Phi_2$  by  $d\Phi_k(\lambda) = u_k(\lambda) d\Phi(\lambda)$  and group the terms with the same value of k together. The two-point correlation tensor takes the form

$$T_{i}(\mathbf{x}), T_{j}(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \int_{0}^{\infty} \left[ \frac{1}{3} j_{0}(\lambda r) \delta_{ij} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}} j_{2}(\lambda r) \sum_{m=-2}^{2} g_{2[1,1]}^{m} \theta_{m0}^{U_{2+}}(\theta, \varphi) \right] d\Phi_{1}(\lambda) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \left[ \frac{1}{3} j_{0}(\lambda r) \delta_{ij} - \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{3}} j_{2}(\lambda r) \sum_{m=-2}^{2} g_{2[1,1]}^{m} \theta_{m0}^{U_{2+}}(\theta, \varphi) \right] d\Phi_{2}(\lambda).$$

$$(4.18)$$

It follows from Equation (4.16) that  $\Phi_1(\{0\}) = 2\Phi_2(\{0\})$ . At a first glance, this contradicts condition (3.5). However, it is not so, see Remark 3.1. This fact was also mentioned in [160]:

... without loss of generality, we can always require that the jumps at zero of the functions  $\Phi_1(\lambda)$  and  $\Phi_2(\lambda)$  be equal...; moreover, we can also require that the jump at zero of one of the functions  $\Phi_1(\lambda)$ ,  $\Phi_2(\lambda)$  be zero.

A more serious problem is that Equation (4.18) contradicts Equation (3.3). To solve this issue, denote

$$M_{ij}^{1}(\mathbf{r}) = g_{0[1,1]}^{0}, \qquad M_{ij}^{2}(\mathbf{r}) = r^{2} \sum_{m=-2}^{2} g_{2[1,1]}^{m} \theta_{m0}^{U_{2+}}(\theta,\varphi).$$

It is well-known that the matrix entries  $\theta_{m0}^{U_{\ell+}}(\theta,\varphi)$  are the restrictions to the sphere  $S^2$  of homogeneous harmonic polynomials of degree  $\ell$  in three variables given by  $r^{\ell}\theta_{m0}^{U_{\ell+}}(\theta,\varphi)$ . In particular,  $M_{ij}^1(\mathbf{r})$  and  $M_{ij}^2(\mathbf{r})$  are form-invariant polynomials. By definition of the integrity basis, they must express through the functions  $L_{ij}^1(\mathbf{r})$  and  $L_{ij}^2(\mathbf{r})$  given by Equation (3.2). Indeed, we have

$$M_{ij}^{1}(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} L_{ij}^{1}(\mathbf{r}), \qquad M_{ij}^{2}(\mathbf{r}) = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{6}} L_{ij}^{1}(\mathbf{r}) + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}} L_{ij}^{2}(\mathbf{r}).$$

The first equality is obvious. Proof of the second one can be found in [82, p. 149]. Insert these values to Equation (4.18). We obtain

$$T_{i}(\mathbf{x}), T_{j}(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \int_{0}^{\infty} \left[ \frac{1}{6} (2j_{0}(\lambda r) - j_{2}(\lambda r))\delta_{ij} + \frac{1}{2}j_{2}(\lambda r)\frac{r_{i}r_{j}}{r^{2}} \right] d\Phi_{1}(\lambda) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \left[ \frac{1}{3} (j_{0}(\lambda r) + j_{2}(\lambda r))\delta_{ij} + j_{2}(\lambda r)\frac{r_{i}r_{j}}{r^{2}} \right] d\Phi_{2}(\lambda).$$

By comparing these equation with (3.3) one can calculate the longitudinal and transversal correlation functions and prove that they coincide with the functions (3.4) up to a constant.

At the last step, to find the spectral expansion of the random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$ , we apply the idea of Example 4.1 to Equation (4.17). But this time we have to calculate the integral over  $S^2$  of the product of *three* spherical harmonics. Observe that Equation (4.15) defines the Godunov–Gordienko coefficients  $g_{\ell[\ell_1,\ell_2]}^{m[m_1,m_2]}$  only for nonnegative values of  $\ell_1$ ,  $\ell_2$ , and  $\ell$ , satisfying the Clebsch–Gordan rule

$$|\ell_1 - \ell_2| \le \ell \le \ell_1 + \ell_2.$$

Put  $g_{\ell[\ell_1,\ell_2]}^{m[m_1,m_2]} = 0$ , if this rule is broken.

Lemma 4.3. We have

$$\int_{S^2} Y_{\ell_1}^{m_1}(\hat{\theta}, \hat{\varphi}) Y_{\ell_2}^{m_2}(\hat{\theta}, \hat{\varphi}) Y_{\ell_3}^{m_3}(\hat{\theta}, \hat{\varphi}) \mathrm{d}S = \frac{\sqrt{(2\ell_1 + 1)(2\ell_2 + 1)}}{\sqrt{4\pi(2\ell_3 + 1)}} g_{\ell_3[\ell_1, \ell_2]}^{m_3[m_1, m_2]} g_{\ell_3[\ell_1, \ell_2]}^{0[0, 0]}.$$

*Proof.* The complex counterpart of this Lemma is called the *Gaunt integral* after [32]. The real version is proved in exactly the same way, see the proof of the complex counterpart in [85].  $\Box$ 

After double insertion of the Rayleigh expansion to Equation (4.17) and using Lemma 4.3, we obtain

$$\langle T_i(\mathbf{x}), T_j(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \sum_{n=1}^2 \sum_{\ell,\ell'=0}^\infty \sum_{m=-\ell}^\ell \sum_{m'=-\ell'}^{\ell'} C_{n\ell\ell'ij}^{mm'} S_\ell^m(\theta,\varphi) S_{\ell'}^{m'}(\theta',\varphi') \\ \times \int_0^\infty j_\ell(\lambda r) j_{\ell'}(\lambda r') \, \mathrm{d}\Phi_n(\lambda),$$

where

$$\begin{split} C_{1\ell\ell'ij}^{mm'} &= 4\pi \mathrm{i}^{\ell'-\ell} \sqrt{(2\ell+1)(2\ell'+1)} \left(\frac{1}{3} \delta_{ij} g_{0[\ell,\ell']}^{0[m,m']} g_{0[\ell,\ell']}^{0[0,0]} \right. \\ &\left. -\frac{1}{5\sqrt{6}} g_{2[\ell,\ell']}^{0[0,0]} \sum_{k=-2}^{2} g_{2[1,1]}^{k[i,j]} g_{2[\ell,\ell']}^{k[m,m']} \right), \\ C_{2\ell\ell'ij}^{mm'} &= 4\pi \mathrm{i}^{\ell'-\ell} \sqrt{(2\ell+1)(2\ell'+1)} \left(\frac{1}{3} \delta_{ij} g_{0[\ell,\ell']}^{0[m,m']} g_{0[\ell,\ell']}^{0[0,0]} \right. \\ &\left. +\frac{\sqrt{2}}{5\sqrt{3}} g_{2[\ell,\ell']}^{0[0,0]} \sum_{k=-2}^{2} g_{2[1,1]}^{k[i,j]} g_{2[\ell,\ell']}^{k[m,m']} \right). \end{split}$$

The Karhunen Theorem gives

$$T_i(r,\theta,\varphi) = \sum_{n=1}^2 \sum_{\ell=0}^\infty \sum_{m=-\ell}^\ell S_\ell^m(\theta,\varphi) \int_0^\infty j_\ell(\lambda r) \, \mathrm{d} Z_{ni\ell}^m(\lambda),$$

where

$$\mathsf{E}[Z^m_{ni\ell}(A)Z^{m'}_{n'j\ell'}(B)] = \delta_{nn'}C^{mm'}_{n\ell\ell'ij}\Phi_n(A\cap B).$$

**Example 4.3.** Let  $U = S^2(U_{1-}) = U_{0+} \oplus U_{2+}$ . The Clebsch–Gordan formula gives  $S^2(U) = 2U_{0+} \oplus 2U_{2+} \oplus U_{4+}$ .

It turns out that the real linear space  $\tilde{U}_0$  is 5-dimensional, while  $\tilde{U}_1$  is 2-dimensional. For details, we refer to [76] and [82, Section 3.6]

A new phenomenon appears at the third step. After a reordering of the basis tensors, the matrix  $f(\lambda_0)$  contains two pairs of identical  $1 \times 1$  diagonal blocks and one  $2 \times 2$  block. Accordingly, the set of extreme points of the set  $C_0$  consists of three connected components: two singletons  $D^1$  and  $D^2$  and an ellipse D. The set  $C_1$  is an interval with two extreme points.

The matrix  $f(\lambda_0)$  has the form

$$f(\lambda_0) = u_1(\lambda_0)D^1 + u_2(\lambda_0)D^2 + (u_3(\lambda_0) + u_4(\lambda_0))D(\lambda_0), \qquad \lambda_0 > 0,$$

where  $D(\lambda_0)$  is an arbitrary measurable function on  $(0, \infty)$  that takes values in the closed convex span of the ellipse D. This equation remains true for  $\lambda = 0$  if and only if

$$u_2(0) = \frac{3}{2}u_1(0), \qquad \frac{2}{7} \le u_3(0) + u_4(0) \le 1.$$
 (4.19)

This result follows from the analysis of the position of the convex compact  $C_1$  inside  $C_0$ , like in Example 4.2.

Calculating the inner integral, we obtain a long formula, see [82, Equation (3.80)], written in terms of five *M*-functions

$$\begin{split} M_{ijkl}^{1}(\mathbf{r}) &= g_{0[1,1]}^{0[i,j]} \otimes g_{0[1,1]}^{0[k,l]}, \\ M_{ijkl}^{2}(\mathbf{r}) &= \sum_{m_{1},m_{2}=-2}^{2} g_{0[2,2]}^{0[m_{1},m_{2}]} g_{2[1,1]}^{m_{1}[i,j]} \otimes g_{2[1,1]}^{m_{2}[k,l]}, \\ M_{ijkl}^{3}(\mathbf{r}) &= \frac{r^{2}}{\sqrt{2}} \sum_{m=-2}^{2} \left( g_{0[1,1]}^{0[i,j]} \otimes g_{2[1,1]}^{m[k,l]} + g_{2[1,1]}^{m[k,l]} \otimes \left( g_{0[1,1]}^{0[i,j]} \right) \theta_{m0}^{U_{2+}}(\hat{\theta}, \hat{\varphi}), \\ M_{ijkl}^{4}(\mathbf{r}) &= r^{2} \sum_{m,m_{1},m_{2}=-2}^{2} g_{2[2,2]}^{m[m_{1},m_{2}]} g_{2[1,1]}^{m_{1}[i,j]} \otimes g_{2[1,1]}^{m_{2}[k,l]} \theta_{m0}^{U_{2+}}(\hat{\theta}, \hat{\varphi}), \\ M_{ijkl}^{5}(\mathbf{r}) &= r^{4} \sum_{m=-4}^{4} \sum_{m_{1},m_{2}=-2}^{2} g_{4[2,2]}^{0[m_{1},m_{2}]} g_{2[1,1]}^{m_{1}[i,j]} \otimes g_{2[1,1]}^{m_{2}[k,l]} \theta_{m0}^{U_{4+}}(\hat{\theta}, \hat{\varphi}). \end{split}$$

This result does not contradict Equation (3.7). Indeed, the functions  $M_{ijkl}^n(\mathbf{r})$  are form-invariant polynomials and must express through the basis polynomials

 $L_{iikl}^{n}(\mathbf{r})$ . They have the form

$$\begin{split} M_{ijkl}^{1}(\mathbf{r}) &= \frac{1}{3} L_{ijkl}^{1}(\mathbf{r}), \\ M_{ijkl}^{2}(\mathbf{r}) &= -\frac{1}{3\sqrt{5}} L_{ijkl}^{1}(\mathbf{r}) + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{5}} L_{ijkl}^{2}(\mathbf{r}), \\ M_{ijkl}^{3}(\mathbf{r}) &= -\frac{1}{3} L_{ijkl}^{1}(\mathbf{r}) + \frac{1}{2} L_{ijkl}^{4}(\mathbf{r}), \\ M_{ijkl}^{4}(\mathbf{r}) &= \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{3\sqrt{7}} L_{ijkl}^{1}(\mathbf{r}) - \frac{1}{\sqrt{14}} L_{ijkl}^{2}(\mathbf{r}) + \frac{3}{2\sqrt{14}} L_{ijkl}^{3}(\mathbf{r}) - \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{7}} L_{ijkl}^{4}(\mathbf{r}), \\ M_{ijkl}^{5}(\mathbf{r}) &= \frac{1}{2\sqrt{70}} L_{ijkl}^{1}(\mathbf{r}) + \frac{1}{2\sqrt{70}} L_{ijkl}^{1}(\mathbf{r}) - \frac{\sqrt{5}}{2\sqrt{14}} L_{ijkl}^{3}(\mathbf{r}) - \frac{\sqrt{5}}{2\sqrt{14}} L_{ijkl}^{4}(\mathbf{r}) \\ &+ \frac{\sqrt{35}}{2\sqrt{2}} L_{ijkl}^{5}(\mathbf{r}), \end{split}$$

see [76] or [82, Equation (3.81)]. The two-point correlation tensor of the random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  takes the form

$$\langle T_{ij}(\mathbf{x}), T_{kl}(\mathbf{y}) = \sum_{n=1}^{3} \int_{0}^{\infty} \sum_{q=1}^{5} N_{nq}(\lambda, r) L_{ijkl}^{q}(\mathbf{r}) \,\mathrm{d}\Phi_{n}(\lambda), \qquad (4.20)$$

where the functions  $N_{nq}(\lambda, r)$  with  $q \in \{1, 2\}$  correspond to the singletons  $D^1$ and  $D^2$  and are linear combinations of spherical Bessel functions. The functions  $N_{nq}(\lambda, r)$  include also the component  $D(\lambda)$ , because they correspond to the ellipse D, see [82, Table 3.1]. It follows from Equation (4.19) that an eventual atom  $\Phi_3(\{0\})$  occupies at least  $\frac{2}{7}$  of the sum of all three atoms, while the rest is divided between  $\Phi_1(\{0\})$  and  $\Phi_2(\{0\})$  in the proportion  $1:\frac{3}{2}$ .

The spectral expansion of the random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  can be established in the same way as in Example 4.2, see [82, Section 3.6, Theorem 26].

**Example 4.4.** Let  $U = \mathbb{R}^3 \otimes S^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . The Clebsch–Gordan rule gives

$$U = 2U_{1-} \oplus U_{2-} \oplus U_{3-},$$
  
$$\mathsf{S}^{2}(U) = 5U_{1+} \oplus U_{1+} \oplus 10U_{2+} \oplus 5U_{3+} \oplus 5U_{4+} \oplus U_{5+} \oplus U_{6+}$$

The dimensions of linear slices are  $\dim \tilde{U}_0 = 21$ ,  $\dim \tilde{U}_1 = 5$ . The bases in the above spaces are given in [82, Table 3.5].

The set of extreme points of the convex compact  $C_0$  consists of three connected components. No of them are singletons. The convex compact  $C_1$  is a simplex with 5 vertices.

The nonzero elements of the  $18 \times 18$  matrix  $f(\lambda)$  in terms of 21 *M*-functions are given in [82, Table 3.8]. We have 5 *L*-functions of degree 0 given by [82, Equation (2.40)], 11 *L*-functions of degree 2 given by [82, Table 2.3], 5 *L*-functions of degree 4 given by [82, Equation (2.44)], and 1 *L*-function of degree 6, 22 *L*functions altogether, which is more that 21. This phenomenon is well-known

in invariant theory. The elements of the basis of form-invariant polynomials are not necessary independent. There may exist polynomial relations between them called *syzygies*. In our case, one of the *L*-functions of degree 2 is a linear combinations of the remaining *L*-functions, see [82, p. 105]. The *M*-functions are expressed as linear combinations of the 21 linearly independent *L*-functions according to [82, Table 3.6].

The two-point correlation tensor of the random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  is given by an equation similar to (4.20). This time, however, there are 63 functions  $N_{nq}(\lambda, r)$  given by [82, Table 3.10].

The spectral expansion of the random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  can be established in the same way as in Example 4.2, see [82, Section 3.7, Theorem 34].

**Example 4.5.** Let  $U = S^2(S^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$ . The Clebsch–Gordan rule gives

$$U = 2U_{0+} \oplus 2U_{2+} \oplus U_{4+},$$
  

$$\mathsf{S}^2(U) = 7U_{0+} \oplus U_{1+} \oplus 10U_{2+} \oplus 3U_{3+} \oplus 8U_{4+} \oplus 2U_{5+} \oplus 3U_{6+} \oplus U_{8+}.$$

The dimensions of linear slices are  $\dim \tilde{U}_0 = 29$ ,  $\dim \tilde{U}_1 = 7$ . The bases in the above spaces are given in [82, Table 3.11].

The set of extreme points of the convex compact  $C_0$  consists of three connected components. The first one is 14-dimensional, the second is 5-dimensional, the third is 4-dimensional. For the convex compact  $C_1$ , the set of its extreme points contains 1 singleton and 2 ellipses.

The nonzero elements of the  $21 \times 21$  matrix  $f(\lambda)$  in terms of 29 *M*-functions are given in [82, Table 3.14]. We have 8 *L*-functions of degree 0 given by [82, Table 2.2], 13 *L*-functions of degree 2 given by [82, Table 2.4], 10 *L*-functions of degree 4 given by [82, Table 2.5], 3 *L*-functions of degree 6 given by [82, Table 2.6], and 1 *L*-function of degree 8, 35 *L*-functions altogether. Only 29 of them are linearly independent, and 14 independent *L*-functions are missing in [69]. There are 35 - 29 = 6 syzygies. The *M*-functions are expressed as linear combinations of the 29 linearly independent *L*-functions according to [82, Table 3.12].

The two-point correlation tensor of the random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  is given by an equation similar to (4.20). This time, however, there are 87 functions  $N_{nq}(\lambda, r)$  given by [78, Table 5].

The spectral expansion of the random field  $T(\mathbf{x})$  can be established in the same way as in Example 4.2, see [82, Section 3.8, Theorem 36].

# 4.7. Concluding remarks

Observe the following connections between the theory of homogeneous and isotropic random fields and other fields of mathematics.

• Special functions appear in the spectral theory of homogeneous and isotropic random fields as orthonormal bases in functional spaces and as the coefficients of Fourier expansions with respect to the above bases.

#### A. Malyarenko and M. Ostoja-Starzewski

- The two-point correlation tensor of a homogeneous and isotropic random field is form-invariant, hence a connection with invariant theory.
- After a rearranging of basis vectors, the matrix-valued function  $f(\lambda_m)$  has the block-diagonal structure. The number of distinct blocks is equal to the number of connected components in the set of extreme points of the convex compact  $C_m$ .
- The number of integrals in the spectral expansion of the two-point correlation tensor is equal to the number of connected component in the set of extreme points of the convex compact  $C_0$ .
- If  $C_0$  is not a simplex, then the above expansion contains arbitrary measurable functions.
- The structure of eventual atoms of the measures  $\Phi_n$  is determined by the position of  $C_1$  inside  $C_0$ .

We formulate one more, hypothetical connection. At least, no counter-examples are known to the authors.

• The set  $C_0$  is a simplex if and only if the representation U is irreducible.

Is it possible to have a formula for the two-point correlation tensor of a homogeneous and isotropic random field that is similar to Equations (3.1) and (3.4), that is, without arbitrary measurable functions? The answer is: yes, but you have to pay for that. The idea is as follows: consider a simplex C satisfying  $C_1 \subset C \subset C_0$ . Force the function  $f(\mathbf{k})$  to take values in C. We obtain a description of the two-point correlation tensor of a *subclass* of the class of homogeneous and isotropic random fields. In other words, instead of necessary and sufficient conditions, we obtain only sufficient conditions. The closer is the Lebesgue measure of the simplex C in comparison with that of  $C_0$ , the closer are the obtained sufficient conditions to the necessary ones. See details in [82].

# 5. Applications to continuum physics

# 5.1. Motivation from stochastic mechanics

Tensor-valued random fields (TRFs) are a natural setting for a stochastic generalization of *continuum physics*. By this, we understand continuum mechanics of fluids and solids, as well as thermal conductivity and coupled-field models such as thermoelasticity, thermodiffusion, and electromagnetic interactions in deformable media (e.g., piezoelectricity). Our scope is classical physics.

Now, we focus on two types of TRFs appearing in continuum physics: (i) fields of *dependent quantities* (displacement, velocity, deformation, rotation, stress,...) and (ii) fields of *constitutive responses* (conductivity, stiffness, permeability...). Five such fields were listed in Example 2.1. All of these fields are tensors of zeroth, first or higher rank and, generally, of random nature (i.e., displaying spatially inhomogeneous, random character), as opposed to deterministic continuum physics. In the latter case and as a starting point, we typically

have an equation of the form

$$\mathcal{L}\left(\mathbf{u}\right) = f,\tag{5.1}$$

defined on a subset  $\mathcal{D}$  of the *d*-dimensional affine Euclidean space  $E^d$ , where  $\mathcal{L}$  is a differential operator, f is a source (or forcing function), and  $\mathbf{u}$  is a solution field. This needs to be accompanied by appropriate boundary and/or initial conditions.

**Remark 5.1.** We use the symbolic (**u**) or, equivalently, the subscript  $(u_{i...})$  notations for tensors, as the need arises; also an overdot will mean the derivative with respect to time, d/dt.

A field theory becomes stochastic in two main situations. First, there appears an apparent randomness of **u** due to an inherent nonlinearity of  $\mathcal{L}$  as exemplified by mathematical models (such as the Navier–Stokes equations) modelling the turbulent fluid motions. This is the case of statistical fluid mechanics, with the velocity field being the random dependent quantity, see [90, 91, 119, 159].

Alternatively, the field theory becomes stochastic if the coefficients of  $\mathcal{L}$ , such as the conductivity tensor, are a TRF, so (5.1) becomes

$$\mathcal{L}\left(\omega\right)\mathbf{u} = f.\tag{5.2}$$

This stochastic equation governs the response of a *random medium* 

$$\mathcal{B} = \{ B(\omega) : \omega \in \Omega \}$$
(5.3)

on an appropriate spatial domain. In principle, each of the realisations  $B(\omega)$  follows the deterministic laws of classical mechanics. Probability is introduced to deal with the set of all possible realisations. The governing relation is a stochastic partial differential equation (SPDE) and this ensemble picture is termed stochastic continuum physics. There also is a third possibility of SPDE: random forcing and/or random boundary/initial conditions; this case will not be pursued here.

In what follows, we discuss the TRFs of dependent fields and of constitutive responses.

# 5.2. TRFs of dependent fields

#### 5.2.1. Rank 1 TRFs (vector random field)

**Restriction imposed by a divergence-free property** Consider a TRF  $\boldsymbol{v}$  over  $\mathbb{R}^d$  (d = 2 or 3) to be solenoidal, i.e. div  $\boldsymbol{v} = 0$ . Then the correlation function  $R_{ij} := \langle v_i(\mathbf{0}), v_j(\boldsymbol{r}) \rangle$  satisfies

$$0 = R_{ij,i}\left(\boldsymbol{r}\right) \equiv \frac{R_{ij}\left(\boldsymbol{r}\right)}{\partial r_{i}},$$

where the index i denotes differentiation with respect to  $r_i$ , and where we use the *Einstein convention*: if an index variable appears twice in a single term, than that term is summed over all the values of the index. Now, writing the representation (3.3) as  $R_{ij}(\mathbf{r}) = A(r)r_ir_j + B(r)\delta_{ij}$ , we find

$$(n+1)A + rA' + \frac{1}{r}B' = 0, (5.4)$$

where a prime denotes a derivative with respect to r. Next, introduce two new correlation functions

longitudinal: 
$$f(r) = \frac{\langle v_p(\mathbf{0}), v_p(\mathbf{r}) \rangle}{\langle v_p^2 \rangle},$$
  
lateral:  $g(r) = \frac{\langle v_n(\mathbf{0}), v_n(\mathbf{r}) \rangle}{\langle v_n^2 \rangle},$ 
(5.5)

whereby p (or n) denotes parallel (resp., normal) velocity components, while the summation convention does not apply to the terms in the denominator. Such a vector random field is encountered in many physical settings, e.g. in turbulent incompressible flows [90, 91, 119]. Another example is the anti-plane elasticity in the absence of body force fields.

By ergodicity in the mean, we have that the square  $(v^2)$  of any velocity component v equals  $v^2 = \langle v_p^2 \rangle = \langle v_n^2 \rangle = \frac{1}{n} v_i v_i$ , so that

$$v^{2}f(z) = \langle v_{p}(\mathbf{0}), v_{p}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = A(r) r^{2} + B(r),$$
  

$$v^{2}g(r) = \langle v_{n}(\mathbf{0}), v_{n}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = B(r).$$

It follows from (5.4) that f and g are related through

$$g = f + \frac{1}{n-1}rf'.$$
 (5.6)

Note that f is typically accessible through experiments or computer simulations so one can then determine g.

The above is the paradigm for treatments of other TRFs in more complex situations, which can be summarized as:

- find the explicit form of the correlation function;
- impose a restriction dictated by the relevant physics;
- support the results by experiments and/or computational modelling.

**Restriction imposed by a curl-free property** Certain other situations in continuum physics require a vector field to be irrotational. Thus, consider a TRF v over  $\mathbb{R}^3$  to satisfy curl v = 0. This implies

$$0 = \langle \epsilon_{ijk} v_{k,j} \left( \mathbf{0} \right), v_p \left( \mathbf{r} \right) \rangle = \epsilon_{ijk} R_{kp,j} \left( \mathbf{r} \right),$$

where  $\epsilon_{ijk}$  is the Levi-Civita permutation tensor in three dimensions, see Example A.1. Given (3.3), we identify two distinct restrictions on

$$R_{ij} := \langle v_i(\mathbf{0}), v_j(\mathbf{r}) \rangle$$

**Case 1** : (i, p) = (1, 1):

$$R_{31,2}(\boldsymbol{r}) = A'(r) \frac{1}{r} r_1 r_2 r_3 = R_{21,3}(\boldsymbol{r}).$$

**Case 2** : (i, p) = (1, 2):

$$R_{32,2}(\mathbf{r}) = A'(r)\frac{1}{r}r_2^2r_3 + B(r)r_3,$$
  

$$R_{22,3}(\mathbf{r}) = A'(r)\frac{1}{z}r_2^2r_3 + B'(r)\frac{1}{r}r_3.$$

Case 1 is satisfied identically, while Case 2 implies the restriction

$$rA = B'(r).$$

In terms of the f and g functions (5.5), we find

$$f = g + rg'. \tag{5.7}$$

Interestingly, this mirrors the relation between f and g in (5.6) for n = 2.

Also, (5.6) and (5.7) provide equations for a new correlation function from a known one.

Velocity and stress field correlations in fluid mechanics Returning back to the incompressible velocity field  $\boldsymbol{v}$ , the Reynolds stress  $R_{kl} := -\rho \langle v_k, v_l \rangle$ defines a symmetric rank 2 TRF. Next, consider the spatial average of the turbulence energy defined from  $R_{kl}$  as  $\psi = \frac{1}{2}R_{kk} = -\frac{1}{2}\rho \langle v_k, v_l \rangle$ . While this defines a scalar RF, its correlation follows from (3.7)

$$\langle \psi(\mathbf{0}), \psi(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = \frac{1}{4} \langle R_{ii}(\mathbf{0}), R_{kk}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = \frac{1}{4} \sum_{m=1}^{5} S_m(z) J_{iikk}^{(m)}(\mathbf{r}),$$

implying an explicit link between the correlation function of energy and the five  $S_m(r)$  functions of the Reynolds stress:

$$\langle \psi \left( \mathbf{0} \right), \psi \left( \mathbf{r} \right) \rangle = \frac{9}{4} S_1 \left( r \right) + \frac{3}{2} S_2 \left( r \right) + \frac{3}{2} S_3 \left( r \right) + S_4 \left( r \right) + \frac{1}{4} S_5 \left( r \right).$$

# 5.2.2. Rank 2 TRFs

**Classical continuum mechanics** Rank 2 TRFs play a very important rôle in statistical continuum physics. In the case of small deformation gradients, the state of the medium is described by three dependent TRFs of: Cauchy stress  $\sigma_{ij}$ , displacement  $u_i$ , and strain tensor  $\varepsilon_{ij}$ . The latter is defined from the former by

$$\varepsilon_{ij} = u_{(i,j)} \,, \tag{5.8}$$

where  $u_{(i,j)} = (u_{i,j} + u_{j,i})$  is the symmetrised gradient, while the stress field is subject to the balance of linear and angular momenta

$$\sigma_{ij,j} + \rho f_i = \rho \ddot{u}_i, \tag{5.9a}$$

$$\sigma_{ij} = \sigma_{ji}.\tag{5.9b}$$

In (5.9)  $f_i$  is the body force field (resolved per unit volume) and  $\rho$  is the mass density of the body.

Given that any 2nd-rank tensor field T can be decomposed into potential  $(T_1)$  and birotational  $(T_2)$  parts [64]

$$T = T_1 + T_2$$
,  $\operatorname{curl} T_1 = \mathbf{0}$ ,  $\operatorname{div} T_2 = \mathbf{0}$ ,

where  $T_1$  is described by the vector potential and  $T_2$  by the tensor potential, one can conclude that  $\sigma_{ij}$  is birotational, while  $\varepsilon_{ij}$  is a potential tensor field, with  $u_i$  being its potential. It follows that (5.8) and (5.9) provide restrictions on the admissible forms of the correlation structure of these three fields, prior to assuming any constitutive behaviour. Proceeding in the same manner as in Subsubsection 5.2.1, while assuming the absence of any body force fields, such restrictions have been worked out in thermal conductivity, classical elasticity, and micropolar elasticity [68, 111, 125]. Extending these results from the quasistatic to dynamic settings is an open research topic.

Interpretations of specific correlations: Given that the rank 2 tensor T has diagonal and off-diagonal components, there are five special cases of  $B_{ij}^{kl}$  which shed light on the physical meaning of  $K_{\alpha}$ 's:

1.  $\langle T_{ij}(\mathbf{0}), T_{kl}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle|_{i=j=k=l}$ ; i.e. auto-correlations of diagonal terms:

$$\langle T_{11}(\mathbf{0}), T_{11}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = K_0 + 2K_1 + 2r_1^2K_2 + 4r_1^2K_3 + r_1^4K_4$$

and then  $\langle T_{22}(\mathbf{0}), T_{22}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle$  and  $\langle T_{33}(\mathbf{0}), T_{33}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle$  by cyclic permutations  $1 \rightarrow 2 \rightarrow 3$ .

2.  $\langle T_{ij}(\mathbf{0}), T_{kl}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle|_{i=j \neq k=l}$ ; i.e. cross-correlations of diagonal terms:

$$\langle T_{11}(\mathbf{0}), T_{22}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = K_0 + (r_2^2 + r_1^2)K_2 + r_2^2 r_1^2 K_4$$

and then  $\langle T_{22}(\mathbf{0}), T_{33}(\mathbf{z}) \rangle$  and  $\langle T_{33}(\mathbf{0}), T_{11}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle$  by cyclic permutations  $1 \rightarrow 2 \rightarrow 3$ .

3.  $\langle T_{ij}(\mathbf{0}), T_{kl}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle|_{i=k \neq j=l}$ ; i.e. auto-correlations of off-diagonal terms:

$$\langle T_{12}(\mathbf{0}), T_{12}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = K_1 + (r_1^2 + r_2^2)K_3 + r_1^2 r_2^2 K_4$$

and then  $\langle T_{23}(\mathbf{0}), T_{23}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle$  and  $\langle T_{31}(\mathbf{0}), T_{31}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle$  by cyclic permutations  $1 \rightarrow 2 \rightarrow 3$ .

4.  $\langle T_{ij}(\mathbf{0}), T_{kl}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle|_{j \neq i = k \neq l \neq j}$ ; that is cross-correlations of off-diagonal terms:

$$\langle T_{12}(\mathbf{0}), T_{13}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = r_2 r_3 K_3 + r_1^2 r_2 r_3 K_4,$$

then  $\langle T_{13}(\mathbf{0}), T_{32}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle$  and  $\langle T_{32}(\mathbf{0}), T_{12}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle$  by cyclic permutations  $1 \to 2 \to 3$ .
5.  $\langle T_{ij}(\mathbf{0}), T_{kl}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle|_{i=j=k \neq l \neq j}$ ; i.e. cross-correlations of diagonal with off-diagonal terms: such as

$$\langle T_{11}(\mathbf{0}), T_{12}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = r_1 r_2 (K_2 + 2K_3) + r_1 r_2^3 K_4,$$
  
 $\langle T_{12}(\mathbf{0}), T_{13}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = r_2 r_3 K_2 + r_1^2 r_2 r_3 K_4$ 

and the other ones by cyclic permutations  $1 \rightarrow 2 \rightarrow 3$ .

In principle, we can determine these five correlations for a specific physical situation. For example, when T is the anti-plane elasticity tensor for a given resolution (or *mesoscale*, which will be defined in (5.15)), we can use imagebased computational micromechanics or experiments, and then determine the best fits of  $K_{\alpha}$  ( $\alpha = 1, ..., 5$ ) coefficients, one may determine  $C_{ij}^{kl}(\mathbf{r})$  through experimental measurements or by computational mechanics/physics on diverse material microstructures, in both cases following a strategy for 4th-rank TRF in 2d or 3d, see [124].

Special case: the TRF is locally isotropic  $T_{ik}(\mathbf{r}) = T(r)\delta_{ik}$  with (necessarily) T(r) > 0, so that we simply have a scalar random field. Then, the auto-correlation  $B_{11}^{11}$  of T is a single scalar function C(r). With the variance  $\operatorname{Var}(T) = \langle T(\mathbf{0}), T(\mathbf{r}) \rangle$ , the correlation coefficient  $\rho(\mathbf{r}) := C(z)/\operatorname{Var}(T)$  is constrained by a standard condition of scalar RFs  $-1/n \leq \rho(\mathbf{r}) \leq 1$ , if the model is set in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Basically, this is the correlation function of the conductivity (or diffusion) in conventional SPDEs of elliptic type, conventionally set up on scalar random fields.

**In-plane case** With the group-theoretical considerations determined in detail in [82, Section 4.5], the interpretations of specific correlations rely on this form of the correlation function for a rank 4 tensor T:

 $R_{ijkl}(\mathbf{r}) = H_1 \delta_{ij} \delta_{kl} + H_2 \left( \delta_{ik} \delta_{jl} + \delta_{il} \delta_{jk} \right) + H_4 \left( \delta_{ij} r_k r_l + \delta_{kl} r_i r_j \right) + H_5 r_i r_j r_k r_l.$ 

Given that T has diagonal and off-diagonal components, there are four special cases of  $R_{ijkl}$  which shed light on the physical meaning of  $H_n$ 's:

- 1. auto-correlations of diagonal terms:  $R_{1111} = H_1 + 2H_2 + 2r_1^2H_4 + r_1^4H_5$ and  $R_{2222} = H_1 + 2H_2 + 2r_2^2H_4 + r_2^4H_5$ .
- 2. cross-correlation of diagonal terms:  $R_{1122} = H_1 + (r_1^2 + r_2^2) H_4 + r_1^2 r_2^2 H_5$ .
- 3. auto-correlation of an off-diagonal term:  $R_{1212} = H_2 + r_1^2 r_2^2 H_5$ .
- 4. cross-correlation of a diagonal with an off-diagonal term:

$$\langle T_{11}(\mathbf{0}), T_{12}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = R_{1112} = r_1 r_2 H_4 + r_1^3 r_2 H_5.$$

Just as in the case of TRF of rank 1, we can determine these four correlations for a specific physical situation. Without loss of generality (due to wide-sense isotropy), when  $\mathbf{r} \equiv (r_1, r_2)$  is chosen equal to (r, 0),

$$H_{1} = R_{2222} - 2R_{1212},$$

$$H_{2} = R_{1212},$$

$$H_{4} = r^{-2} \left( R_{1122} - R_{2222} - 2R_{1212} \right),$$

$$H_{5} = r^{-4} \left( R_{1111} + R_{2222} - 2R_{1122} \right).$$
(5.10)

For example, when T is the anti-plane elasticity tensor for a given resolution (or mesoscale), one can use computational micromechanics or experiments, and then determine the best fits of  $H_{\alpha}$  ( $\alpha = 1, 2, 4, 5$ ) coefficients, providing the positive-definiteness of T is imposed. However, when T represents a dependent field quantity, then a restriction dictated by the field equation needs to be imposed. In the following, by analogy to what was reported in [75], we consider T being either the in-plane stress or the in-plane strain.

TRF with a local isotropic property: Take  $T_{ij} = T\delta_{ij}$ , where the axial component T is the scalar random field describing the randomness of such a medium. Since  $T_{11} = T_{22}$  and  $T_{12} = 0$  must hold everywhere,  $R_{1111} = R_{2222} = R_{1122}$  and  $R_{1212} = 0$ . Hence,  $H_2 = H_4 = H_5 = 0$  and only  $H_1 \neq 0$  is retained, and that is the function modelling the correlations in T. One example is the constitutive response (e.g., conductivity  $k_{ij} = k\delta_{ij}$ ) in conventional models of SPDEs; see [82, Subsection 4.8.1] for a model with anisotropy.

When  $T_{ij}$  represents a dependent field quantity, then a restriction dictated by an appropriate field equation needs to be imposed. One may then consider T to be either the in-plane stress or the in-plane strain under the restriction imposed on the correlation tensor when it is divergence-free or potential tensor field.

**Micropolar continuum mechanics** The conservation equations of linear and angular momenta in a micropolar continuum have been given in [82, Chapter 1]. Henceforth, focusing on a static problem in the absence of body forces and moments, (5.9a) remains unchanged  $(\tau_{ij,j} + \rho f_i = \rho \ddot{u}_i)$ , whereas (5.9b) is replaced by

$$\mu_{ki,k} + \epsilon_{ijk}\tau_{jk} + \rho g_i = \rho J \ddot{\varphi}_i. \tag{5.11}$$

Here  $\mu_{ki}$  is the couple-stress,  $\tau_{ji}$  is the Cauchy stress,  $g_i$  is the body torque per unit mass, J is the (micro)inertia tensor of a particle, and  $\varphi_i$  is the microrotation. We write  $\tau_{jk}$  for the Cauchy stress to point out that this tensor generally lacks symmetry of  $\sigma_{ij}$  in (5.9).

For a statistically homogeneous case, from (5.11) it follows that

$$\langle \epsilon_{ijk} \sigma_{jk} \left( \boldsymbol{r}_{1} \right), \epsilon_{prs} \sigma_{rs} \left( \boldsymbol{r}_{1} + \boldsymbol{r} \right) \rangle = \langle \mu_{ji,j} \left( \boldsymbol{r}_{1} \right), \mu_{rp,r} \left( \boldsymbol{r}_{1} + \boldsymbol{r} \right) \rangle.$$
(5.12)

The left hand side may be written as  $LHS = \epsilon_{ijk}\epsilon_{prs}Q_{jk}^{rs}$ , where  $Q_{jk}^{rs}(\mathbf{r}) := \langle \sigma_{jk}(\mathbf{r}_1), \sigma_{rs}(\mathbf{r}_1 + \mathbf{r}) \rangle$  is the correlation function of the stress field. Since  $\sigma_{jk}$  is generally asymmetric but, by assumption, statistically isotropic, we have  $Q_{jk}^{rs}(\mathbf{r}) = Q_{rs}^{jk}(\mathbf{r})$ .

#### 5.3. TRFs of constitutive responses

#### 5.3.1. From a random microstructure to mesoscale response

Take a sheet of paper and hold it against the light. You will see a grayscale, i.e. a spatially non-uniform opacity of paper. This inhomogeneity is due to formation

of paper which involves a random placement of fibers during manufacture, a high-speed process involving, for example,  $10^{10}$  fibers per second in a newsprint made continuously at 20 m/s in 10 m width, see [20]. Due to the van der Waals forces, cellulose fibers cluster in flocs comprising thousands of them. But, even if one were able to remove flocculation, with random placement of fibers, one would not be able to obtain a homogeneous medium. One could achieve a homogeneous medium if the fibers had very well controlled lengths and were placed in a perfectly periodic manner as if it were a textile. Thus, paper is a random (quasi-)two-dimensional (2d) medium, which one may be tempted to describe by a random field of mass density

$$\left\{\rho\left(\mathbf{x},\omega\right);\mathbf{x}\in\mathbb{R}^{2},\omega\in\Omega\right\}.$$
(5.13)

Here  ${\bf x}$  is the location in the plane of paper and  $\omega$  indicates one realization of the mass density field.

By analogy, assuming a linear elastic response, the mechanical properties are described by a RF of the in-plane stiffness tensor

$$\left\{ C\left(\mathbf{x},\omega\right); \mathbf{x}\in\mathbb{R}^{2}, \omega\in\Omega \right\}.$$
(5.14)

The next tempting assumption is to introduce a local isotropy, i.e. assume paper to be described not by the 4th-rank tensor random field (TRF) but by a "vector" RF of the Young modulus and Poisson ratio  $\{E(\mathbf{x}, \omega), \nu(\mathbf{x}, \omega); \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^2, \omega \in \Omega\}$ or, even more simply, by a single scalar RF  $E(\mathbf{x}, \omega)$ . Such models have been used widely. However, as discussed in [106, 108], anisotropy cannot be disregarded.

Now, as we move the paper sheet away from our eyes, we note that it is becoming more and more uniform, i.e. its spatial randomness diminishes and tends to zero as the length scale of observation L becomes very large (... and then infinite) relative to the floc size d. Clearly, introducing the concept of a *mesoscale* 

$$\delta := \frac{L}{d},\tag{5.15}$$

we recognize that the RFs above must be mesoscale dependent. Hence, in place of (5.13)-(5.14) we can write more compactly

$$\left\{\rho\left(\mathbf{x},\omega,\delta\right), C\left(\mathbf{x},\omega,\delta\right); \mathbf{x}\in\mathbb{R}^{2}, \omega\in\Omega\right\}.$$
(5.16)

This set of all the deterministic realizations  $\rho(\mathbf{x}, \omega, \delta)$  and  $\mathsf{C}(\mathbf{x}, \omega, \delta)$  defines a random material  $\mathcal{B}_{\delta}$  parameterised by a mesoscale  $\delta$ , and occupying a domain  $B_{\delta} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ :

$$\mathcal{B}_{\delta} = \{B_{\delta}(\omega); \omega \in \Omega\}.$$

As we pull the sheet of paper away from our eyes, the mesoscale increases and we observe that the randomness vanishes. Hence, we have the limits:

$$\lim_{\delta \to \infty} \rho\left(\mathbf{x}, \omega, \delta\right) = \rho^{\text{eff}}, \qquad \lim_{\delta \to \infty} C\left(\mathbf{x}, \omega, \delta\right) = C^{\text{eff}}$$

corresponding to a conventional, deterministic continuum. In the above, we have introduced the effective material properties (such as stiffness, modulus, and Poisson ratio) which are typically employed in deterministic models of continuum mechanics.



FIG 1. (a) Lamb's problem for a homogeneous half-plane with a concentrated tangential load P(t) having a triangular-in-time history. (b) The same problem on a random field of mass density, with: the coefficient of variation = 0.124, Cauchy correlation function [120], fractal dimension D = 2.1, and Hurst coefficient H = 0.5. Solutions in both cases have been obtained via a cellular automata method which (i) allows the assignment of heterogeneous material properties from cell to cell and (ii) in the limit of infinitesimal cells, is analytically equivalent to the continuum elastodynamics equations [98]. Reprinted from [61] by permission of Elsevier.

- How can one proceed when an RVE cannot be identified?
- How can one determine the SVE (mesoscale) properties?
- How can one solve a macroscopic boundary value problem?

How can one proceed in the case of media with fractal structures and (also) long range effects?

As an example, Fig. 1(a) shows the response of such an idealized linear elastic half-plane to an impact-type normal force (i.e., a half-plane subjected to a vertical point force). On the other hand, as Fig. 1(b) shows, in terms of one realization of the random field of mass density (5.13), this Lamb's problem responds differently when the half-plane has a random mass density: the wavefront gets progressively distorted and attenuated through scattering on all the heterogeneities. Depending on the kind of material under consideration, various types of random fields can be considered and, as discussed in [61, Section 4], in order to model a geophysical-type randomness found in nature, the particular random field (RF) taken here has a fractal-and-Hurst character. Clearly, Fig. 1(b) represents one realization from a space of solutions of SBVP on a random field; here SVBP stands for a *stochastic* BVP. Some basic questions arising here are:

What random field models of material properties should drive such SBVPs?

What methods exist for solving these SBVPs?

What constraints on RFs of field quantities are dictated by the governing equations?

The scale-dependent homogenization — discussed in detail in [106, 108], shows that the anisotropy accompanies randomness: anisotropy goes to zero as the mesoscale increases. In other words, assuming isotropy of a smooth continuum on any mesoscale forces one to assume homogeneity, i.e. lack of spatial randomness. [This, of course, does not contradict anisotropic piece-wise homogeneous medium models, such as polycrystals.] Thus, to truly allow for anisotropy of the stiffness tensor field, the field equation written for the anti-plane displacement  $u \equiv u_3$  is

$$(C\delta_{ij}u_{,j})_{,i} + \rho f = \rho \ddot{u}, \tag{5.17}$$

should be replaced by

$$(C_{ij}u_{,j})_{,i} + \rho f = \rho \ddot{u}. \tag{5.18}$$

Here **C** is a 2nd-rank TRF set up on a mesoscale  $\delta$  corresponding to the resolution desired in a particular physical problem, Fig. 2(c); both equations are defined for  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^2$  and  $\omega \in \Omega$ . This type of a model, instead of  $C_{ij}(\cdot, \omega) = C(\cdot, \omega)\delta_{ij}$ , is sorely needed in SPDE and stochastic finite element (SFE) methods.

Moving to the 2d (in-plane) or 3d elasticity, if one assumes local material isotropy, a simple way to introduce material spatial randomness is to take the pair of Lamé constants  $(\lambda, \mu)$  as a "vector" random field, resulting in a generalization of the classical Navier equation for the displacement field **u**:

$$(\lambda u_{kk}\delta_{ij} + 2\mu u_{(i,j)})_{,j} + \rho f_i = \rho \ddot{u}_i.$$
(5.19)

However, just like in (5.17), the local isotropy is a crude approximation in view of the micromechanics upscaling arguments. Note that, due to spatial gradients, any realization of a RF in Fig. 5.2(c) involves some degree of anisotropy. Thus, (5.19) should be replaced by

$$(C_{ijkl}u_{(k,l)})_{,j} + \rho f_i = \rho \ddot{u}_i,$$
 (5.20)

where the stiffness  $C (= C_{ijkl} \mathbf{e}_i \otimes \mathbf{e}_j \otimes \mathbf{e}_k \otimes \mathbf{e}_l)$  is a 4th rank TRF. At any scale finitely larger than the microstructural scale, it is almost surely anisotropic, typically triclinic.

The same arguments as above apply in case one prefers to work with field equations directly in the language of stresses. Then the *Ignaczak equation of elastodynamics* [107] is applicable, see [55]:

$$\left(\rho^{-1}\sigma_{(ik,k)}\right)_{,j} - S_{ijkl}\ddot{\sigma}_{kl} = 0, \tag{5.21}$$

where  $S_{ijkl}$  are the components of the local compliance tensor  $S = C^{-1}$ . Note that this formulation avoids the gradients of compliance but introduces gradients of mass density, which is the reverse of what the displacement language formulation (5.20) requires.

Summarizing, with the advent of "multiscale methods", the contemporary solid mechanics recognizes the hierarchical structure of materials, but hardly accounts for their statistical nature. In effect, the multiscale methods remain deterministic, while the SPDE and SFE are rather oblivious to micromechanics, homogenization, and TRFs of properties.

With reference to [82, Example 2.1], three cases are relevant here: rank 2 TRF with  $U = S^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , rank 3 TRF with  $U = S^2(\mathbb{R}^3) \otimes \mathbb{R}^3$ , and rank 4 TRF with  $U = S^2(S^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$ . The correlation function in the first case (such as the 3d conductivity) has already been given above in (3.7).

The correlation function in the case of rank 3 TRF(such as piezoelectricity) has the general form [82]

$$R_{ijkprs}(\mathbf{r}) = \sum_{n=1}^{21} L_{ijkprs}^{n}(\mathbf{r}) K_{n}(r) ,$$

The correlation function in the case of rank 4 TRF (such as elasticity) has the general form [82]:

$$R_{ijk\ell prst}(\mathbf{r}) = \sum_{n=1}^{29} L_{ijk\ell prst}^{n}(\mathbf{r}) K_{n}(r) \,.$$

See [78] and [79] for explicit forms of all  $L_{ijk\ell prst}^n$ .

**Remark 5.2.** The correlation function of a rank 1 (resp., 2, 3, 4) TRF is a sum of 2 (resp., 5, 21, 29) addends, each being a product of a tensor function of twice higher rank with a scalar function of the norm  $\|\mathbf{r}\|$ .

## 5.3.2. TRFs in damage phenomena

Many natural and man-made materials work in presence of fields of many little cracks and defects. Progressive failure occurs through evolution and catastrophic coalescence of these microscale events. Descriptions of damage phenomena fields which enter predictive models of solid mechanics typically involve continuum models. Consider a disordered field of cracks (Fig. 2(a)), each specified by an orientation vector  $\mathbf{n}$  (i.e., a unit vector normal to the crack). With reference



FIG 2. (a) Random crack field; (b) distribution of  $\mathbf{n}$  on the unit sphere; (c) random ellipse field with a single ellipse (with semi-axes b, a) showing the  $(\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{n})$  pair for determination of the fabric tensor. Reprinted from [82] by permission of Cambridge University Press.

to Fig. 2(b), for a system in 3d (respectively, 2d), one introduces a probability density function of **n** on a unit sphere  $S^2$  (respectively, on a circle)

$$p(\mathbf{n}) = D_0 + D_{ij}f_{ij}(\mathbf{n}) + D_{ijkl}f_{ijkl}(\mathbf{n}) + \dots$$

This is a generalised Fourier series with respect to the irreducible tensor bases

$$f_{ij}(\mathbf{n}) = n_i n_j - \frac{1}{3} \delta_{ij},$$
  

$$f_{ijkl}(\mathbf{n}) = n_i n_j n_k n_l - \frac{1}{7} (\delta_{ij} n_k n_l + \delta_{ik} n_j n_l + \delta_{il} n_j n_k + \delta_{jk} n_i n_l + \delta_{jl} n_i n_k + \delta_{kl} n_i n_j) + \frac{1}{5 \times 7} (\delta_{ij} n_k n_l + \delta_{ik} n_j n_l + \delta_{il} n_j n_k),$$

while

$$D_0 = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{S^2} p(\mathbf{n}) \, d\Omega, \tag{5.22a}$$

$$D_{ij} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{3 \times 5}{2} \int_{S^2} p(\mathbf{n}) f_{ij}(\mathbf{n}) d\Omega, \qquad (5.22b)$$

$$D_{ijkl} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{3 \times 5 \times 7 \times 9}{2 \times 3 \times 4} \int_{S^2} p(\mathbf{n}) f_{ijkl}(\mathbf{n}) \, d\Omega, \quad \dots \tag{5.22c}$$

are the scalar, second-order, fourth-order, damage tensors (respectively, fabric tensors), describing the directional distribution of damage state (grain-grain contacts). Thus, the overall directional distribution of damage state of a material is described through the tensors  $D_0$ ,  $D_{ij}$ ,  $D_{ijkl}$ , .... Depending on the specific choice of the constitutive model, either just one  $(D_0)$  or two, or more damage tensors are included in the analysis.

Classical (deterministic) continuum damage mechanics (CDM) makes use of fabric tensors in a manner borrowed from the mechanics of granular media, see [31, 70, 95]. Even if such models are introduced on scales much larger than a single crack or defect, there is a need to grasp spatially random fluctuations and anisotropy. In the following, we outline a TRF model of the rank 2 (symmetric) tensor  $D_{ij}$  in (5.22b). Its correlation function

$$\mathcal{D}_{ij}^{kl} = \mathsf{E}\left[D_{ij}(\boldsymbol{r}+\boldsymbol{r}_1)D_{kl}(\boldsymbol{r}_1)
ight],$$

in the case of statistically isotropic damage, has the representation (3.7) To determine all the  $A_m$ 's, without loss of generality, we may take the unit vector  $\boldsymbol{n} = (n_1 = 1, n_2 = 0, n_3 = 0)$  co-aligned with  $\boldsymbol{r}$ , so that the following auto- and cross-correlations (consecutively named  $M_i$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, 7$ ) result

$$\begin{split} M_{1} &= \langle T_{11}(\mathbf{0}), T_{11}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = S_{1}(r) + 2S_{2}(r) + 2S_{3}(r) + 4S_{4}(r) + S_{5}(r) \\ M_{2} &= \langle T_{22}(\mathbf{0}), T_{22}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = S_{1}(r) + 2S_{2}(r) \\ M_{3} &= \langle T_{11}(\mathbf{0}), T_{22}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = S_{1}(r) + S_{3}(r) \\ M_{4} &= \langle T_{22}(\mathbf{0}), T_{33}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = S_{1}(r) \\ M_{5} &= \langle T_{12}(\mathbf{0}), T_{12}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = S_{2}(r) + S_{4}(r) \\ M_{6} &= \langle T_{23}(\mathbf{0}), T_{23}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = S_{2}(r) \\ M_{7} &= \langle T_{11}(\mathbf{0}), T_{12}(\mathbf{r}) \rangle = 0. \end{split}$$

While the last result shows that the cross-correlation between the 11- and 12components is always zero, we note that  $M_2 = M_4 + 2M_6$  must hold, so that only five  $M_i$ 's are independent, just as we have five functions  $A_m$ ,  $m = 1, \ldots, 5$ , see [82, Section 4.9]. In principle, we can determine these five correlations for a specific physical system using image-based computational micromechanics or simulations of random media. Thus, when  $T_{ij}$  is the damage tensor for a given resolution (on a given mesoscale) in a coordinate system defined by  $\boldsymbol{n}$ , we can use micromechanics or experiments to determine the best fits of  $M_i$ 's. Thus, we have a following strategy for determination of the correlation structure  $\mathcal{D}_{ij}^{kl}$ :

- 1. Measure  $M_i, i = 1, ..., 6$ .
- 2. Determine  $A_1 = M_4$  and  $A_2 = M_6$ .
- 3. Determine  $A_3 = M_3 M_4$  and  $A_4 = M_5 M_6$ .
- 4. Determine  $A_5 = M_1 M_3 4M_5 + 2M_6$ .

#### 5.3.3. TRFs as dyadics

With the components of the covariance tensor of a given TRF determined as outlined above, the next task is the simulation of TRF. This will be accomplished through a polyadic representation of tensors. Consider the rank 2 TRF C, over a 2d domain B, taking values in the space  $S^2(\mathbb{R}^2)$  which, in turn, provides input into a stochastic partial differential equation (SPDE) of anti-plane elasticity with local anisotropy (5.2).

If we were to assume  $C(\omega, \mathbf{x}) = C(\omega, \mathbf{x}) I$ , the TRF *C* would become a random scalar field, whereupon we would simply have a stochastic generalization of the anti-plane Navier equation of elastodynamics with an RF shear coefficient  $\mu$ . As already argued in Subsection 5.1 above, micromechanics studies imply that the local anisotropy *must* be present in spatially inhomogeneous random media on the level of Fig. 2(c). To account for it, the rank 2 TRF is modelled as a superposition of the isotropic mean with a dyadic product of two vector RFs  $\mathbf{a} = a_i \mathbf{e}_i$  and  $\mathbf{b} = b_i \mathbf{e}_i$  (i = 1, 2), written in tensor and matrix notations:

$$C_{ij} = \langle C_{ij} \rangle + sC'_{ij}, \qquad \langle C_{ij} \rangle = \mu \delta_{ij}, \qquad s = \text{const},$$
  

$$C'_{ij} = a_i b_j, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} C'_{ij} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 b_1 & a_1 b_2 \\ a_2 b_1 & a_2 b_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.23)

Each  $a_i$  and  $b_i$  (i = 1, 2) is a Gaussian RF:  $N(\mu_d, \sigma_d^2) = N(0, 1)$ . Already the special case with **a** and **b** fully correlated indicates that taking a random medium with a stiffness TRF C with full anisotropy leads to stronger fluctuations in responses to BVPs than a random medium with a scalar RF C, see [167]. This is the stepping-stone to studies without any restriction on **a** and **b** in hyperbolic as well as parabolic and elliptic SPDEs. In the planned project, we will adopt the dyadic (5.23) for the rank 2 TRF without the restriction on **a** and **b**. One needs codes to examine the spatial randomness effects of dyadic RFs with various covariances adopted for the individual components  $a_i$  and  $b_i$  in this and other BVPs.

**Polyadic TRFs** Random media occupy domains in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . With the summation convention,  $\mathbf{x} = x_i \mathbf{e}_i$  is the vector in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  where the set  $\{\mathbf{e}_i : 1 \leq i \leq d\}$  provides an orthonormal basis. The symbol  $(\mathbb{R}^d)^r$ , where r is a nonnegative integer, denotes the linear space  $\mathbb{R}^1$  if r = 0 and the Cartesian product of r copies of the set  $\mathbb{R}^d$  otherwise. A function  $f: (\mathbb{R}^d)^r \to \mathbb{R}$  is called the *polyadic (monadic* if r = 1, *dyadic* if r = 2, *triadic* if r = 3, and so on), if either r = 0 and f is linear or  $r \geq 1$  and f is r-linear, that is, for all integers i with  $1 \leq i \leq d$ , for all  $\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_{i-1}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x}_{i+1}, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_r$  in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and for all  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$  we have

$$f(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, \dots, \mathbf{x}_{i-1}, \alpha \mathbf{x} + \beta \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x}_{i+1}, \dots, \mathbf{x}_r)$$
  
=  $\alpha f(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, \dots, \mathbf{x}_{i-1}, \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_{i+1}, \dots, \mathbf{x}_r)$   
+  $\beta f(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, \dots, \mathbf{x}_{i-1}, \mathbf{y}, \mathbf{x}_{i+1}, \dots, \mathbf{x}_r).$ 

The number r is called the *rank* of a polyadic. Denote a polyadic with a capital sans serif letter with a superscript preceding it to indicate its rank, for example,  ${}^{2}\mathsf{T}$  is a dyadic. The set of all polyadics is a real linear space of dimension  $d^{r}$ . Indeed, if r = 0, then  $(\mathbb{R}^{d})^{r} = \mathbb{R}^{1}$ ,  $d^{r} = 1$ , and a linear functional  $f: \mathbb{R}^{1} \to \mathbb{R}$  has the form  $f(x_{1}) = y_{1}x_{1}$  with  $y_{1} \in \mathbb{R}^{1}$ . Otherwise, if  $r \geq 1$ , we define a special polyadic as follows.

A polyad (monad, dyad, triad, ...) is the polyadic  $\mathbf{x}_1 \mathbf{x}_2 \cdots \mathbf{x}_r$  given by

$$\mathbf{x}_1 \mathbf{x}_2 \cdots \mathbf{x}_r (\mathbf{y}_1, \mathbf{y}_2, \dots, \mathbf{y}_r) = (\mathbf{x}_1 \cdot \mathbf{y}_1) (\mathbf{x}_2 \cdot \mathbf{y}_2) \cdots (\mathbf{x}_r \cdot \mathbf{y}_r)$$

for all  $(\mathbf{y}_1, \mathbf{y}_2, \dots, \mathbf{y}_r) \in (\mathbb{R}^d)^r$ , where  $\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, \dots, \mathbf{x}_r$  are arbitrary vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

The  $d^r$  polyads  $\mathbf{e}_{i_1} \mathbf{e}_{i_2} \cdots \mathbf{e}_{i_r}$  with  $1 \leq i_j \leq d$  for all j with  $1 \leq j \leq r$ , form a basis in the linear space of all polyadics. With the *r*-dot product the above basis becomes orthonormal. In particular, if r = 1, then the 1-dot product of two monads  $\mathbf{x}$  and  $\mathbf{y}$  coincides with the scalar product  $\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}$ , the 2-dot product of two dyads is  $\mathbf{x}_1 \mathbf{x}_2 : \mathbf{y}_1 \mathbf{y}_2 = (\mathbf{x}_1 \cdot \mathbf{y}_1)(\mathbf{x}_2 \cdot \mathbf{y}_2)$ , and the 3-dot product of two

triads by  $\mathbf{x}_1 \mathbf{x}_2 \mathbf{x}_3 \\ \vdots \mathbf{y}_1 \mathbf{y}_2 \mathbf{y}_3 = (\mathbf{x}_1 \cdot \mathbf{y}_1)(\mathbf{x}_2 \cdot \mathbf{y}_2)(\mathbf{x}_3 \cdot \mathbf{y}_3)$ . A polyad  $\mathbf{x}_1 \mathbf{x}_2 \cdots \mathbf{x}_r$  is identified with the tensor product  $\mathbf{x}_1 \otimes \mathbf{x}_2 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbf{x}_r$  and the linear space of all polyadics with the tensor product  $(\mathbb{R}^d)^{\otimes r}$  of r copies of the space  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . We can prove that, for  $r \geq 1$ , any r-adic can be represented as a sum of not more than  $d^{r-1} r$ -ads.

If, under a shift map  $\mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}^3$ ,  $\mathbf{x} \mapsto \mathbf{x} + \mathbf{y}$ , the one-point correlation polyadic  $\langle {}^r\mathsf{T}(\mathbf{x})\rangle$  and the two-point covariance polyadic

$$\langle {}^{r}\mathsf{T}(\mathbf{x}), {}^{r}\mathsf{T}(\mathbf{y}) \rangle = \langle ({}^{r}\mathsf{T}(\mathbf{x}) - \langle {}^{r}\mathsf{T}(\mathbf{x}) \rangle), ({}^{r}\mathsf{T}(\mathbf{y}) - \langle {}^{r}\mathsf{T}(\mathbf{y}) \rangle) \rangle$$

do not change, a second-order TRF is WSS. It is WSSI if its correlation polyadics satisfy

$$\langle {}^{r}\mathsf{T}(g\mathbf{x})\rangle = g \cdot \langle {}^{r}\mathsf{T}(\mathbf{x})\rangle, \qquad \langle {}^{r}\mathsf{T}(g\mathbf{x}), {}^{r}\mathsf{T}(g\mathbf{y})\rangle = (\rho \otimes \rho)(g) \langle {}^{r}\mathsf{T}(g\mathbf{x}), {}^{r}\mathsf{T}(g\mathbf{y})\rangle,$$

where  $g \mapsto S^2(g)$  is an orthogonal representation of the group O(3). See more detailed account in [83].

Some open issues are: while it is clear how to construct the polyadic TRFs from scalar random fields, the resulting statistics and correlation structures are open research topics.

## 5.4. Concluding remarks

This review would not be complete without giving the account of the research initiated in [126], which represented a random rank 4 elasticity tensor through a Kelvin formulation. Further advances were reported in [43, 44, 129, 130, 133]. Generally, this thrust focused on a methodology to solve the problem related to the identification of random vector-valued coefficients of the high-dimensional polynomial chaos expansions of non-Gaussian tensor-valued random fields using partial and limited experimental data. The task involves solving an inverse stochastic problem for the identification of a random field. This subject has been reviewed in [126] and, further amplified in [45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 135]. Other references include [42, 99, 114, 127, 128, 131, 132]. Finally, we mention a different approach due to [41], and a recent book [88].

### 6. Random cross-sections of homogeneous vector bundles

This section is motivated by the following observation: the Cosmic Microwave Background can be described mathematically as a random cross-section of a homogeneous vector bundle over the sky sphere, see [7, 34, 66, 72, 85, 136].

A random cross-section of a homogeneous vector bundle  $(E, B, \pi)$  is a collection of random vectors  $\{s(x, \omega) : x \in B\}$  such that  $s(x, \omega)$  is a random vector in  $\pi^{-1}(x)$ . In what follows, we use the terms "random cross-section" and "random field" for s(x) interchangeably.

**Definition 6.1.** A random cross-section s(x) of a homogeneous vector bundle  $(E, B, \pi)$  is called *strictly isotropic* if for any positive integer n, for any n distinct points  $x_1, \ldots, x_n$  in B, and for arbitrary  $g \in G$ , the finite-dimensional distributions  $(s(x_1), \ldots, s(x_n))$  and  $(g \cdot s(g^{-1} \cdot x_1), \ldots, g \cdot s(g^{-1} \cdot x_n))$  are identical.

To simplify the subsequent notation, introduce the following agreements. Let tL = L and  $t\mathbf{l} = \mathbf{l}$  whenever  $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{H}\}$ . For a *complex* Hilbert space V with inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ , and for  $\mathbf{v} \in V$ , let  $t\mathbf{v}$  be the element of the space tV satisfying  $(t\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{v}_1) = (\mathbf{v}_1, \mathbf{v})$  for each  $\mathbf{v}_1 \in V$ .

Assume that the random cross-section s(x) of a homogeneous vector bundle  $(E, B, \pi)$  with fibre  $L_0$  is *second-order*, that is,  $\mathsf{E}[\|s(x)\|_{L_0}^2] < \infty$ ,  $x \in B$ . If, in addition, such a field is strictly isotropic, then it is wide-sense isotropic.

**Definition 6.2.** A second-order random cross-section s(x) is called *wide-sense isotropic* if and only if its one-point correlation tensor  $\langle s(x) \rangle = \mathsf{E}[s(x)]$  and the two-point correlation tensor  $\langle s(x), s(y) \rangle = \mathsf{E}[t(s(x) - \langle s(x) \rangle) \otimes (s(y) - \langle s(y) \rangle)]$ are *G*-invariant, that is, for any  $g \in G$  we have

$$\langle g \cdot s(g^{-1} \cdot x) \rangle = \langle s(x) \rangle, \qquad \langle g \cdot s(g^{-1} \cdot x), g \cdot s(g^{-1} \cdot y) \rangle = \langle s(x), s(y) \rangle.$$
(6.1)

Note that the one-point correlation tensor of a random field s(x) is K-valued, while the two-point one is K'-valued. See Section A for explanation of the above symbols.

In what follows, we consider only wide-sense isotropic random fields in homogeneous vector bundles and call them just isotropic.

The next step is to define a mean-square continuous random field in a homogeneous vector bundle. The standard definition, Equation (2.3), does not work, because if  $x, y \in B$  and  $x \neq y$ , then the random vectors s(x) and s(y) belong to different linear spaces and cannot be subtracted one from another. See a discussion of this problem in [72, 73]. Here we propose an alternative definition.

Let  $L^2(\Omega, L_0)$  be the Hilbert space of  $L_0$ -valued random vectors **X** with  $\mathsf{E}[\|\mathbf{X}\|_{L_0}^2] < \infty$  and inner product

$$(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{Y}) = \mathsf{E}[(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{Y})_{L_0}]. \tag{6.2}$$

Let *H* be the closed linear span of the set of random vectors  $\{s(x): x \in B\}$ in  $L^2(\Omega, L_0)$ . For each  $g \in G$ , there is a unique bounded linear operator A(g)in *H* with  $A(g)T(x) = s(g^{-1}x)$ . Moreover, the correspondence  $g \mapsto A(g)$  is a representation of *G* in *H*.

**Definition 6.3.** A random cross-section s(x) is called *mean-square continuous*, if the above representation is continuous.

Moreover, it is not difficult to prove that a random field s(x) with constant one-point correlation tensor is isotropic if and only if the inner product (6.2) is *G*-invariant.

How to find a spectral expansion of an isotropic random cross-section? First, exactly as in the case of ordinary random fields, we conclude that the one-point correlation tensor  $\langle s(x) \rangle$  is an arbitrary element of the isotypical subspace of the space  $L_0$  that corresponds to the trivial representation of the group H.

Let  $_{L^n,p}Y_{ijkLm}(x)$  be the cross-sections of the orthonormal basis constructed in Subsection A.8.2. In this notation, the index  $L^n$  runs over the set of all irreducible representations of the group H, for which  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(L^n, L_0) \neq \{\mathbf{0}\}$ , the index p enumerates the copies of the representation  $L^n$  inside  $L_0$ , the index Lruns over the set of all irreducible representations of the group G, for which  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(\operatorname{res}_H^G L, L^n) \neq \{\mathbf{0}\}$ , the index i enumerates the copies of the representation  $L^n$  inside the representation  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(\operatorname{res}_H^G L, L^n)$ , the index j enumerates identical blocks inside a certain matrix, the index k runs from 1 to the dimension of a certain division algebra over  $\mathbb{K}'$ , and the index m enumerates the basis vectors in L.

Let  $d_L$  be the multiplicity of the representation L in the induced representation  $L^2(E)$ , and let  $\{_{L^n,p}\mathbf{a}_{Lm}: L \in \hat{G}_{\mathbb{K}}, 1 \leq m \leq \dim L\}$  be a sequence of centred uncorrelated  $\mathbb{K}^{d_L}$ -valued random vectors such that the covariance matrix of the vector  $_{L^n,p}\mathbf{a}_{Lm}$  does not depend on m and for fixed  $L^n$  and p we have

$$\sum_{L \in \hat{G}_{\mathbb{K}}} \dim L\mathsf{E}[\|_{L^n,p} \mathbf{a}_{L1}\|^2] < \infty.$$

**Theorem 6.1.** A random field s(x) is isotropic if and only if it has the form

$$s(x) = s + \sum_{L^n, p} Y_{ijkLm}(x)({}_{L^n, p}\mathbf{a}_{Lm})_{ijk}.$$

*Proof.* Let  $(E, \pi, B \times B)$  be the homogeneous vector bundle where the representation of the group  $G \times G$  induced by the representation  $tL_0 \otimes L_0$  of the subgroup  $H \times H$  acts. Observe that the two-point correlation tensor  $\langle s(x), s(y) \rangle$  of the random field s(x) is a continuous cross-section of the above bundle. The cross-sections  $t_{L^n,p}Y_{ijkLm}(x) \otimes_{L'^n,p'}Y_{i'j'k'L'm'}(y)$  form an orthonormal basis in the Hilbert space  $L^2(E)$ .

We note that  $t_{L^n,p}Y_{ijkLm}(x) = {}_{L^n,p}Y_{ijk(tL)m}(x)$ , and, for a fixed  $L \in \hat{G}_{\mathbb{K}}$ , the functions  ${}_{L^n,p}Y_{ijkLm}(x)$  form an orthonormal basis in the isotypical subspace of the space  $L^2(E)$  that correspond to L, call it  $\mathcal{H}_L$ . Moreover, by the construction of this basis, for fixed  $L^n, p, i, j$ , and k, we have

$$_{L^n,p}Y_{ijkLm}(x) = \sum_{q=1}^{\dim L} \theta^L_{mq}(g)_{L^n,p}Y_{ijkLq}(x).$$

Let  $C_{LL'}$  be the matrix of the Fourier coefficients of the cross-section  $\langle s(x), s(y) \rangle$ in the above basis. The second equation in condition (6.1) becomes

$$C_{LL'}\theta^L = \theta^{L'}C_{LL'},$$

that is,  $C_{LL'} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}G}(\mathcal{H}_L, \mathcal{H}_{L'})$ . Schur's Lemma immediately shows that  $C_{LL'}$ is the zero matrix whenever  $tL \neq L'$ . Otherwise, the matrix  $C^{tLL}$  is symmetric when  $\mathbb{K}' = \mathbb{R}$ , Hermitian when  $\mathbb{K}' = \mathbb{C}$ , consists of square sub-matrices with dim V rows, and each sub-matrix is block-diagonal, with blocks described in Subsection A.8.2. Because the blocks of sizes  $2 \times 2$  and  $4 \times 4$  are skew-symmetric, they must be diagonal and multiple to the identity matrix. In the space  $\mathcal{H}_L$ , the Fourier coefficients form a square matrix with  $d_L^2$  blocks, where each block is a multiple of the dim  $L \times \dim L$  identity matrix. The elements of each block which are located at the intersection of the *m*th row and the *m*th column, form the covariance matrix of the random vector  $_{L^n,p} \mathbf{a}_{Lm}$ . The rest is obvious.  $\Box$ 

## 7. Applications to cosmology

We make a simplification in Example 2.2. Suppose that the spacetime M is the Minkowski one, that is, the nonzero components of the bilinear form g(x) are  $g_{00}(x) = -c^2$ ,  $g_{11}(x) = g_{22}(x) = g_{33}(x) = 1$ , where c is the speed of light. Physically, this means that we neglect possible secondary effects of the CMB (the effects that appear after the last scattering of the CMB photons).

Consider an observer at the event  $\mathbf{0} \in M$ . Light rays through her eye correspond to null straight lines through  $\mathbf{0}$ . Their past directions with t < 0 constitute her field of vision. She can imagine herself at the centre of her sphere of vision, a unit sphere  $S^2$ , the celestial sphere, see Example 2.2. It can be regarded in different ways.

**Example 7.1** (The  $(\Theta, \mathcal{Q} \pm i\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{V})$  model). Regard the celestial sphere as the complex projective line  $\mathbb{C}P^1$ . Let  $T_{\zeta}\mathbb{C}P^1$  be the tangent space at a point  $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}P^1$ . According to Example 2.2, the electric field of the CMB at the point  $\zeta$  belongs to the real linear space  $rT_{\zeta}\mathbb{C}P^1$ . The space  $crT_{\zeta}\mathbb{C}P^1$  is the *complexified tangent space* at  $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}P^1$ , see [94]. We have

$$crT_{\zeta}\mathbb{C}P^1 = T_{\zeta}^{1,0}\mathbb{C}P^1 \oplus T_{\zeta}^{0,1}\mathbb{C}P^1,$$

where the first (resp., the second) term is the holomorphic (resp., anti-holomorphic) tangent space at  $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}P^1$ . The projection  $\pi(crT_{\zeta}\mathbb{C}P^1) = \zeta$  determines a vector bundle, which is the vector bundle  $(\Sigma\mathbb{C}P^1, \mathbb{C}P^1, \pi)$  with fibre  $V_1 \oplus tV_1$  of Example A.9. That is, the electric field of the CMB is a spinor field.

Identify a point  $\zeta \in \mathbb{C}P^1$  with the point  $\mathbf{x} \in S^2 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  with coordinates given by [112, Equation (1.2.8)]:

$$x = \frac{\zeta + \zeta^*}{\zeta \zeta^* + 1}, \qquad y = \frac{\zeta - \zeta^*}{\mathrm{i}(\zeta \zeta^* + 1)}, \qquad z = \frac{\zeta \zeta^* - 1}{\zeta \zeta^* + 1},$$

where the point at infinity  $\zeta = \infty$  is identified with the north pole of the sphere. If we observe an electromagnetic wave of the CMB at a point  $\mathbf{x} \in S^2$ , it propagates in the direction  $\mathbf{n} = -\mathbf{x}$ . Choose two vectors  $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{(1)}$  and  $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$  in the space  $crT_{\zeta}\mathbb{C}P^1$  in such a way that the vectors  $(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{(1)}, \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{(2)}, \mathbf{n})$  form a right-handed

orthonormal basis. The pair  $(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{(1)}, \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{(2)})$  is called the *linear polarisation basis*. It is customary to represent the electric field of the wave in the *complex form* 

$$\mathbf{E}(t) = E_1(t)\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{(1)} + E_2(t)\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{(2)}, \qquad E_1(t), E_2(t) \in \mathbb{C}.$$

According to [40, p. 305]:

 $\ldots$  only the real part of the fields has a physical meaning. We make use of the complex notation because many formulas are thereby simplified. . .

A CMB detector observes the time-averaged electric field  $\mathbf{E} = E_1 \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{(1)} + E_2 \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$ . Following [23], introduce the Hermitian 2 × 2 matrix  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}} = \begin{pmatrix} |E_1|^2 & E_1^* E_2 \\ E_2^* E_1 & |E_2|^2 \end{pmatrix}$ . The standard orthonormal basis in the real 4-dimensional linear space of Hermitian 2 × 2 matrices with inner product  $(\tilde{\mathcal{P}}_1, \tilde{\mathcal{P}}_2) = \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{\mathcal{P}}_1 \tilde{\mathcal{P}}_2)$  consists of the matrices  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sigma^{(i)}, 0 \leq i \leq 3$ , where  $\sigma^{(i)}$  are the *Pauli matrices*  $\sigma^{(0)} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \sigma^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \sigma^{(2)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \sigma^{(3)} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$ . The expansion coefficients are called the *Stokes parameters* and defined as follows:

$$I(\zeta) = \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{\mathcal{P}}(\zeta)\sigma^{(0)}), \quad U(\zeta) = \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{\mathcal{P}}(\zeta)\sigma^{(1)}),$$
  

$$V(\zeta) = \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{\mathcal{P}}(\zeta)\sigma^{(2)}), \quad Q(\zeta) = \operatorname{tr}(\tilde{\mathcal{P}}(\zeta)\sigma^{(3)}).$$
(7.1)

The matrix  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}$  takes the form

$$\tilde{\mathcal{P}}(\zeta) = \frac{1}{2} (I(\zeta)\sigma^{(0)} + U(\zeta)\sigma^{(1)} + V(\zeta)\sigma^{(2)} + Q(\zeta)\sigma^{(3)}).$$

The matrix  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}$  lies in the space

$$L_0 = t(V_1 \oplus tV_1) \otimes (V_1 \oplus tV_1) = (tV_1 \oplus V_1) \otimes (V_1 \oplus tV_1) = 2cU_0 \oplus V_2 \oplus tV_2,$$
(7.2)

and the group H, the subgroup of diagonal matrices in SU(2), acts on  $\tilde{\mathcal{P}}$  by  $h \cdot \tilde{\mathcal{P}} = h \tilde{\mathcal{P}} h^{-1}$ .

The theory of irreducible unitary representations of the group SU(2) is developed in numerous sources, we mention [8, 30, 33, 71, 96] among others. The set  $\hat{G}_{\mathbb{C}}$  contains the unitary irreducible representations of real type {  $cU_{\ell}: \ell \geq 0$  } and of quaternionic type {  $c'W_{\ell}: \ell = \frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{2}, \ldots$  }. To determine the structure of the restrictions res<sup>G</sup><sub>H</sub>  $cU_{\ell}$  and res<sup>G</sup><sub>H</sub>  $c'W_{\ell}$ , we use the *characters*.

By definition, the character of a complex finite-dimensional representation V is a function  $G \to \mathbb{C}$ , given by  $\chi_V(g) = \operatorname{tr} \theta^V(g)$ . The character of a real finite-dimensional representation U (resp., quaternionic finite-dimensional representation W) is the character of the complex representation cU (resp., c'W). We have  $\chi_{V_1 \oplus V_2}(g) = \chi_{V_1}(g) + \chi_{V_2}(g)$ , and similarly for real and quaternionic representations.

According to [144], the restriction of the character of an irreducible representations with index  $\ell$  to the subgroup H is

$$\chi_{cU_{\ell}}\left(\left(\begin{smallmatrix}\alpha & 0\\ 0 & \alpha^*\end{smallmatrix}\right)\right) = \chi_{c'W_{\ell}}\left(\left(\begin{smallmatrix}\alpha & 0\\ 0 & \alpha^*\end{smallmatrix}\right)\right) = \alpha^{2\ell} + \alpha^{-2\ell-2} + \dots + \alpha^{-2\ell}.$$

In other words, the restriction  $\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G} cU_{\ell}$  has the form

$$\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G} cU_{\ell} = tV_{2\ell} \oplus tV_{2\ell-2} \oplus \dots \oplus tV_{2} \oplus cU_{0} \oplus V_{2} \oplus \dots \oplus V_{2\ell}, \qquad (7.3)$$

while the restriction  $\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G} c' W_{\ell}$  has the form

$$\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G} c' W_{\ell} = t V_{2\ell} \oplus t V_{2\ell-2} \oplus \dots \oplus t V_{1} \oplus V_{1} \oplus \dots \oplus V_{2\ell}.$$
(7.4)

The first copy of the irreducible representation  $cU_0$  of the group H acts in the complex linear space  $L_{01}$  generated by the matrix  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sigma^{(0)}$ . Schur's Lemma gives  $D = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}H}(cU_0, cU_0) = \mathbb{C}$ , and we have  $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} D = 1$ . By Equations (7.3) and (7.4),  $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}H}(\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G} cU_{\ell}, cU_{0}) = 1$ , while  $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}H}(\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G} c'W_{\ell}, cU_{0}) =$ 0. The space  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}H}(\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G} cU_{\ell}, cU_{0})$  contains  $n_{cU_{\ell}} = 1$  copy of the representation  $cU_0$ , while the space  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}H}(\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G} c'W_{\ell}, cU_{0})$  contains no copies of the above representation. The matrix  $f^{111}$  has 1 row and  $2\ell + 1$  columns. We have  $f^{111}_{1\ell+1} = 1$ , the remaining entries are zeroes.

Choose a model for  $cU_{\ell}$ , described in [144] and in many other sources. The linear space  $cU_{\ell}$  is the space of all polynomials in a real variable x of degree  $2\ell$ . The group G acts by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \beta \\ -\beta^* & \alpha^* \end{pmatrix} \cdot p(x) = (\beta x + \alpha^*)^{2\ell} p\left(\frac{\alpha x - \beta^*}{\beta x + \alpha^*}\right), \qquad p \in cU_\ell.$$

The orthonormal basis in  $cU_{\ell}$  is formed by the polynomials

$$p_m(x) = \frac{x^{\ell-m}}{\sqrt{(\ell-m)!(\ell+m)!}}, \qquad -\ell \le m \le \ell.$$

The matrix  $\begin{pmatrix} \alpha & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha^* \end{pmatrix} \in H$  acts on  $p_m(x)$  by multiplication by  $\alpha^{-2m}$ , that is, by one of the representations in the right hand side of (7.3). The Frobenius reciprocity isomorphism maps the matrix  $f^{111}$  to the function  $F^{111}: cU_{\ell} \to C(G, L_{01})$ . This function maps an element  $g \in G$  to the zeroth component of the vector  $g^{-1} \cdot p \in cU_{\ell}$  for  $p \in U_{\ell}$ . In particular,  $F^{111}(p_m)$  is the  $L_{01}$ -valued function on G given by  $D_{m0}^{*(\ell)}(g) \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \sigma^{(0)}$ , where  $D_{m0}^{(\ell)}(g)$  are the Wigner D-functions, the matrix entries of the representations  $cU_{\ell}$ . After normalisation, the cross-sections  $L_{01}Y_{ijkLm}(gH)$  become

$$_{L_{01}}Y_{ijkLm}(gH) = \sqrt{\frac{2\ell+1}{4\pi}} D_{m0}^{*(\ell)}(gH) \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \sigma^{(0)},$$

and we recognise the spherical harmonics  $Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta)$ , see [23, Equation (A.4.43)]. Theorem 6.1 gives

$$I(\zeta) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m} Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta),$$
(7.5)

where  $a_{\ell m}$  are complex-valued uncorrelated random variables with  $\mathsf{E}[a_{\ell m}] = 0$ for  $\ell \geq 1$ ,  $\mathsf{E}[|a_{\ell m}|^2] = C_{\ell}$ , and

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} (2\ell+1)C_{\ell} < \infty.$$

Note that we absorbed the constant cross-section s into the expected value of  $a_{00}$ . The expansion (7.5) was proved in [100] long before the discovery of the relic radiation. The spherical harmonics  $Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta)$  have the form

$$Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta) = \frac{(-1)^{\ell-m}}{\sqrt{4\pi\ell!}} \sqrt{(2\ell+1)(\ell+m)!(\ell-m)!} (1+\zeta\zeta^*) \\ \times \sum_{p=\max\{0,m\}}^{\ell} {\ell \choose p} {\ell \choose p-m} \zeta^p (\zeta^*)^{p-m}.$$

It follows from this equation that  $Y_{\ell,-m}(\zeta) = (-1)^m Y_{\ell,m}^*(\zeta)$ . We see that the random field  $I(\zeta)$  is real-valued if and only if  $a_{\ell-m} = (-1)^m a_{\ell m}^*$ .

The Stokes parameters, as defined above, have units of intensity I. It is conventional to express the CMB fluctuations in terms of the *brightness temperature*, T. Denote the Stokes parameters after re-scaling by T,  $U_T$ ,  $V_T$ , and  $Q_T$ . Denote  $T_0 = \mathsf{E}[a_{00}]$ , the averaged temperature of the CMB. Finally, the *dimensionless Stokes parameters* are

$$\Theta = \frac{T - T_0}{T_0}, \qquad \mathcal{U} = \frac{U_T}{T_0}, \qquad \mathcal{V} = \frac{V_T}{T_0}, \qquad \mathcal{Q} = \frac{Q_T}{T_0}$$

Note that our definition of  $\mathcal{U}$  and  $\mathcal{Q}$  differs from [23, Equation (5.8)] by a factor of  $\frac{1}{4}$ .

The number  $\ell$  is called the *multipole number* (the *monopole* if  $\ell = 0$ , the *dipole* if  $\ell = 1$ ). The number *m* is called the *azimuthal number*, the number  $C_{\ell}$  the *multipole moment*. The *multipole expansion* of the dimensionless temperature deviation  $\Theta(\zeta)$  generally starts at  $\ell = 2$ :

$$\Theta(\zeta) = \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{\Theta} Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta).$$

This is because with our definition of  $\Theta$ , the monopole term vanishes, while the dipole term is affected by our own motion across space and dominates over the intrinsic cosmological dipole term.

The analysis for  $\mathcal{V}$  is similar and gives

$$\mathcal{V}(\zeta) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{V}} Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta).$$

Denote

$$\mathcal{P}(\zeta) = \frac{1}{2}(\mathcal{U}(\zeta)\sigma^{(1)} + \mathcal{Q}(\zeta)\sigma^{(3)}) = \frac{1}{2}\begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{Q}(\zeta) & \mathcal{U}(\zeta) \\ \mathcal{U}(\zeta) & -\mathcal{Q}(\zeta) \end{pmatrix}$$

Rotate the basis  $\varepsilon^{(1)}$  and  $\varepsilon^{(2)}$  of the space  $crT_{\zeta}\mathbb{C}P^1$  by an angle  $\psi$  around the direction **n**. The new basis is

$$\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{(1)'} = \cos\psi\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{(1)} + \sin\psi\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{(2)}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{(2)'} = -\sin\psi\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{(1)} + \cos\psi\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{(2)}$$

In the rotated basis, the coefficients of the electric field become

 $E_1 = E_1 \cos \psi + E_2 \sin \psi, \qquad E'_2 = -E_1 \sin \psi + E_2 \cos \psi.$ 

Equation (7.1) gives

$$I = |E_1|^2 + |E_2|^2$$
,  $Q = |E_1|^2 - |E_2|^2$ ,  $U = 2\operatorname{Re}(E_1^*E_2)$ ,  $V = 2\operatorname{Im}(E_1^*E_2)$ ,

and we see that under the above rotation

$$I' = I$$
,  $V' = V$ ,  $Q' = Q\cos(2\psi) - U\sin(2\psi)$ ,  $U' = U\cos(2\psi) + Q\sin(2\psi)$ .

It follows that  $Q' \pm iU' = e^{\pm 2i\psi}(Q + iU)$ . In other words,  $O + iU \in V_2$ ,  $Q - iU \in tV_2$ .

The irreducible representation  $V_2$  of the group H acts in the complex linear space  $L_2$  generated by the matrix  $\frac{1}{2}(\sigma^{(3)} + i\sigma^{(1)})$ . Schur's Lemma gives  $D = \text{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}H}(V_2, V_2) = \mathbb{C}$ , and we have  $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} D = 1$ . By Equations (7.3) and (7.4),  $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} \text{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}H}(\text{res}_H^G cU_\ell, V_2) = 1$  for  $\ell \geq 2$ , while  $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} \text{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}H}(\text{res}_H^G c'W_\ell, V_2) = 0$ . The space  $\text{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}H}(\text{res}_H^G cU_\ell, V_2)$  contains  $n_{cU_\ell} = 1$  copy of the representation  $V_2$ , while the space  $\text{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}H}(\text{res}_H^G c'W_\ell, cU_0)$  contains no copies of the above representation. The matrix  $f^{111}$  has 1 row and  $2\ell + 1$  columns. We have  $f^{111}_{1\ell+1} = 1$ , the remaining entries are zeroes.

This time, the Frobenius reciprocity isomorphism maps the matrix  $f^{111}$  to the function  $F^{111}: V_2 \to C(G, L_2)$ . This function maps an element  $g \in G$  to the zeroth component of the vector  $g^{-1} \cdot p \in V_2$  for  $p \in U_\ell$ . In particular,  $F^{111}(p_m)$  is the  $L_2$ -valued function on G given by  $D_{m2}^{*(\ell)}(g)\frac{1}{2}(\sigma^{(3)} + i\sigma^{(1)})$ . After normalisation, the cross-sections  $L_2Y_{ijkLm}(gH)$  become

$${}_{L_2}Y_{ijkLm}(gH) = \sqrt{\frac{2\ell+1}{4\pi}} D_{m2}^{*(\ell)}(gH) \frac{1}{2} (\sigma^{(3)} + i\sigma^{(1)}).$$

with the help of [23, Equation (A.4.95)], we recognise the spin 2 spherical harmonics  $_2Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta)$ . Theorem 6.1 gives

$$(\mathcal{Q} + \mathrm{i}\mathcal{U})(\zeta) = \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{(2)} {}_{2}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta),$$

where  $a_{\ell m}^{(2)}$  are centred complex-valued uncorrelated random variables with

$$\mathsf{E}[|a_{\ell m}^{(2)}|^2] = C_{\ell}^+, \qquad \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} (2\ell+1)C_{\ell}^+ < \infty.$$

We say that the random fields  $(\mathcal{Q} \pm i\mathcal{U})(\zeta)$  have spin  $\pm 2$  in contrast to the fields  $\Theta(\zeta)$  and  $\mathcal{V}(\zeta)$  which have spin 0.

Similar analysis for the representation  $tV_2$  gives

$$(\mathcal{Q} \pm \mathrm{i}\mathcal{U})(\zeta) = \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{(\pm 2)} {}_{\pm 2}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta).$$

This expansion was proved in [164]. The spin s spherical harmonics have the form

$${}_{s}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta) = \frac{(-1)^{\ell-m}}{\sqrt{4\pi}(\ell-s)!(\ell+s)!}\sqrt{(2\ell+1)(\ell+m)!(\ell-m)!}(1+\zeta\zeta^{*})$$
$$\times \sum_{p=\max\{0,m-s\}}^{\min\{\ell-s,\ell+s\}} {\binom{\ell-s}{p}\binom{\ell+s}{p+s-m}}\zeta^{p}(\zeta^{*})^{p+s-m}.$$

It follows from this equation that  ${}_{-s}Y_{\ell,-m}(\zeta) = (-1)^{m+s}{}_{s}Y^*_{\ell,m}(\zeta)$ . We see that

$$a_{\ell m}^{(-2)*} = a_{\ell - m}^{(2)}.$$
(7.6)

Combining everything together, we obtain

$$\tilde{\mathcal{P}}(\zeta) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{\Theta} \sigma^{(0)} Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{V}} \sigma^{(2)} Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} \sigma^{(3)} \operatorname{Re}(a_{\ell m}^{(2)} {}_{2}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta)) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} \sigma^{(1)} \operatorname{Im}(a_{\ell m}^{(2)} {}_{2}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta)).$$

$$(7.7)$$

**Example 7.2** (The  $(\Theta, Q, U, V)$  model). Introduce the *circular polarisation* or helicity basis  $\varepsilon^{(\pm)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\varepsilon^{(1)} \pm i\varepsilon^{(2)})$  and the symmetric trace free tensor spherical harmonics

$$Y_{\ell m}^{E}(\zeta) = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} [_{-2}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta)\varepsilon^{(+)} \otimes \varepsilon^{(+)} + {}_{2}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta)\varepsilon^{(-)} \otimes \varepsilon^{(-)}],$$
  

$$Y_{\ell,m}^{B}(\zeta) = \frac{\mathrm{i}}{\sqrt{2}} [_{-2}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta)\varepsilon^{(+)} \otimes \varepsilon^{(+)} - {}_{2}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta)\varepsilon^{(-)} \otimes \varepsilon^{(-)}].$$
(7.8)

Then we obtain

$$\mathcal{P}(\zeta) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} [e_{\ell m} Y^E_{\ell,m}(\zeta) + b_{\ell m} Y^B_{\ell,m}(\zeta)],$$

where

$$e_{\ell m} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(a_{\ell m}^{(2)} + a_{\ell m}^{(-2)}), \qquad b_{\ell m} = \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}}(a_{\ell m}^{(2)} - a_{\ell m}^{(-2)}).$$

This expansion was proved in [59], but we need to prove that their definition of symmetric trace free tensor spherical harmonics is equivalent to our one.

To perform this, we use the results of [19]. In our notation, a part of their

Equation (92) takes the form

$$\begin{split} Y^E_{\ell,m}(\zeta) &= -\left(\frac{(\ell+1)(\ell+2)}{2(2\ell-1)(2\ell+1)}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathsf{T}^{2\,\ell-2,\ell m}(\zeta) \\ &\quad -\left(\frac{3(\ell-1)(\ell+2)}{(2\ell-1)(2\ell+3)}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathsf{T}^{2\,\ell,\ell m}(\zeta) \\ &\quad -\left(\frac{\ell(\ell-1)}{2(2\ell+1)(2\ell+3)}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathsf{T}^{2\,\ell+2,\ell m}(\zeta), \\ Y^B_{\ell,m}(\zeta) &= \mathrm{i}\left(\frac{\ell+2}{2\ell+1}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathsf{T}^{2\,\ell-1,\ell m}(\zeta) + \mathrm{i}\left(\frac{\ell-2}{2\ell+1}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\mathsf{T}^{2\,\ell+1,\ell m}(\zeta), \end{split}$$

where  $\mathsf{T}^{2\,\ell',\ell m}(\zeta)$  are the *pure-orbital tensor spherical harmonics*, see [87, 139]. Compare these equations with [139, Equations (2.30d), (2.30f)]. We obtain

$$Y^E_{\ell,m}(\zeta) = -\mathsf{T}^{E2,\ell m}(\zeta), \qquad Y^B_{\ell,m}(\zeta) = -\mathsf{T}^{B2,\ell m}(\zeta),$$

where  $\mathsf{T}^{E2,\ell m}(\zeta)$  and  $\mathsf{T}^{E2,\ell m}(\zeta)$  are the *pure-spin tensor spherical harmonics*, see [139, 165]. [139, Equations (2.38e), (2.38f)] become equivalent to our Equation (7.8).

The complete expansion takes the form

$$\tilde{\mathcal{P}}(\zeta) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{\Theta} \sigma^{(0)} Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{V}} \sigma^{(2)} Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta) + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} [e_{\ell m} Y_{\ell,m}^{E}(\zeta) + b_{\ell m} Y_{\ell,m}^{B}(\zeta)].$$
(7.9)

**Example 7.3** (The  $(\Theta, \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{V})$  model). Is is well-known that

$$\vec{\eth}^2(_{-2}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta)) = \overline{\eth}^2(_2Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta)) = \sqrt{\frac{(\ell+2)!}{(\ell-2)!}}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta).$$

If we assume that

$$\sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \frac{(2\ell+1)\mathsf{E}[|a_{\ell 0}^{(2)}|^2](\ell+2)!}{(\ell-2)!} < \infty,$$

then we may differentiate the random fields  $(\mathcal{Q} \pm i\mathcal{U})(\zeta)$  term by term:

$$\overline{\eth}^2((\mathcal{Q} + \mathrm{i}\mathcal{U})(\zeta)) = \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{(2)} \sqrt{\frac{(\ell+2)!}{(\ell-2)!}} Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta),$$
  
$$\eth^2((\mathcal{Q} - \mathrm{i}\mathcal{U})(\zeta)) = \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{(-2)} \sqrt{\frac{(\ell+2)!}{(\ell-2)!}} Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta).$$

Introduce the random fields

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}(\zeta) &= \frac{1}{2} [\overline{\eth}^2((\mathcal{Q} + i\mathcal{U})(\zeta)) + \eth^2((\mathcal{Q} - i\mathcal{U})(\zeta))], \\ \mathcal{B}(\zeta) &= -\frac{i}{2} [\overline{\eth}^2((\mathcal{Q} + i\mathcal{U})(\zeta)) - \eth^2((\mathcal{Q} - i\mathcal{U})(\zeta))]. \end{split}$$

Their spectral expansion takes the form

$$\mathcal{E}(\zeta) = \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{E}} \sqrt{\frac{(\ell+2)!}{(\ell-2)!}} Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta),$$
$$\mathcal{B}(\zeta) = \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{B}} \sqrt{\frac{(\ell+2)!}{(\ell-2)!}} Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta),$$

where

$$a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{E}} = \frac{1}{2} (a_{\ell m}^{(2)} + a_{\ell m}^{(-2)}), \qquad a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{B}} = -\frac{i}{2} (a_{\ell m}^{(2)} - a_{\ell m}^{(-2)}).$$
(7.10)

All random fields  $\Theta(\zeta)$ ,  $\mathcal{E}(\zeta)$ ,  $\mathcal{B}(\zeta)$ , and  $\mathcal{V}(\zeta)$  are spin 0 fields. The complete expansion takes the form

$$(\Theta, \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{V})^{\top}(\zeta) = \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{\Theta} Y_{\ell, m}(\zeta) \mathbf{e}_{\Theta} + \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{E}} Y_{\ell, m}(\zeta) \mathbf{e}_{\mathcal{E}} + \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{B}} Y_{\ell, m}(\zeta) \mathbf{e}_{\mathcal{B}} + \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{V}} Y_{\ell, m}(\zeta) \mathbf{e}_{\mathcal{V}},$$
(7.11)

where  $\mathbf{e}_{\Theta} = (1, 0, 0, 0)^{\top}$ , and so on.

**Example 7.4.** Regard the celestial sphere as the base space of the principal bundle (SO(3), SO(2),  $S^2$ ,  $\tilde{\pi}$ ) with  $\tilde{\pi}(g) = gH$ . Let the group SO(2) acts in the space  $L_0$  given by Equation (7.2) by  $h \cdot \tilde{\mathcal{P}} = h\mathcal{P}h^{-1}$ . Let  $(\theta, \varphi)$  be the spherical coordinates on  $S^2$ . The polarisation tensor of the CMB can be described as a random cross-section of a vector bundle associated to the principal bundle (SO(3), SO(2),  $S^2$ ,  $\tilde{\pi}$ ) by the above representation. The spectral expansions of these random sections have the form of Equations (7.7), (7.9), and (7.11), where  $\zeta$  is replaced with the spherical coordinates  $(\theta, \varphi)$  on the sphere  $S^2$ .

However, in this model the electric field of the CMB is *not* a spinor field, because  $SO(2) \neq Spin(2)$ . The group Spin(2) = U(2) covers the group SO(2) by the "square" map (A.2). Nevertheless, the term "spin 0 field" is traditionally used for  $\Theta(\theta, \varphi)$  and similar random fields, while the term "spin 2 field" is used for  $Q(\theta, \varphi)$  and similar random fields.

The transformation  $\mathbf{n} \to -\mathbf{n}$  is called the *parity transformation*. Under parity, the spherical harmonics  $Y_{\ell,m}$  transform according to [23, Equation (A.4.39)]:  $Y_{\ell,m}(-\mathbf{n}) = (-1)^{\ell} Y_{\ell,m}(\mathbf{n})$ . The naming convention for parity types is called the *even-odd convention*, see [166, Table II]. We say that the spherical harmonics  $Y_{\ell,m}$  have "electric-type" parity. It follows that the random fields  $\Theta(\theta, \varphi)$  and

 $\mathcal{V}(\theta,\varphi)$  have electric type. Using Equations (7.6) and (7.10), we see that  $a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{E}} \mapsto (-1)^{\ell} a_{\ell-m}^{\mathcal{E}}$  (electric type), but  $a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{B}} \mapsto (-1)^{\ell+1} a_{\ell-m}^{\mathcal{B}}$ . This is called "magnetic-type" parity.

In Equation (7.11), consider the matrix of cross-correlations  $C_{\ell}^{ij} = \mathsf{E}[a_{\ell m}^{(i)*}a_{\ell m}^{(j)}]$ with  $i, j \in \{\Theta, \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{V}\}$ . The current standard cosmological model assumes that the random field that generates the initial fluctuations, is invariant under parity. In this case, the cross-correlations between the components with different parity vanish. That is,  $C_{\ell}^{\Theta \mathcal{B}} = C_{\ell}^{\mathcal{E} \mathcal{B}} = C_{\ell}^{\mathcal{B} \mathcal{V}} = 0$ .

Again, according to the standard cosmological model, in the early universe, photons and baryons are coupled by the physical process called *Thomson scattering*. This process does introduce linear polarisation, but no circular one. Only a small amount of circular polarisation may be introduced by other physical processes, see [56]. By this reason, we may put  $a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{V}} = 0$ . The expansion takes the form

$$\begin{aligned} (\Theta, \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{B})^{\top}(\theta, \varphi) &= \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{\Theta} Y_{\ell, m}(\theta, \varphi) \mathbf{e}_{\Theta} + \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{E}} Y_{\ell, m}(\theta, \varphi) \mathbf{e}_{\mathcal{E}} \\ &+ \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{B}} Y_{\ell, m}(\theta, \varphi) \mathbf{e}_{\mathcal{B}} \end{aligned}$$

with

$$\mathsf{E}[(a_{\ell m}^{\Theta*}, a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{E}*}, a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{B}*})^{\top}(a_{\ell'm'}^{\Theta}, a_{\ell'm'}^{\mathcal{E}}, a_{\ell'm'}^{\mathcal{B}})] = \delta_{\ell\ell'}\delta_{mm'} \begin{pmatrix} C_{\ell}^{\Theta\Theta} & C_{\ell}^{\Theta\varepsilon} & 0\\ C_{\ell}^{\varepsilon\Theta} & C_{\ell}^{\varepsilon\varepsilon} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & C_{\ell}^{\mathcal{B}\mathcal{B}} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Finally, the standard cosmological model predicts arising primordial  $\mathcal{B}$ -polarisation due to a background of gravitational waves created either just after the Big Bang during a physical process called *inflation* or between the end of inflation and Big Bang nucleosynthesis. Currently, this mode is not detected, the best current upper estimates for its amplitude may be found in [17].

**Example 7.5.** Recall that the spinor representation  $V_1 \oplus tV_1$  of the group H = U(1) has a real structure  $j(z_1, z_2) = (z_2^*, z_1^*)$ , see Example A.9. Consider the corresponding real spinor representation  $rV_1$ :  $e^{i\theta} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta & -\sin\theta \\ \sin\theta & \cos\theta \end{pmatrix}$ . Its tensor square has the form  $rV_1 \otimes rV_1 = 2U_0 \oplus rV_2$ , which easily follows from the corresponding relation for characters:  $4 \cos^2 \theta = 2 + 2 \cos(2\theta)$ .

Introduce the matrices  $\sigma_{\mathbb{R}}^{(i)}$  by  $\sigma_{\mathbb{R}}^{(i)} = \sigma^{(i)}$  for i = 0, 1, 3, and  $\sigma_{\mathbb{R}}^{(2)} = -i\sigma^{(2)}$ . The first (resp., second) copy of  $U_0$  acts in the one-dimensional real space generated by  $\sigma_{\mathbb{R}}^{(i)}$  (resp.,  $\sigma_{\mathbb{R}}^{(2)}$ ). The representation  $rV_2$  acts in the two-dimensional space generated by  $\sigma_{\mathbb{R}}^{(1)}$  and  $\sigma_{\mathbb{R}}^{(3)}$ . On the other hand, the real irreducible representations of the group G =

On the other hand, the real irreducible representations of the group G = SU(2) are  $\{U_{\ell} : \ell = 0, 1, ...\}$  and  $\{rc'W_{\ell} : \ell = \frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{2}, ...\}$ . The character of  $U_{\ell}$  is equal to that of  $cU_{\ell}$ , while the character of  $rV_m$ , m > 0, is

$$\chi_{rV_m}\left(\left(\begin{smallmatrix} \alpha & 0\\ 0 & \alpha^* \end{smallmatrix}\right)\right) = \chi_{crV_m}\left(\left(\begin{smallmatrix} \alpha & 0\\ 0 & \alpha^* \end{smallmatrix}\right)\right) = \chi_{V_m \oplus tV_m}\left(\left(\begin{smallmatrix} \alpha & 0\\ 0 & \alpha^* \end{smallmatrix}\right)\right) = \alpha^{2m} + \alpha^{-2m},$$

and  $\chi_{U_0}\left(\begin{pmatrix} \alpha & 0\\ 0 & \alpha^* \end{pmatrix}\right) = 1$ , where we used the relation cr = 1 + t ([1, Proposition 3.6]). It follows that

$$\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G} U_{\ell} = U_{0} \oplus rV_{1} \oplus \cdots \oplus rV_{\ell}.$$

For the Hilbert space  $L^2(E_0)$  of square-integrable section of the line bundle, where the real representation of SU(2) induced by the representation  $U_0$  of the subgroup U(1) acts, the Frobenius reciprocity gives that  $L^2(E_0)$  contains

$$\frac{\dim_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{R}H}(\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G} U_{\ell}, U_{0})}{\dim_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{R}G}(U_{\ell}, U_{\ell})} = \frac{1}{1} = 1$$

copy of the representation  $U_{\ell}$  for  $\ell \geq 0$ . The Hilbert space  $L^2(E_2)$  contains

$$\frac{\dim_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{R}H}(\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G} U_{\ell}, rV_{2})}{\dim_{\mathbb{R}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{R}G}(U_{\ell}, U_{\ell})} = \frac{2}{1} = 2$$

copies of the representation  $U_{\ell}$  for  $\ell \geq 2$ .

Similarly, the character of  $rc'W_{\ell}$  is  $\chi_{rc'W_{\ell}} = \chi_{crc'W_{\ell}} = 2\chi_{c'W_{\ell}}$ , and we obtain

$$\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G} rc'W_{\ell} = 2rV_{1} \oplus 2rV_{3} \oplus \cdots \oplus 2rV_{2\ell}.$$

Neither  $L^2(E_0)$  nor  $L^2(E_2)$  contain copies of the representations  $rc'W_{\ell}$ .

Instead of constructing the bases of the above real Hilbert spaces from scratch, we use the existing bases of the corresponding complex spaces. Indeed, the basis in  $cL^2(E_0)$  is given by the complex-valued spherical harmonics  $Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta)$ . The complex conjugation is a real structure in  $cL^2(E_0)$ . Therefore, the real-valued spherical harmonics

$$Y_{\ell}^{m}(\zeta) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} [Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta) + (-1)^{m} Y_{\ell,-m}(\zeta)], & \text{if } m > 0, \\ Y_{\ell,0}(\zeta), & \text{if } m = 0, \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2} \mathrm{i}} [Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta) - (-1)^{m} Y_{\ell,-m}(\zeta)], & \text{if } m < 0 \end{cases}$$

form the basis in  $L^2(E_0)$ . Likewise, the basis in  $cL^2(E_2) \oplus cL^2(E_{-2})$  is given by the  $\mathbb{C}^2$ -valued spin 2 spherical harmonics

$$\begin{pmatrix} {}^{2Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ {}^{-2Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta)} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \ell = 2, 3, \dots, \quad -\ell \le m \le \ell.$$

The real structure of Example A.9 maps  $\binom{{}_{2}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta)}{0}$  to  $\binom{0}{(-1)^{m}{}_{-2}Y_{\ell,-m}(\zeta)}$  and  $\binom{0}{-{}_{2}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta)}$  to  $\binom{(-1)^{m}{}_{2}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta)}{0}$ . Therefore, the  $\mathbb{R}^{2}$ -valued spin-weighted spherical harmonics take the form

$${}_{2}\mathbf{Y}_{\ell}^{m}(\zeta) = \begin{pmatrix} {}_{2}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta) + (-1)^{m} {}_{-2}Y_{\ell,-m}(\zeta) \\ -{}_{i} {}_{2}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta) + {}_{i}(-1)^{m} {}_{-2}Y_{\ell,-m}(\zeta) \end{pmatrix},$$
  
$${}_{-2}\mathbf{Y}_{\ell}^{m}(\zeta) = \begin{pmatrix} {}_{i} {}_{2}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta) - {}_{i}(-1)^{m} {}_{-2}Y_{\ell,-m}(\zeta) \\ {}_{2}Y_{\ell,m}(\zeta) + (-1)^{m} {}_{-2}Y_{\ell,-m}(\zeta) \end{pmatrix}.$$

It is easy to check that the real-valued spherical harmonics have "electrictype" parity. We obtain

$$\begin{split} \Theta(\zeta) &= \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{\Theta} Y_{\ell}^{m}(\zeta), \\ \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{Q} \\ \mathcal{U} \end{pmatrix}(\zeta) &= \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} \left( 2a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{Q},\mathcal{U}} \mathbf{Y}_{\ell}^{m}(\zeta) + 2a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{Q},\mathcal{U}} \mathbf{Y}_{\ell}^{m}(\zeta) \right), \\ \mathcal{V}(\zeta) &= \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-\ell}^{\ell} a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{V}} Y_{\ell}^{m}(\zeta), \end{split}$$

where the coefficients are centred random variables with cross-correlations given by

$$\mathsf{E}[(a_{\ell m}^{\Theta}, 2a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{U}}, -2a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{U}}, a_{\ell m}^{\mathcal{V}})(a_{\ell' m'}^{\Theta}, 2a_{\ell' m'}^{\mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{U}}, -2a_{\ell' m'}^{\mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{U}}, a_{\ell' m'}^{\mathcal{V}})^{\top}] = \delta_{\ell \ell'} \delta_{m m'} C_{\ell},$$

and the symmetric positive-definite matrices  $C_{\ell}$  satisfy

$$\sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} (2\ell+1) \operatorname{tr} C_{\ell} < \infty.$$

**Example 7.6.** Observe that the spinor representation  $V_1 \oplus tV_1$  of the group  $H = \mathrm{U}(1)$  has a quaternionic structure  $j(z_1, z_2) = (-z_2^*, z_1^*)$ . The corresponding quaternionic irreducible representation  $qV_1$  of the group  $\mathrm{U}(1)$  acts in  $\mathbb{H}^1$  by  $\mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\theta} \mapsto \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\theta}$ . By [1, Definition 3.31], its character is the character of  $c'qV_1 = V_1 \oplus tV_1$ . Again by [1], the tensor square of  $c'qV_1$  is a real representation, and its character is the same as that of the representation  $2U_0 \oplus rV_2$  of Example 7.5. No new expansions appears here.

## 8. Conclusions

The theory of random sections of various fibre bundles is now a mature part of Probability with various interesting links to Special functions, Invariant Theory, Group Representations, Convex Analysis, etc. The case of trivial tensor bundles over Euclidean spaces found interesting and important applications in Continuum Physics, while that of nontrivial spinor bundles over the two-dimensional sphere  $S^2$  in Cosmology.

This survey reflects the scientific interests of the authors and is concentrated on spectral expansions of random functions in question and their applications to Physics. On the one hand, many research questions are missing; for example, tensor-valued random fields as solutions of boundary value problems for stochastic partial differential equations similar to Equation (5.2), statistics of random sections of spinor bundles, properties of sample paths of random sections, and many others. On the other hand, we formulated several unsolved research questions above. The authors hope that this survey can be useful both for mathematicians who are working in different physical applications and for applied specialists who need to use advanced mathematical tools.

### Appendix A: The mathematical language of the theory

We give a short description of mathematical terms used in the paper. For a more detailed account, see [73, Appendix A], [82, Chapter 2], and the literature cited there.

#### A.1. Tensors

The symbol  $\mathbb{R}$  (resp.,  $\mathbb{C}$ , resp.,  $\mathbb{H}$ ) denotes the field of real numbers (resp., the field of complex numbers, resp., the skew field of quaternions). The symbol U (resp., V, resp., W) denotes a finite-dimensional linear space over  $\mathbb{R}$  (resp., over  $\mathbb{C}$ , resp., a right finite-dimensional linear space over  $\mathbb{H}$ ). The round brackets  $(\cdot, \cdot)$  denote an inner product in either U, V, or W. It is  $\mathbb{K}$ -linear in the second argument, has the property  $\langle \mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2 \rangle = \langle \mathbf{x}_2, \mathbf{x}_1 \rangle^*$  for all  $\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2 \in U$  (resp., in V, resp., in W), and is positive-definite:  $\langle \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x} \rangle \geq 0$  with equality only if  $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{0}$ , where a  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear map  $\mathbb{K} \to \mathbb{K}, x \mapsto x^*$  is given by  $a^* = a$  for  $a \in \mathbb{R}, (a + bi)^* = a - bi$  for  $(a + bi) \in \mathbb{C}$ , and

$$(a + b\mathbf{i} + c\mathbf{j} + d\mathbf{k}) = a - b\mathbf{i} - c\mathbf{j} - d\mathbf{k}$$

for  $(a + bi + cj + dk) \in \mathbb{H}$ . By choosing a basis  $\{\mathbf{e}^i : 1 \leq i \leq d\}$  which is orthonormal with respect to the introduced inner product, the linear space U(resp., V, resp., W) can be identified with the coordinate space  $\mathbb{R}^d$  (resp.,  $\mathbb{C}^d$ , resp.,  $\mathbb{H}^d$ ).

The symbol  $U^*$  denotes the set of all linear forms on U. A real rank r tensor is an element of a tensor product of  $r \ge 0$  finite-dimensional real linear spaces. By definition, the tensor product of an empty family of real linear spaces (r = 0) is the coordinate space  $\mathbb{R}^1$ . The tensor product of the family  $\{U_1, \ldots, U_r\}$ with  $r \ge 1$  is the set of all r-linear forms defined on the Cartesian product  $U_1^* \times \cdots \times U_r^*$ . The inner product on each space  $U_i$ ,  $1 \le i \le r$ , enables to identify  $U_i$  with  $U_i^*$  with the help of the map  $U_i \to U_i^*$ ,  $\mathbf{x} \mapsto (\mathbf{x}, \cdot)$  and do not distinguish between covariant and contravariant tensors. The tensor product of the vectors  $\mathbf{x}_1 \in U_1, \ldots, \mathbf{x}_r \in U_r$  is the r-linear form

$$\mathbf{x}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbf{x}_r(\mathbf{y}_1, \dots, \mathbf{y}_r) = (\mathbf{y}_1, \mathbf{x}_1) \cdots (\mathbf{y}_r, \mathbf{x}_r).$$

Similarly, the inner product on each *complex* linear space  $V_i$ ,  $1 \le i \le r$ , enables to identify  $V_i$  with  $V_i^*$ . Moreover, let the space tV has the same underlying set as V, but let  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  acts on tV as  $z^*$  used to act on V. We can identify  $V^*$  and tV with the help of the map  $tV \to V^*$ ,  $\mathbf{x} \mapsto (\mathbf{x}, \cdot)$  and do not distinguish between *four* types of complex tensors, described, e.g., in [152, Section 13.1].

The inner product on each quaternionic linear space  $W_i$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq r$ , enables to identify  $W_i$  with  $W_i^*$ . However, assume that  $W_1$  and  $W_2$  are two right quaternionic linear spaces, and  $q_1$ ,  $q_2$  are two quaternions. An  $\mathbb{H}$ -bilinear form  $\mu: W_1 \times W_2 \to \mathbb{H}^1$  must satisfy  $\mu(\mathbf{x}_1q_1, \mathbf{x}_2q_2) = \mu(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2q_2)q_1 = \mu(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2)q_1q_2$ and  $\mu(\mathbf{x}_1q_1, \mathbf{x}_2q_2) = \mu(\mathbf{x}_1q_1, \mathbf{x}_2)q_2 = \mu(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2)q_2q_1$ . In general,  $q_1q_2 \neq q_2q_1$ , and this does not work. On the other hand, a bilinear form is well-defined if  $W_2$  is a *left* quaternionic space. The set of such forms is *not* a right quaternionic linear space. Indeed, the form  $(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2) \mapsto \mu(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2)q$  is not bilinear:  $\mu(\mathbf{x}_1q_1, \mathbf{x}_2)q$  must be equal to  $\mu(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2)qq_1$ , but it is equal to  $\mu(\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2)q_1q$ . By similar reasons, it is not a left quaternionic linear space. However, the set  $W_1 \otimes W_2$  is a real linear space.

For these reasons, we put  $\mathbb{R}' = \mathbb{H}' = \mathbb{R}$  and  $\mathbb{C}' = \mathbb{C}$ . In this notation, the tensor product of two K-linear spaces is a K'-linear space.

**Example A.1** (The Levi–Civita permutation tensor in three dimensions). Let  $U_1, U_2$ , and  $U_3$  be three copies of a real 3-dimensional linear space with inner product. define the *Levi–Civita permutation tensor* in a coordinate-free form by

$$\varepsilon(\mathbf{x}_1,\mathbf{x}_2,\mathbf{x}_3) = (\mathbf{x}_1,\mathbf{x}_2\times\mathbf{x}_3),$$

that is, the scalar triple product of vectors in a right-handed coordinate system.

In coordinates, let  $\{\mathbf{e}^i \colon 1 \leq i \leq 3\}$  be the standard basis of the space  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . Denote

$$\varepsilon_{ijk} = \varepsilon(\mathbf{e}^i, \mathbf{e}^j, \mathbf{e}^k).$$

It is easy to check that the introduced symbol is *totally antisymmetric*. That is, when any two indices are interchanged, the symbol is negated, if any two indices are equal, the symbol is zero, and when all indices are unequal, the symbol  $\varepsilon_{ijk}$  is equal to the signature of the permutation (i, j, k).

## A.2. Group representations

A left action of a group G with identity element e on a non-empty set L is such a map  $G \times L \to L$ ,  $(g, x) \mapsto g \cdot x$ , that  $e \cdot x = x$  and  $g \cdot (h \cdot x) = (gh) \cdot x$  for all g,  $h \in G$  and for all  $x \in L$ . Similarly, a right action of a group G with identity element e on a non-empty set L is such a map  $L \times G \to L$ ,  $(x, g) \mapsto x \cdot g$ , that  $x \cdot e = x$  and  $(x \cdot h) \cdot g = x \cdot (hg)$  for all  $g, h \in G$  and for all  $x \in L$ .

As an example of a left action, think about the matrix-vector multiplication. A more interesting example is as follows. Consider a real finite-dimensional space U as a group with respect to the addition. Assume that the group U acts on a set E transitively, that is, for each pair  $A, B \in E$  there exists a  $x \in U$  such that  $x \cdot A = B$ , and faithfully, that is, for any  $x \in U \setminus \{0\}$  there is an  $A \in E$  with  $x \cdot A \neq A$ . We change notation and denote the result of the action of a vector  $x \in U$  on a point  $A \in E$  by A + x. Denote by B - A such a vector in U that A + (B - A) = B. The inner product on V enables to define the distance in E:

$$\rho(A,B) = \sqrt{(A-B,A-B)}.$$

An affine space with this distance is called a *Euclidean space*. If the dimension of U is equal to d, then we denote the pair  $(E, \rho)$  by  $E^d$ . According to [2]:

Formerly, the universe was provided not with an affine, but with a linear structure (the geocentric system of the universe).

We omit the dot in the notation  $g \cdot x$  in the case when G is a topological group, L is a Hilbert space over  $\mathbb{K} \in \{\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}, \mathbb{H}\}$ ,  $g \cdot x$  is a  $\mathbb{K}$ -linear function of xand a continuous function of g and x (in the strong operator topology, when Xis infinite-dimensional). Such an action is called a *representation* of G. Recall that a topological group is a set G which is a group and a topological space such that the map

$$G \times G \to G, \qquad (g,h) \mapsto g^{-1}h$$
 (A.1)

is continuous.

The translation  $\theta^L(g): x \to gx$  is a bounded linear operator in L. For two Hilbert spaces  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  over the same (skew) field  $\mathbb{K}$ , a bounded linear operator  $f: X_1 \to X_2$  is called *intertwining* if  $f(gx) = g(fx), g \in G, x \in L_1$ . Two representations are equivalent if the  $\mathbb{K}'$ -linear space  $\operatorname{Hom}_G(L_1, L_2)$  of intertwining operators contains an invertible operator with bounded inverse.

If G is a *compact* topological group, that we can and will give L an inner product which is invariant under G. We then speak of an *orthogonal* (resp., *unitary*, resp., *symplectic*) representation in the case of  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$  (resp.,  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ , resp.,  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{H}$ ). In what follows the symbol G always denotes a compact group.

A non-zero linear space L is *reducible* if some proper non-zero closed subspace M of X is invariant:  $gy \in M$  for all  $y \in M$ , otherwise L is *irreducible*. For a compact group, every representation L is a Hilbert direct sum of irreducible components. Moreover, let  $L_i$  runs over the inequivalent irreducible representations, as i runs over some set I. For a finite-dimensional space L, there exists a unique set  $\{m_i: i \in I\}$  of nonnegative integers such that all of them except finitely many are zeroes and the space L is uniquely decomposed into the Hilbert direct sum of *isotypical subspaces* in which the direct sum of  $m_i > 0$  copies of  $L_i$  acts.

Let  $U_1$  and  $U_2$  be two real finite-dimensional representations of a topological group G with the translations  $\theta^{U_1}$  and  $\theta^{U_2}$ . A map  $f: U_2 \to U_1$  is called *forminvariant* for the pair  $(U_1, U_2)$  if

$$f(\theta^{U_2}(g)x) = \theta^{U_1}(g)f(x), \qquad g \in G, \quad x \in U_2.$$

If  $U_1 = \mathbb{R}^1$  and  $\theta^{U_1}(g) = 1$ , then the function  $f: X_2 \to \mathbb{R}^1$  is called just an *invariant* of the representation  $U_2$ , hence the name *Invariant Theory*.

We formulate an important result of Invariant Theory. Let  $U, U_1, \ldots, U_N$  be finitely many finite-dimensional orthogonal representations of a closed subgroup G of the group O(3) of  $3 \times 3$  orthogonal matrices. It turns out that there exists finitely many, say K, polynomials  $\{I_k(x_1, \ldots, x_N): 1 \le k \le K\}$  with  $x_n \in U_n$ for  $1 \le n \le N$  that constitute an *integrity basis* for polynomial invariants of the representation  $U_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus U_N$ . That is, every polynomial invariant of the above representation is a polynomial in  $I_1, \ldots, I_K$ . Similarly, there exists an

integrity basis  $\{T_l: 1 \leq l \leq L\}$  for form-invariant polynomials of the pair  $(U, U_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus U_N)$ . Following [157], call  $T_l$  the basis form-invariant tensors.

**Theorem A.1** (Wineman–Pipkin, [157]). A function  $T: U_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus U_N \to U$  is a measurable form-invariant map of the pair  $(U, U_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus U_N)$  if and only if it has the form

$$T(x_1,\ldots,x_N) = \sum_{l=1}^{L} \varphi_l(I_1,\ldots,I_K) T_l(x_1,\ldots,x_N),$$

where  $\varphi_l$  are real-valued measurable functions.

#### A.3. The Adams construction

In this subsection, we introduce a convenient notation system for irreducible representations of compact topological groups due to Adams [1].

Let V be a finite-dimensional complex representation of a compact topological group G. Let the representation tV has the same underlying set as V and the same action of G, but let  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  acts on tV as  $z^*$  used to act on V. For example, let G = U(1), the set of all complex numbers z with |z| = 1, and let an element  $g = e^{i\varphi} \in U(1)$  acts on  $V_n = \mathbb{C}^1$  by  $g \cdot z = e^{in\varphi}z$  for  $n \ge 1$  and  $z \in \mathbb{C}^1$ . We have  $tV_n = \mathbb{C}^1$  with the action  $g \cdot z = e^{-in\varphi}z$ , and  $tV_n$  is not equivalent to  $V_n$ . An irreducible complex representation with this property is called a *complex representation of complex type*.

Let the representation  $rV_n$  has the same underlying set as  $V_n$  and the same action of G, but regard it as a  $\mathbb{R}$ -linear space. The matrix of the representation  $rV_n$  is  $\begin{pmatrix} \cos(n\varphi) & -\sin(n\varphi) \\ \sin(n\varphi) & \cos(n\varphi) \end{pmatrix}$ . An irreducible real representation of the form rV, where V is a complex representation of complex type, is called a *real representation of complex type*. The representation rtV is equivalent to rV by [1, Proposition 3.6]. In particular, when n = 1, we conclude, that the group U(1) is isomorphic to the group SO(2) of orthogonal  $2 \times 2$  matrices with unit determinant.

Define  $qV_n = V_n \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{H}$  and regard it as a right quaternionic linear space with the vector-scalar multiplication  $(\mathbf{v} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} q')q = \mathbf{v} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} q'q$  and a quaternionic representation of G with the action  $g \cdot (\mathbf{v} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} q) = (g \cdot \mathbf{v}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} q$ . The quaternionic representation  $qV_n$  is irreducible and is called a *quaternionic representation of complex type*.

Assume that an irreducible complex representation V is not of complex type. This may happen by one of two mutually exclusive reasons.

- 1. There exists a conjugate-linear map  $j: V \to V$  that commutes with the representation and satisfies the condition  $j^2 = id$ .
- 2. There exists a conjugate-linear map  $j: V \to V$  that commutes with the representation and satisfies the condition  $j^2 = -id$ .

As an example, consider the trivial representation  $V_0 = \mathbb{C}^1$  of the group U(1) with the action  $g \cdot z = z$ . This representation clearly commutes with the map

 $j(z) = z^*$ . For such a representation V, there always exists a real irreducible representation U such that cU = V. Here  $cU = U \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$  with the vector-scalar multiplication  $(\mathbf{u} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} z')z = \mathbf{u} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} z'z$  and the action of G by  $g \cdot (\mathbf{u} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} z) = (g \cdot \mathbf{u}) \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} z$ . In this case the representation V (resp., U) is called a *complex* (resp., real) representation of real type, while the irreducible representation W = qcU is called a *quaternionic representation of real type*.

As an another example, consider the group G = SU(2) of unitary  $2 \times 2$  matrices with unit determinant and elements  $g = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \beta \\ -\beta^* & \alpha^* \end{pmatrix}$ . Put  $V_{1/2} = \mathbb{C}^2$ , where the group G acts by matrix-vector multiplication, and  $j(z_1, z_2) = (z_2^*, -z_1^*)$ . Then we have

$$gj(z_1, z_2) = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \beta \\ -\beta^* & \alpha^* \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} z_2^* \\ -z_1^* \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha z_2^* - \beta z_1^* \\ -\beta^* z_2^* - \alpha^* z_1^* \end{pmatrix},$$
  
$$jg(z_1, z_2) = j \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \beta \\ -\beta^* & \alpha^* \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} z_1 \\ z_2 \end{pmatrix} = j \begin{pmatrix} \alpha z_1 + \beta z_2 \\ -\beta^* z_1 + \alpha^* z_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -\beta z_1^* + \alpha z_2^* \\ -\alpha^* z_1^* - \beta^* z_2^* \end{pmatrix},$$

see also [57, Proposition 3]. In this case, there exists an irreducible quaternionic representation, call it  $W_{1/2}$ , such that  $c'W_{1/2} = V_{1/2}$ , where the representation  $c'W_{1/2}$  has the same underlying set as  $W_{1/2}$  and the same action of G, but regard it as a  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear space. Any irreducible complex representation V with the above property is called a *complex representation of quaternionic type*, the corresponding representation W a quaternionic representation of quaternionic type, and the real irreducible representation U = rV = rc'W a real representation of quaternionic type. It is easy to see that  $W_{1/2} = \mathbb{H}^1$ , where a matrix gacts by  $g \cdot q = (\alpha + \beta)q$ . The representation  $W_{1/2}$  establishes an isomorphism between the group SU(2) and the group Sp(1) of all  $q \in \mathbb{H}$  with  $qq^* = 1$ . The irreducible real representation  $U_{1/2} = rC'_{1/2} = rc'W_{1/2}$  acts in  $\mathbb{R}^4$  by

$$g \cdot \mathbf{u} = \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Re} \alpha & -\operatorname{Im} \alpha & \operatorname{Re} \beta & -\operatorname{Im} \beta \\ \operatorname{Im} \alpha & \operatorname{Re} \alpha & \operatorname{Im} \beta & \operatorname{Re} \beta \\ -\operatorname{Re} \beta & -\operatorname{Im} \beta & \operatorname{Re} \alpha & \operatorname{Im} \alpha \\ \operatorname{Im} \beta & -\operatorname{Re} \beta & -\operatorname{Im} \alpha & \operatorname{Re} \alpha \end{pmatrix} \mathbf{u}, \qquad \mathbf{u} \in \mathbb{R}^4,$$

see [57, Example 15].

It turns out that for any compact topological group G and for any skew field  $\mathbb{K}$ , the partition of the set  $\hat{G}_{\mathbb{K}}$  of equivalence classes of irreducible representations of G over  $\mathbb{K}$  into representations of real, complex, and quaternionic types is exhaustive, see [1, Theorem 3.57] and [15, Section II.5].

### A.4. Manifolds

A chart in a set M is a pair  $(\mathcal{U}, \varphi)$ , where  $\mathcal{U}$  is a subset of M, and  $\varphi$  is a one-to-one map from  $\mathcal{U}$  to an open subset  $\varphi(\mathcal{U})$  of the coordinate space  $\mathbb{R}^d$  or  $\mathbb{C}^d$ .

The overlap map is the map

$$\varphi_{\beta} \circ \varphi_{\alpha}^{-1} \colon \varphi_{\alpha}(\mathcal{U}_{\alpha} \cap \mathcal{U}_{\beta}) \to \varphi_{\beta}(\mathcal{U}_{\alpha} \cap \mathcal{U}_{\beta})$$

provided that the intersection  $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha} \cap \mathcal{U}_{\beta}$  of the domains of the charts  $(\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}, \varphi_{\alpha})$ and  $(\mathcal{U}_{\beta}, \varphi_{\beta})$  is not empty.

A family  $\mathcal{A} = \{(\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}, \varphi_{\alpha}) : \alpha \in A\}$  of charts on M is called an *differentiable* (resp., *real-analytic*, resp., *holomorphic*) *atlas* if the sets  $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}$  cover all of M, and for any two charts  $(\mathcal{U}_{\alpha}, \varphi_{\alpha})$  and  $(\mathcal{U}_{\beta}, \varphi_{\beta})$  with  $\mathcal{U}_{\alpha} \cap \mathcal{U}_{\beta} \neq \emptyset$ , both the domain and range of the corresponding overlap map are open subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  (resp.,  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , resp.,  $\mathbb{C}^d$ ), and the overlap map is infinitely differentiable (resp., real-analytic, resp., holomorphic).

Two atlases are *equivalent* if their union is also an atlas. A differentiable (resp., real-analytic, resp., holomorphic) *structure* on M is an equivalence class of differentiable (resp., real-analytic, resp., holomorphic) atlases. A set M together with a differentiable (resp., real-analytic, resp., holomorphic) structure is called a differentiable (resp., real-analytic, resp., holomorphic) manifold. A chart is called *admissible* if it belongs to an atlas from the structure. The domains of the admissible charts form a base for a topology on M. To avoid pathologies, we assume that this topology is Hausdorff and second-countable.

Let  $M_1$  and  $M_2$  be two manifolds of the same type, and let  $\Phi: M_1 \to M_2$  be a continuous map. Let  $x \in M$  and let  $(\mathcal{V}, \psi)$  be a chart for  $M_2$  with  $\Phi(x) \in \mathcal{V}$ . It is possible to choose a chart  $(\mathcal{U}, \varphi)$  for  $M_1$  with  $\Phi(\mathcal{U}) \subset \mathcal{V}$ . The map

$$\Phi_{\varphi\psi}:\varphi(\mathcal{U})\to\psi(\mathcal{V}),\qquad x\mapsto\psi\circ\Phi\circ\varphi^{-1}(x)$$

is called the *the local representative of*  $\Phi$  *with respect to the charts*  $(\mathcal{U}, \varphi)$  *and*  $(\mathcal{V}, \psi)$ . A map  $\Phi$  is called differentiable (resp., real-analytic, resp., holomorphic) if for every  $x \in M$  and every chart  $(\mathcal{V}, \psi)$  for  $M_2$  with  $\Phi(x) \in \mathcal{V}$  there exists a chart  $(\mathcal{U}, \varphi)$  for  $M_1$  such that  $\Phi(\mathcal{U}) \subset \mathcal{V}$  and the local representative  $\Phi(\mathcal{U}) \subset \mathcal{V}$  is differentiable (resp., real-analytic, resp., holomorphic). If  $\Phi$  is invertible and both  $\Phi$  and  $\Phi^{-1}$  are differentiable (resp., real-analytic, resp., holomorphic), then  $\Phi$  is called a *diffeomorphism*.

A group G is called a *Lie group* if it has a structure of either real-analytic or holomorphic manifold, and the map  $G \times G \to G$ ,  $(g_1, g_2) \mapsto g_1^{-1}g_2$  is either real-analytic or holomorphic.

**Example A.2.** Let  $S^d \subset \mathbb{R}^{d+1}$  be the unit sphere. Define two chart domains  $\mathcal{U}_{\pm} \subset S^d$  by  $\mathcal{U}_{\pm} = S^d \setminus \{(0, \ldots, 0, \pm 1)^{\top}\}$  and the chart maps  $\varphi_{\pm} \colon \mathcal{U}_{\pm} \to \mathbb{R}^d$  by

$$\varphi_{\pm}(x_1,\ldots,x_{d+1}) = \frac{1}{1 \mp x_{d+1}} (x_1,\ldots,x_d)^{\top}.$$

It is easy to check that  $\varphi_{\pm}(\mathcal{U}_{\pm}) = \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\}$  and

$$\varphi_+^{-1}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{\|\mathbf{x}\|^2 + 1} (2x_1, \dots, 2x_d, \|\mathbf{x}\|^2 - 1)^\top.$$

The overlap map  $(\varphi_{-} \circ \varphi_{+}^{-1})(\mathbf{x}) = \|\mathbf{x}\|^{-2}\mathbf{x}$  for  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{d} \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\}$  is real-analytic and makes  $S^{d}$  into a real-analytic manifold.

In the case of d = 2, we will also use an admissible chart

$$\begin{pmatrix} \cos \varphi \sin \theta \\ \sin \varphi \sin \theta \\ \cos \theta \end{pmatrix} \mapsto (\theta, \varphi) \in (0, \pi) \times (0, 2\pi) \subset \mathbb{R}^2,$$

the angular part of the spherical coordinates. The domain of this chart is dense in  $S^2$ .

In the case of d = 3, we will also use an admissible chart

$$\begin{pmatrix} \cos(\theta/2)\cos((\psi+\varphi)/2) \\ -\cos(\theta/2)\sin((\psi+\varphi)/2) \\ -\sin(\theta/2)\cos((\psi-\varphi)/2) \\ \sin(\theta/2)\sin((\psi-\varphi)/2) \end{pmatrix} \mapsto (\theta,\varphi,\psi) \in (0,\pi) \times (0,2\pi) \times (0,4\pi) \subset \mathbb{R}^3$$

with dense domain.

When d = 2, replace the maps  $\varphi_{\pm}$  with the map  $\tilde{\varphi}_{\pm} : \mathcal{U}_{\pm} \to \mathbb{C}^1$  given by

$$\tilde{\varphi}_+(x_1, x_2, x_3) = \frac{x_1 + ix_2}{1 - x_3}, \qquad \tilde{\varphi}_-(x_1, x_2, x_3) = \frac{x_1 - ix_2}{1 + x_3}$$

For this choice, we obtain  $(\tilde{\varphi}_{-} \circ \tilde{\varphi}_{+}^{-1})(z) = z^{-1}$ . By verifying the Cauchy– Riemann equations, we see that this map is a holomorphic on  $\mathbb{C}^1 \setminus \{0\}$ . We converted the real-analytic structure into the holomorphic one.

**Example A.3.** Let  $\mathbb{C}P^1$  be the *complex projective line*, the set of 1-dimensional subspaces of  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . If  $(z_0, z_1) \in \mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{\mathbf{0}\}$ , denote by  $[z_0 : z_1]$  the line through this point. For  $j \in \{0, 1\}$ , define the charts  $(\mathcal{U}_j, \varphi_j)$  as follows:

$$\mathcal{U}_j = \{ [z_0 : z_1] \in \mathbb{C}P^1 : z_j \neq 0 \}, \qquad \varphi_0([z_0 : z_1]) = \frac{z_1}{z_0}, \quad \varphi_1([z_0 : z_1]) = \frac{z_0}{z_1}.$$

The holomorphic overlap map is  $(\varphi_0 \circ \varphi_1^{-1})(z) = z^{-1}$ . The maps  $\Phi_{\pm} : \mathcal{U}_{\pm} \to \mathbb{C}P^1$  given by

$$\Phi_+(x,y,z) = [\tilde{\varphi}_+(x_1,x_2,x_3):1], \qquad \Phi_-(x,y,z) = [1:\tilde{\varphi}_-(x_1,x_2,x_3)]$$

coincide on the sphere without the poles. Together, they give a holomorphic diffeomorphism between  $S^2$  and  $\mathbb{C}P^1$ .

**Example A.4.** For the group  $U(1) = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| = 1\}$ , the map  $\Phi : S^1 \to U(1), (x_1, x_2)^\top \to x_1 + ix_2$  is one-to-one. For the group SO(2) of orthogonal  $2 \times 2$  matrices with unit determinant, the map  $\Psi : SO(2) \to S^1, \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ -b & a \end{pmatrix} \mapsto (a, b)^\top$ , is one-to-one. As  $(\mathcal{U}, \psi)$  runs over the set of all admissible atlases for the real-analytic structure on  $S^1$ , the charts  $(\Phi(\mathcal{U}), \psi \circ \Phi^{-1})$  constitute the structure of a Lie group on U(1). We will use an admissible chart  $e^{i\varphi} \mapsto \varphi \in (0, 2\pi) \subset \mathbb{R}^1$  with dense domain.

The charts  $(\Psi^{-1}(\mathcal{U}), \psi \circ \Psi)$  constitute the structure of a Lie group on SO(2). We will use an admissible chart

$$\begin{pmatrix} \cos\varphi & -\sin\varphi\\ \sin\varphi & \cos\varphi \end{pmatrix} \mapsto \varphi \in (0, 2\pi) \subset \mathbb{R}^1$$

with dense domain.

For the group SU(2) of unitary  $2 \times 2$  matrices with unit determinant, the map

$$\Phi \colon \mathrm{SU}(2) \to S^3, \qquad \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ -b^* & a^* \end{pmatrix} \mapsto (\operatorname{Re} a, \operatorname{Im} a, -\operatorname{Re} b, \operatorname{Im} b)^\top,$$

is one-to-one. The charts  $(\Phi(\mathcal{U}), \psi \circ \Phi^{-1})$  constitute the structure of a Lie group on SU(2). We will use an admissible chart

$$\begin{pmatrix} \cos(\beta/2)e^{-i(\gamma+\alpha)/2} & \sin(\beta/2)e^{i(\gamma-\alpha)/2} \\ -\sin(\beta/2)e^{-i(\gamma-\alpha)/2} & \cos(\beta/2)e^{i(\gamma+\alpha)/2} \end{pmatrix} \\ \mapsto (\alpha, \beta, \gamma) \in (0, 2\pi) \times (0, \pi) \times (0, 4\pi) \subset \mathbb{R}^3$$

with dense domain and call it the *Euler angles*.

## A.5. Bundles

**Definition A.1.** A quadruple  $\lambda = (P, H, B, \tilde{\pi})$  is called a *principal bundle* if and only if

- the *total space* P and the *base space* B are either real-analytic of holomorphic manifolds, the *fibre* H is a Lie group;
- *H* acts on *P* from the right, and the map  $P \times H \to P$ ,  $(p,h) \mapsto p \cdot h$  is either real analytic or holomorphic;
- the bundle projection  $\tilde{\pi}: P \to B$  is either a real-analytic or holomorphic map that satisfies to the following *local triviality condition*: for every  $b \in B$ , there exists a neighbourhood  $\mathcal{U}$  of b, and either a real-analytic or holomorphic one-to-one map  $f: \mathcal{U} \times H \to \tilde{\pi}^{-1}(\mathcal{U})$  such that for all  $u \in \mathcal{U}$  and for all  $h, h' \in H$  we have

$$\tilde{\pi}(f(u,h)) = u, \qquad f(u,hh') = f(u,h) \cdot h'.$$

**Example A.5** (A cylinder and a Möbius bundle). Let n be an integer. Put

$$P_n = \{ (\cos\theta, \sin\theta, r\cos(n\theta/2), r\sin(n\theta/2))^{\top} \in \mathbb{R}^4 \colon \theta, r \in \mathbb{R} \}$$

The bundle projection  $\tilde{\pi}(p_1, p_2, p_3, p_4) = (p_1, p_2)$  maps  $P_n$  onto the circle  $B = S^1 \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ . The group H is  $\mathbb{R}^1$  acting by scalar-vector multiplication. The principal bundle  $\lambda_n = (P_n, H, B, \tilde{\pi})$  is a cylinder for n = 0 and a Möbius bundle if n = 1.

**Example A.6** (Spin groups). Let *n* be a positive integer. There is a Lie group called the *spin group* and denoted by Spin(n), and a map  $\tilde{\pi}_n \colon \text{Spin}(n) \to \text{SO}(n)$  such that the quadruple  $\lambda_n = (\text{Spin}(n), \text{O}(1), \text{SO}(n), \tilde{\pi}_n)$  is a principal bundle, see [13, Subsection 1.2.1]. In particular, Spin(1) = O(1) with  $\tilde{\pi}_1(t) = t^2$ , and Spin(2) = U(1) with

$$\tilde{\pi}_2(e^{i\theta}) = \begin{pmatrix} \cos(2\theta) & -\sin(2\theta)\\ \sin(2\theta) & \cos(2\theta) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(A.2)

Under the identification of SO(2) with U(1), the map  $\tilde{\pi}_2$  is again a "square" map  $z \mapsto z^2$ .

The map  $\tilde{\pi}_3$ : Spin(3) = SU(2)  $\rightarrow$  SO(3) has the form

$$\tilde{\pi}_3 \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ -b^* & a^* \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Re}(a^2 - b^2) & \operatorname{Im}(a^2 + b^2) & -2\operatorname{Re}(ab) \\ -\operatorname{Im}(a^2 - b^2) & \operatorname{Re}(a^2 + b^2) & 2\operatorname{Im}(ab) \\ 2\operatorname{Re}(ab^*) & 2\operatorname{Im}(ab^*) & |a|^2 - |b|^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

**Example A.7** (The Hopf bundle). Let P = SU(2), H be the subgroup of diagonal matrices in P, isomorphic to U(1),  $B = \mathbb{C}P^1$ , and let  $\tilde{\pi} \colon P \to B$  acts by

$$\tilde{\pi} \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ -b^* & a^* \end{pmatrix} = [a:b].$$

The quadruple  $(\mathrm{SU}(2), \mathrm{U}(1), \mathbb{C}P^1, \tilde{\pi})$  is a principal bundle over  $\mathbb{C}P^1$  called the *Hopf bundle*. The *fibre*  $\tilde{\pi}^{-1}([\alpha:\beta])$  of this bundle over a point  $[a:b] \in \mathbb{C}P^1$  is a copy of the *torsor* (the underlying set) of the group U(1), embedded into SU(2) as the subset  $\begin{pmatrix} \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\theta}a & \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\theta}b \\ -\mathrm{e}^{-\mathrm{i}\theta}b^* & \mathrm{e}^{-\mathrm{i}\theta}a^* \end{pmatrix}$  with  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$ .

**Example A.8** (Principal bundles over a sphere). Let H be the group of orthogonal  $3 \times 3$  matrices h with det  $h = h_{33} = 1$ . In fact, H is isomorphic to the group SO(2). The quadruple (SO(3), SO(2),  $S^2, \tilde{\pi}$ ), where  $\tilde{\pi}(g) = (0, 0, 1)g$ , is a principal bundle over  $S^2$ . The fibre of this bundle over a point

$$b = (2\operatorname{Re}(\alpha\beta^*), 2\operatorname{Im}(\alpha\beta^*), |\alpha|^2 - |\beta|^2)^\top \in S^2 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$$
(A.3)

is a copy of SO(2) embedded into SO(3) as the subset

$$\begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Re}(e^{2i\theta}(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)) & \operatorname{Im}(e^{2i\theta}(\alpha^2 + \beta^2)) & -2\operatorname{Re}(e^{2i\theta}\alpha\beta) \\ -\operatorname{Im}(e^{2i\theta}(\alpha^2 - \beta^2)) & \operatorname{Re}(e^{2i\theta}(\alpha^2 + \beta^2)) & 2\operatorname{Im}(e^{2i\theta}\alpha\beta) \\ 2\operatorname{Re}(\alpha\beta^*) & 2\operatorname{Im}(\alpha\beta^*) & |\alpha|^2 - |\beta|^2 \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.4)

with  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$ .

The quadruple  $(O(3), O(2), S^2, \tilde{\pi})$  is another principal bundle over  $S^2$ .

Let  $\lambda = (P, H, B, \tilde{\pi})$  be a principal bundle. Assume that H acts on either a real-analytic or a holomorphic manifold F from the left, and the map  $H \times F \to F$ ,  $(h, f) \mapsto h \cdot f$  is either real-analytic or holomorphic. The group H acts on the right on the Cartesian product  $P \times F$  by  $(p, f) \cdot h = (p \cdot h, h^{-1} \cdot f)$ . Denote by E the set of orbits for this action. Denote the orbit of a point  $(p, f) \in P \times F$  by [p, f]. Define the map  $\pi \colon E \to B$  by  $\pi([p, f]) = \tilde{\pi}(p)$ . The map  $\pi$  is continuous with respect to the quotient topology on E.

**Definition A.2.** The triple  $(E, B, \pi)$  is called the *fibre bundle associated with* the principal bundle  $\lambda = (P, H, B, \tilde{\pi})$  by the action  $(h, f) \mapsto h \cdot f$ . The manifold E is the total space of the bundle, the manifold B is its base space, the map  $\pi$ is the bundle projection, while F is the fibre.

The triple  $(E, B, \pi)$  satisfies the local triviality condition: for each  $b \in B$ there is an open set  $\mathcal{U}$  containing b and a homeomorphism  $\Psi: \pi^{-1}(\mathcal{U}) \to \mathcal{U} \times F$ such that for all  $b \in \mathcal{U}$  and  $f \in F$  we have  $\pi(\Psi^{-1}(b, f)) = b$ . If H were not a Lie group, then this statement would be wrong, see a counterexample in [27, p. 219].

In what follows, we consider a particular case, when the fibre  $F = L_0$  is a finite-dimensional linear space over a (skew) field  $\mathbb{K}$ , and H is a Lie group that acts on  $L_0$  by a representation  $\theta$ . The fibre bundle  $(E, B, \pi)$  is called a *vector* bundle (resp., a *tensor bundle*, resp., a *line bundle*) if the elements of  $L_0$  are vectors (resp., tensors, resp., elements of  $\mathbb{K}^1$ ).

**Definition A.3.** A *cross-section* of a fibre bundle  $(E, B, \pi)$  is a map  $f: B \to E$  satisfying  $\pi(f(b)) = b$  for all  $b \in B$ .

Conversely, consider a vector bundle  $(E, B, \pi)$ , that is, for any  $b \in B$ , the set  $\pi^{-1}(b)$  is an *n*-dimensional linear space over a (skew) field  $\mathbb{F}$ , and the local triviality condition is satisfied. In addition, assume that the set  $\pi^{-1}(b)$  carries an inner product  $(\cdot, \cdot)$  which is either a real-analytic or holomorphic function of b. Let P be the set of points  $\mathbf{p} = (p_1, \ldots, p_n) \in E^n$  such that  $\pi(p_1) = \pi(p_2) =$  $\cdots = \pi(p_n) = b \in B$ , and the vectors  $p_1, \ldots, p_n$  constitute an orthonormal basis in  $\pi^{-1}(b)$ .

**Definition A.4.** The quadruple  $(P, H, B, \tilde{\pi})$ , where  $\tilde{\pi}(\mathbf{p}) = \pi(p_1)$  and H acts on P by a representation  $(p_1, \ldots, p_n)h = (p_1 \cdot h, \ldots, p_n \cdot h)$ , is called the *principal* bundle of orthonormal frames on the vector bundle  $(E, B, \pi)$ .

**Example A.9.** Consider the principal fibre bundle  $(SU(2), U(1), \mathbb{C}P^1, \tilde{\pi})$  of Example A.7. For any integer or half-integer s, consider the representation  $z \mapsto z^{2s}$  of the group U(1) in the linear space  $L_0 = \mathbb{C}^1$ . The cross-sections of the line bundle  $(E, \mathbb{C}P^1, \pi_{2s})$  associated to the principal fibre bundle by the above representation, are called *functions of spin weight s*, see [18, 51, 97].

The line bundle  $(E, \mathbb{C}P^1, \pi_2)$  is the tangent bundle  $T\mathbb{C}P^1$ , see proof in [54, p. 92]. Let  $(\text{Spin}(T\mathbb{C}P^1), U(1), \mathbb{C}P^1, \tilde{\pi})$  be the principal bundle of orthonormal frames corresponding to  $T\mathbb{C}P^1$ . The fibres of this bundle are copies of U(1).

On the other hand, consider the principal fibre bundle  $(SO(3), SO(2), S^2, \tilde{\pi}')$  of Example A.8. The representation

$$\begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta & -\sin\theta\\ \sin\theta & \cos\theta \end{pmatrix} \mapsto e^{2i\theta}$$

determines a line bundle over  $S^2$ . In fact, it is the tangent bundle  $TS^2$ , in which the tangent space at a point  $\mathbf{u} \in S^2 \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  is first identified with the two-dimensional real linear space  $T_{\mathbf{u}}S^2 = \{\mathbf{v} \in \mathbb{R}^3 : (\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{u}) = 0\}$ , and then  $T_{\mathbf{u}}S^2$  is converted into a complex line by defining  $z\mathbf{v} = \operatorname{Re} z\mathbf{v} + \operatorname{Im} z(\mathbf{u} \times \mathbf{v})$ . Denote by  $(\operatorname{SO}(TS^2), \operatorname{SO}(2), S^2, \pi')$  the principal bundle of orthonormal frames corresponding to  $TS^2$ . The fibres of this bundle are copies of  $\operatorname{SO}(2)$ .

The map  $S^2 \to \mathbb{C}P^1$ ,  $\mathbf{u} \mapsto [u_1 + u_2 \mathbf{i} : 1 - u_3]$  is a homeomorphism. Consider the map  $\Theta \colon \operatorname{Spin}(T\mathbb{C}P^1) \to \operatorname{SO}(TS^2)$  given by  $\Theta([u_1 + u_2 \mathbf{i}, 1 - u_3], z) = (\mathbf{u}, z^2)$ . By

construction, this map is fibre-preserving. Moreover, for all  $([u_1+u_2i:1-u_3], z) \in$ Spin $(T\mathbb{C}P^1)$  and for all  $w \in U(1) =$  Spin(2) we have

$$\Theta(([u_1 + u_2\mathbf{i}: 1 - u_3], z)w) = \Theta([u_1 + u_2\mathbf{i}: 1 - u_3], z)w^2.$$

By [13, Definition 2.1], the map  $\Theta$  defines a spin structure on the manifold  $S^2$ .

Recall that the *complex spin representation* of the group Spin(2) = U(1) is the complex representation

$$\rho_2(e^{i\theta}) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{i\theta} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-i\theta} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Its irreducible components  $\rho_2^+(e^{i\theta}) = e^{i\theta}$  and  $\rho_2^-(e^{i\theta}) = e^{-i\theta}$  are called *complex* spin half-representations. The space of the representation  $\rho_2$  is equal to the direct sum  $V_1 \oplus tV_1$  of linear spaces where the above components act. Note that these representations do not descend to the group SO(2) since  $\rho_2(-1) = -id$ and  $\rho_2^{\pm}(-1) = -1$ .

The complex vector bundle  $(\Sigma \mathbb{C}P^1, \mathbb{C}P^1, \pi)$  with fibre  $V_1 \oplus tV_1$  is the bundle associated with the principal fibre bundle  $(SU(2), U(1), \mathbb{C}P^1, \tilde{\pi})$  by the complex spin representation. We see that this bundle is the direct sum of the two bundles  $(\Sigma^+ \mathbb{C}P^1, \mathbb{C}P^1, \pi_1)$  and  $(\Sigma^- \mathbb{C}P^1, \mathbb{C}P^1, \pi_{-1})$  with fibres  $V_1$  and  $tV_1$  that correspond to the cases of  $s = \pm 1$  above. The cross-sections of the bundle  $(\Sigma \mathbb{C}P^1, \mathbb{C}P^1, \pi)$  are called *spinor fields*.

Note that the map  $j: V_1 \oplus tV_1 \to V_1 \oplus tV_1$ ,  $j(z_1, z_2) = (z_2^*, z_1^*)$  is a real structure on the space  $V_1 \oplus tV_1$  that commutes with the complex spin representation. The corresponding real spin representation

$$e^{i\theta} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta & -\sin\theta\\ \sin\theta & \cos\theta \end{pmatrix}$$

is  $rV_1$ . Similarly, the map  $j: V_1 \oplus tV_1 \to V_1 \oplus tV_1$ ,  $j(z_1, z_2) = (z_2^*, -z_1^*)$  is a quaternionic structure on the space  $V_1 \oplus tV_1$  that commutes with the complex spin representation. The corresponding quaternionic spin representation  $e^{i\theta} \mapsto e^{i\theta} \in Sp(1)$  is  $qV_1$ .

It turns out that not all manifolds may carry a spin structure, there exist topological obstructions for that, see [13, Section 3.1] and [65, Section II.3].

Finally, note that the maps  $\tilde{\pi}_1(t) = t^2$  and  $\tilde{\pi}_2(z) = z^2$  of Example A.6 lead to the idea of a "square root" between vectors and spinors, see [140].

**Example A.10** (The edth operator). There exists a beautiful coordinatefree description of the operator  $\eth$  in [24], where it is associated with the  $\eth$ operator and the Dolbeault resolution of complex analysis, see also [112, Equation (4.12.15)]. We give a coordinate description instead. Note that  $\eth$  is the phonetic symbol for voiced "th", see [112, Section 4.12].

Introduce a chart  $\mathbb{C}P^1 \setminus \{[1:0]\} \to \mathbb{C}, [z_1:z_2] \mapsto \zeta = \frac{z_1}{z_2}$ . This is a standard stereographic correspondence between the *Argand plane* of  $\zeta$  and the complex projective line without the point at infinity. To include the above point, we

regard  $\zeta = \infty$  as a "point" added to the Argand plane, and map it to the point  $[1:0] \in \mathbb{C}P^1$ . The union  $\mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$  is the Riemann sphere.

Let f be a smooth cross-section of the vector bundle  $(SU(2), \mathbb{C}P^1, \pi_s)$  of Example A.9. We define

$$(\eth f)(\zeta) = (1 + \zeta\zeta^*)^{1-s} \frac{\partial}{\partial\zeta} ((1 + \zeta\zeta^*)^s f(\zeta)),$$
  
$$(\eth f)(\zeta) = (1 + \zeta\zeta^*)^{1+s} \frac{\partial}{\partial\zeta^*} ((1 + \zeta\zeta^*)^{-s} f(\zeta)),$$

where we adapted definition [112, Equation (4.15.117)] in order to be consistent with cosmological literature. Then, the *spin rising operator*  $\eth$  maps smooth cross-sections of the bundle (SU(2),  $\mathbb{C}P^1, \pi_s$ ) to smooth cross-sections of the bundle (SU(2),  $\mathbb{C}P^1, \pi_{s+1}$ ). Similarly, the *spin lowering operator*  $\eth$  maps smooth cross-sections of the bundle (SU(2),  $\mathbb{C}P^1, \pi_s$ ) to smooth cross-sections of the bundle (SU(2),  $\mathbb{C}P^1, \pi_{s+1}$ ).

#### A.6. Induced representations

Let H be a closed subgroup of a compact Lie group G, and let B = G/H. Consider the principal fibre bundle  $(G, H, B, \tilde{\pi})$ , where  $\tilde{\pi}(g) = gH$ . Let  $(E, B, \pi)$  be the vector bundle associated to the above principal fibre bundle by a representation of H ia a finite-dimensional linear space  $L_0$  over a (skew) field  $\mathbb{K}$ . Define a left action of G on  $G \times L_0$  by  $g_0 \cdot (g, \mathbf{l}) = (g_0g, \mathbf{l})$ . The above action induces an action of G on E. It is easy to check that with this action, the vector bundle  $(E, B, \pi)$  becomes homogeneous.

**Definition A.5** ([153]). A vector bundle  $(E, G/H, \pi)$  is called *homogeneous* if G acts on E such that  $g \cdot \pi^{-1}(x) = \pi^{-1}(g \cdot x)$  and the action of G on  $\pi^{-1}(x)$  is linear for all  $x \in G/H$  and  $g \in G$ .

The construction given above describes all homogeneous vector bundles, see [153].

Let  $C(G, L_0)$  be the linear space of all continuous functions  $f: G \to L_0$ satisfying the condition  $f(gh) = h^{-1} \cdot f(g), h \in H, g \in G$ . Introduce the notation

$$\langle f_1, f_2 \rangle = \int_G (f_1(g), f_2(g)) \,\mathrm{d}g, \tag{A.5}$$

where  $f_1, f_2 \in C(G, L_0)$ , and dg is the probabilistic *G*-invariant measure on the Borel  $\sigma$ -field of subsets of *G*. We observe that the map  $C(G, L_0) \times C(G, L_0) \to \mathbb{K}$ ,  $(f_1, f_2) \mapsto \langle f_1, f_2 \rangle$ , is an inner product. The map  $(\tilde{\theta}(g_0)f)(g) = f(g_0^{-1}g)$  extends to a representation of *G* in the Hilbert space  $L^2(G, L_0)$ , which is the completion of the linear space  $C(G, L_0)$  with respect to the norm induced by the inner product (A.5). Moreover, the above inner product is *G*-invariant. This fact is proved in [153, Subsection 5.3.3] for the case of  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ , and can be proved literally in the same way for the remaining (skew) fields. In what follows, in similar cases we refer to proofs of our statements for the complex case. Denote by  $\Gamma E$  the K-linear space of continuous cross-sections of the homogeneous vector bundle  $(E, B, \pi)$ . Let G act on  $\Gamma E$  by  $(\theta(g)s)(x) = g \cdot s(g^{-1}x)$  for  $g \in G, s \in \Gamma E$ , and  $x \in B$ . The representation  $(\Gamma E, \theta)$  extends to a representation of G in the Hilbert space  $L^2(E)$  of the square-integrable cross-sections of the vector bundle  $(E, B, \pi)$  with the G-invariant inner product

$$\langle s_1, s_2 \rangle = \int_B (s_1(x), s_2(x))_{L_0} \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

where dx is the probabilistic *G*-invariant measure on *B*. The complex case is proved in [153, Subsection 5.3.2]. We call  $\theta$  the representation of *G* induced by the representation  $L_0$  of the subgroup *H*.

Define the map  $\Gamma E \to C(G, L_0)$ ,  $s \mapsto \tilde{s}$  by  $\tilde{s}(g) = g^{-1} \cdot s(gH)$  for  $g \in G$ . This map extends to an equivalence between the representations  $(L^2(E), \theta)$  and  $(L^2(G, L_0), \tilde{\theta})$ , see proof for the complex case in [153, Lemma 5.3.4]. Act by g to both hand sides of this equality. We obtain, that the inverse map has the form

$$s(gH) = g \cdot \tilde{s}(g). \tag{A.6}$$

# A.7. The structure of the induced representation

The Hilbert space  $L^2(E)$  is uniquely decomposed into the Hilbert direct sum of isotypical subspaces. Let L be an irreducible representation of G, and let  $\operatorname{res}_H^G L$  be the restriction of this representation to the group H. Let  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(\operatorname{res}_H^G L, L_0)$  be the  $\mathbb{K}'$ -linear space of  $\mathbb{K}$ -linear maps from L to  $L_0$ . The group H acts on this space by  $(h \cdot f)\mathbf{l} = h \cdot (f(h^{-1} \cdot \mathbf{l}))$  for  $h \in H$ ,  $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(\operatorname{res}_H^G L, L_0)$ , and  $\mathbf{l} \in L$ . Let  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(\operatorname{res}_H^G L, L_0)$  be the isotypical subspace of the space  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(\operatorname{res}_H^G L, L_0)$  that corresponds to the trivial representation of H. In other words,  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(\operatorname{res}_H^G L, L_0)$  is the subspace of elements in  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}}(\operatorname{res}_H^G L, L_0)$ which are invariant under H, or the linear space of intertwining operators between  $\operatorname{res}_H^G L$  and  $L_0$ .

Similarly, construct the  $\mathbb{K}'$ -linear space  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}G}(L, L^2(E))$  of intertwining operators between L and  $L^2(E)$ . The celebrated *Frobenius reciprocity* states that the two above constructed spaces are isomorphic, see [10, Proposition 2.1] and [15, Chapter III, Proposition 6.2]. In particular,  $\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G}L, L_{0}) =$  $\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}G}(L, L^2(E))$  and the representation  $(L^2(E), \theta)$  contains

$$n = \frac{\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G} L, L_{0})}{\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}G}(L, L)}$$

copies of the irreducible representation L.

The particular case of the above statement, when  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$  and H contains only the identity element, is called the *Fine Structure Theorem*, see [52]. We used this result in Example 4.1.

The next step is to construct an orthonormal basis in the Hilbert space  $L^2(E)$  in such a way that different kinds of "spherical harmonics" become particular cases of our general construction. See also alternative approaches to construction of various spherical harmonics in [21, 139].
# A.8. The construction of a basis in the space of an induced representation

## A.8.1. Schur's Lemma

This result describes the structure of the space  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}G}(L_1, L_2)$  for  $L_1, L_2 \in \hat{G}_{\mathbb{K}}$ .

Lemma A.1. Let  $L, L_1, L_2 \in \hat{G}_{\mathbb{K}}$ .

- Any element of the space Hom<sub>KG</sub>(L<sub>1</sub>, L<sub>2</sub>) is either zero or an isomorphism. Moreover, Hom<sub>KG</sub>(L<sub>1</sub>, L<sub>2</sub>) = {0} if and only if L<sub>1</sub> is not equivalent to L<sub>2</sub>.
- As a linear space (resp., as a division algebra), the set Hom<sub>RG</sub>(U,U) is isomorphic to ℝ<sup>1</sup> (resp., to ℝ) if and only if U is of real type; to ℝ<sup>2</sup> (resp., to ℂ) if and only if U is of complex type; to ℝ<sup>4</sup> (resp., to ℍ) if and only if U is of quaternionic type.
- As a linear space (resp., as a division algebra), the set Hom<sub>CG</sub>(V, V) is isomorphic to C<sup>1</sup> (resp., to C).
- As a linear space (resp., as a division algebra), the set Hom<sub>HG</sub>(W,W) is isomorphic to ℝ<sup>4</sup> (resp., to ℍ) if and only if W is of real type; to ℝ<sup>2</sup> (resp., to ℂ) if and only if W is of complex type; to ℝ<sup>1</sup> (resp., to ℝ) if and only if W is of quaternionic type.

*Proof.* All items except the last one are proved in [1, Lemma 3.22, Corollary 3.23] and [15, Section II.6].

To prove the last item, note that  $c \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{H}G}(W, W) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}G}(c'W, c'W)$  by [1, Section 3.9 (iii)]. If W is of real type, then, by [15, Proposition II.6.6 (iv)], there exists an irreducible complex representation V of real type such that  $c'W = V \oplus V$ . By [1, Proposition 3.11], Hom is bilinear over the direct sum  $\oplus$ , therefore

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}G}(c'W, c'W) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}G}(V \oplus V, V \oplus V) = \mathbb{C}^4.$$

If W is of complex type, then, by [15, Proposition II.6.6 (v)], there exists an irreducible complex representation V of complex type such that  $c'W = V \oplus tV$ . Therefore

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}G}(c'W, c'W) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}G}(V \oplus tV, V \oplus tV) = \mathbb{C}^2.$$

If W is of quaternionic type, then, by [15, Proposition II.6.6 (vi)], there exists an irreducible complex representation V of quaternionic type such that c'W = V. Therefore

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}G}(c'W, c'W) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}G}(V, V) = \mathbb{C}^1.$$

The statement about the isomorphism of linear spaces follows. The Frobenius classification of finite-dimensional real division algebras [29] states that every such an algebra is isomorphic either to  $\mathbb{R}$  or to  $\mathbb{C}$  or to  $\mathbb{H}$  and implies the statement about the isomorphism of division algebras.

## A.8.2. The construction of a basis

Consider the  $\mathbb{K}'$ -linear space  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G}L, L_{0})$  and assume that  $L_{0}$  is irreducible. Denote by D the division algebra  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(L_{0}, L_{0})$ . The above space contains

$$n_L = \frac{\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H} (\operatorname{res}_H^G L, L_0)}{\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} D}$$

copies of the representation  $L_0$ . Choose and fix the K-linear subspaces  $L_0^1, \ldots, L_0^{n_L}$  of the linear space  $\operatorname{res}_H^G L$  where the above copies act. This choice is not unique. However, we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G}L, L_{0}) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(L_{0}^{1}, L_{0}) \oplus \cdots \oplus \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(L_{0}^{n_{L}}, L_{0}).$$

The isomorphism of division algebras between D and  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(L_0^i, L_0), 1 \leq i \leq n_L$ , described in Schur's Lemma, determines a representation of D in  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(L_0^i, L_0)$ .

It is well-known that any finite-dimensional complex representation of the algebra  $\mathbb{C}$  is a direct sum of finitely many copies of the unique irreducible representation  $\mathbb{C} \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{C}^1, \mathbb{C}^1)$ . We choose it in the form  $z \mapsto z$ . A real representation of the algebra  $\mathbb{R}$  (resp.,  $\mathbb{C}$ , resp.,  $\mathbb{H}$ ) is a direct sum of finitely many copies of the unique irreducible representation  $\mathbb{R} \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{R}^1, \mathbb{R}^1)$  (resp.,  $\mathbb{C} \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R}^2)$ , resp.,  $\mathbb{H} \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{R}^4, \mathbb{R}^4)$ ). We choose it in the form  $a \mapsto a$  (resp.,

$$z = a + b\mathbf{i} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} a & -b \\ b & a \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{R}^2, \mathbb{R}^2), \tag{A.7}$$

resp.,

$$q = a + b\mathbf{i} + c\mathbf{j} + d\mathbf{k} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} a & -b & c & -d \\ b & a & d & c \\ -c & -d & a & b \\ d & -c & -b & a \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{R}^{4}, \mathbb{R}^{4})).$$
(A.8)

For proofs, see [16] and [141].

We proved the existence of a basis, in which the elements of the linear space  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G}L, L_{0})$  are matrices over  $\mathbb{K}'$  with  $\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} L_{0}$  rows and  $\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} L$  columns, in which only  $n_{L}$  components are potentially non-zero. Each component is a square block-diagonal matrix and contains  $\frac{\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} L_{0}}{\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} D}$  identical blocks. Each block is a square matrix with  $\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} D$  rows. If  $\mathbb{K}' = \mathbb{R}$  and  $D = \mathbb{C}$ , then each block has the form of the matrix in Equation (A.7), if  $\mathbb{K}' = \mathbb{R}$  and  $D = \mathbb{H}$ , then each block has the form of the matrix in Equation (A.8).

then each block has the form of the matrix in Equation (A.8). Define the matrices {  $f^{ijk}: 1 \leq i \leq n_L, 1 \leq j \leq \frac{\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} L_0}{\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} D}, 1 \leq k \leq \dim_{\mathbb{K}'} D$  } as follows. All the components of the matrix  $f^{ijk}$  but the *i*th one are zero matrices. If  $\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} D = 1$ , then each block contains the number  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} L_0}}$ . If  $\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} D = 2$ , then each block of the matrix  $f^{ij1}$  has the form  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} L_0}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ , and each block of the matrix  $f^{ij2}$  the form  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} L_0}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ . If  $\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} D = 4$ , then each block of the matrix  $f^{ij1}$  has the form  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} L_0}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ , each block of the matrix  $f^{ij2}$  the form  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} L_0}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ , each block of the matrix  $f^{ij4}$  the form  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} L_0}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ , and each block of the matrix  $f^{ij4}$  the form  $\frac{1}{\sqrt{\dim_{\mathbb{K}'} L_0}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ . An orthonormal basis of the space  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}H}(\operatorname{res}_{H}^{G} L, L_0)$  is constructed.

Apply the Frobenius reciprocity isomorphism to the matrices  $f^{ijk}$ . According to the explicit construction of this isomorphism given in [15, Chapter III, Proposition 6.2], the matrix  $f^{ijk}$  becomes the map  $F^{ijk}: L \to C(G, L_0)$  that acts by  $F^{ijk}(\mathbf{l})(g) = f^{ijk}(g^{-1} \cdot \mathbf{l})$  for  $\mathbf{l} \in L$  and  $g \in G$ . The composition of the map (A.6) and  $F^{ijk}$  acts from L to  $L^2(E)$  and maps a vector  $\mathbf{l} \in L$  to the cross-section  $s_1^{ijk}(gH) = g \cdot f^{ijk}(g^{-1} \cdot \mathbf{l})$  of the vector bundle  $(E, G/H, \pi)$ . In particular, for the vectors  $\mathbf{e}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{e}_{\dim L}$  of an orthonormal basis in L, their images

$$_{L_0}Y_{ijkLm}(gH) = g \cdot f^{ijk}(g^{-1} \cdot \mathbf{e}_m)$$

form an orthogonal basis in the isotypical subspace of the irreducible representation L of the space  $L^2(E)$ . It is not necessarily orthonormal. By abuse of notation, we denote an orthonormal basis by the same symbol. The union of the above images over all representations  $L \in \hat{G}_{\mathbb{K}}$  for which  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{K}G}(L, L^2(E)) \neq$  $\{0\}$ , constitutes an orthonormal basis in the space  $L^2(E)$ .

If  $L_0$  is reducible, then we decompose it into irreducible components and use [153, Lemma 5.2.5], according to which the space  $L^2(E)$  is the Hilbert direct sum of subspaces that correspond to each component, and construct an orthonormal basis in each subspace as above.

An alternative construction of the basis for the case of  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ ,  $G = \mathrm{SU}(2)$ , and  $H = \mathrm{U}(1)$  using the Euler angles, is given in [21].

#### Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Victor Abramov for useful discussion on principal bundles.

#### References

- ADAMS, J. F. (1969). Lectures on Lie groups. W. A. Benjamin, Inc., New York-Amsterdam. MR0252560
- [2] ARNOL'D, V. I. (1989). Mathematical methods of classical mechanics. Graduate Texts in Mathematics 60. Springer-Verlag, New York. Translated from the 1974 Russian original by K. Vogtmann and A. Weinstein, corrected reprint of the second edition. MR1345386
- [3] ARNOL'D, V. I. (1998). On the teaching of mathematics. Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 53 229–234. MR1618209

- [4] AUFFRAY, N., HE, Q.-C. and LE QUANG, H. (2019). Complete symmetry classification and compact matrix representations for 3D strain gradient elasticity. *International Journal of Solids and Structures* 159 197–210.
- [5] AUFFRAY, N., KOLEV, B. and OLIVE, M. (2017). Handbook of bidimensional tensors: Part I: Harmonic decomposition and symmetry classes. *Math. Mech. Solids* **22** 1847–1865. MR3692350
- [6] BAEZ, J. C. (2012). Division algebras and quantum theory. *Found. Phys.* 42 819–855. MR2928833
- [7] BALDI, P. and ROSSI, M. (2014). Representation of Gaussian isotropic spin random fields. *Stochastic Process. Appl.* **124** 1910–1941. MR3170229
- [8] BARUT, A. O. and RĄCZKA, R. (1986). Theory of group representations and applications, Second ed. World Scientific Publishing Co., Singapore. MR889252
- [9] BEREZANS'KIĬ, YU. M. (1968). Expansions in eigenfunctions of selfadjoint operators. Translations of Mathematical Monographs 17. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I. Translated from the Russian by R. Bolstein, J. M. Danskin, J. Rovnyak and L. Shulman. MR0222718
- [10] BOTT, R. H. (1965). The index theorem for homogeneous differential operators. In Differential and Combinatorial Topology (A Symposium in Honor of Marston Morse), (S. S. Cairns, ed.). Princeton Mathematical Series 27 167–186. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N.J. MR0182022
- [11] BOURBAKI, N. (1998). Algebra I. Chapters 1–3. Elements of Mathematics (Berlin). Springer-Verlag, Berlin Translated from the French, Reprint of the 1989 English translation [MR0979982 (90d:00002)]. MR1727844
- [12] BOURBAKI, N. (2004). Integration. II. Chapters 7–9. Elements of Mathematics (Berlin). Springer-Verlag, Berlin Translated from the 1963 and 1969 French originals by Sterling K. Berberian. MR2098271
- [13] BOURGUIGNON, J.-P., HIJAZI, O., MILHORAT, J.-L., MOROIANU, A. and MOROIANU, S. (2015). A spinorial approach to Riemannian and conformal geometry. EMS Monographs in Mathematics. European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich. MR3410545
- BREDON, G. E. (1972). Introduction to compact transformation groups. Academic Press, New York–London Pure and Applied Mathematics, Vol. 46. MR0413144
- [15] BRÖCKER, T. and TOM DIECK, T. (1995). Representations of compact Lie groups. Graduate Texts in Mathematics 98. Springer-Verlag, New York Translated from the German manuscript, Corrected reprint of the 1985 translation. MR1410059
- [16] BUDINICH, P. and TRAUTMAN, A. (1988). The spinorial chessboard. Trieste Notes in Physics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin. MR954184
- [17] CLARKE, T. J., COPELAND, E. J. and MOSS, A. (2020). Constraints on primordial gravitational waves from the cosmic microwave background. J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. 2020 002, 31. MR4233941
- [18] CURTIS, W. D. and LERNER, D. E. (1978). Complex line bundles in relativity. J. Mathematical Phys. 19 874–877. MR484262
- [19] DAI, L., KAMIONKOWSKI, M. and JEONG, D. (2012). Total angular mo-

mentum waves for scalar, vector, and tensor fields. *Phys. Rev. D* 86 125013.

- [20] DENG, M. and DODSON, C. T. J. (1994). Paper: an engineered stochastic structure. Tappi Press, Atlanta, GA.
- [21] DRAY, T. (1986). A unified treatment of Wigner D functions, spinweighted spherical harmonics, and monopole harmonics. J. Math. Phys. 27 781–792. MR825165
- [22] DUISTERMAAT, J. J. and KOLK, J. A. C. (2000). Lie groups. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, Berlin. MR1738431
- [23] DURRER, R. (2020). The Cosmic Microwave Background, 2 ed. Cambridge University Press.
- [24] EASTWOOD, M. and TOD, P. (1982). Edth a differential operator on the sphere. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 92 317–330. MR671187
- [25] ERDÉLYI, A., MAGNUS, W., OBERHETTINGER, F. and TRICOMI, F. G. (1981). *Higher transcendental functions. Vol. II.* Robert E. Krieger Publishing Co., Inc., Melbourne, Fla. Based on notes left by Harry Bateman, Reprint of the 1953 original. MR698780
- [26] FAESSLER, A., HODÁK, R., KOVALENKO, S. and ŠIMKOVIC, F. (2017). Can one measure the Cosmic Neutrino Background? *International Journal* of Modern Physics E 26 1740008.
- [27] FOLLAND, G. B. (2016). A course in abstract harmonic analysis, second ed. Textbooks in Mathematics. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL. MR3444405
- [28] FORTE, S. and VIANELLO, M. (1996). Symmetry classes for elasticity tensors. J. Elasticity 43 81–108. MR1405284
- [29] FROBENIUS, F. G. (1878). Über lineare Substitutionen und bilineare Formen. J. Reine Angew. Math. 84 1–63. MR1581640
- [30] FULTON, W. and HARRIS, J. (1991). Representation theory. A first course. Graduate Texts in Mathematics 129. Springer-Verlag, New York. MR1153249
- [31] GANCZARSKI, A. W., EGNER, H. and SKRZYPEK, J. J. (2015). Introduction to Mechanics of Anisotropic Materials. In *Mechanics of Anisotropic Materials*, (J. J. Skrzypek and A. W. Ganczarski, eds.). *Engineering Materials* 1–56. Springer International Publishing, Cham.
- [32] GAUNT, J. A. and FOWLER, R. H. (1929). The triplets of helium. Proc. Roy. Soc. A 122 513–532.
- [33] GEL'FAND, I. M. and ŠAPIRO, Z. YA. (1952). Representations of the group of rotations in three-dimensional space and their applications. Uspehi Matem. Nauk (N.S.) 7 3–117. MR0047664
- [34] GELLER, D. and MARINUCCI, D. (2010). Spin wavelets on the sphere. J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 16 840–884. MR2737761
- [35] GĪKHMAN, I. I. and SKOROKHOD, A. V. (2004). The theory of stochastic processes. I. Classics in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Translated from the Russian by S. Kotz, Reprint of the 1974 edition. MR2058259
- [36] GODUNOV, S. K. and GORDIENKO, V. M. (2004). Clebsch-Gordan coefficients in the case of various choices of bases of unitary and orthogonal representations of the groups SU(2) and SO(3). *Sibirsk. Mat. Zh.* **45**

540–557. MR2078714

- [37] GOLUBITSKY, M., STEWART, I. and SCHAEFFER, D. G. (1988). Singularities and groups in bifurcation theory. Vol. II. Applied Mathematical Sciences 69. Springer-Verlag, New York. MR950168
- [38] GORDIENKO, V. M. (2002). Matrix elements of real representations of the groups O(3) and SO(3). Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 43 51–63, i. MR1888117
- [39] GORDIENKO, V. M. (2017). Matrices of Clebsch–Gordan coefficients. Sibirsk. Mat. Zh. 58 1276–1291. MR3783870
- [40] GREINER, W. (1998). Classical electrodynamics. Classical Theoretical Physics. Springer-Verlag, New York Translated from the 1991 German original, With a foreword by D. Allan Bromley. MR1651651
- [41] GRIGORIU, M. D. (2022). Finite dimensional models for random microstructures. *Theory Probab. Math. Statist.* **106** 121–142. MR4438447
- [42] GUILLEMINOT, J. (2020). Modeling non-Gaussian random fields of material properties in multiscale mechanics of materials. In Uncertainty Quantification in Multiscale Materials Modeling, (Y. Wang and D. L. McDowell, eds.). Elsevier Series in Mechanics of Advanced Materials 385–420. Woodhead Publishing.
- [43] GUILLEMINOT, J., NOSHADRAVAN, A., SOIZE, C. and GHANEM, R. G. (2011). A probabilistic model for bounded elasticity tensor random fields with application to polycrystalline microstructures. *Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg.* 200 1637–1648. MR2774771
- [44] GUILLEMINOT, J. and SOIZE, C. (2011). Non-Gaussian positive-definite matrix-valued random fields with constrained eigenvalues: application to random elasticity tensors with uncertain material symmetries. *Internat.* J. Numer. Methods Engrg. 88 1128–1151. MR2859613
- [45] GUILLEMINOT, J. and SOIZE, C. (2013). On the statistical dependence for the components of random elasticity tensors exhibiting material symmetry properties. J. Elasticity 111 109–130. MR3036127
- [46] GUILLEMINOT, J. and SOIZE, C. (2013). Prior Representations of Random Fields for Stochastic Multiscale Modeling. *Proceedia IUTAM* 6 44–49. IUTAM Symposium on Multiscale Problems in Stochastic Mechanics.
- [47] GUILLEMINOT, J. and SOIZE, C. (2013). Stochastic model and generator for random fields with symmetry properties: application to the mesoscopic modeling of elastic random media. *Multiscale Model. Simul.* **11** 840–870. MR3091362
- [48] GUILLEMINOT, J. and SOIZE, C. (2014). Itô SDE-based generator for a class of non-Gaussian vector-valued random fields in uncertainty quantification. SIAM J. Sci. Comput. 36 A2763–A2786. MR3284577
- [49] GUILLEMINOT, J. and SOIZE, C. (2020). Non-Gaussian Random Fields in Multiscale Mechanics of Heterogeneous Materials. In *Encyclopedia of Continuum Mechanics* (H. Altenbach and A. Öchsner, eds.) 1826–1834. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- [50] HARVEY, F. R. (1990). Spinors and calibrations. Perspectives in Mathematics 9. Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA. MR1045637
- [51] HELD, A., NEWMAN, E. T. and POSADAS, R. (1970). The Lorentz group

and the sphere. J. Mathematical Phys. 11 3145-3154. MR272918

- [52] HOFMANN, K. H. and MORRIS, S. A. (2020). The structure of compact groups. A primer for the student—a handbook for the expert, fourth ed. De Gruyter Studies in Mathematics 25. De Gruyter, Berlin. MR4201900
- [53] HOGER, A. (1994/95). Positive definiteness of the elasticity tensor of a residually stressed material. J. Elasticity 36 201–226. MR1318388
- [54] HUYBRECHTS, D. (2005). Complex geometry. An introduction. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, Berlin. MR2093043
- [55] IGNACZAK, J. (1963). A completeness problem for stress equations of motion in the linear elasticity theory. Arch. Mech. Stos. 15 225–234. MR170515
- [56] INOMATA, K. and KAMIONKOWSKI, M. (2019). Circular polarization of the cosmic microwave background from vector and tensor perturbations. *Phys. Rev. D* 99 043501, 15. MR3985285
- [57] ITZKOWITZ, G., ROTHMAN, S. and STRASSBERG, H. (1991). A note on the real representations of SU(2, C). J. Pure Appl. Algebra 69 285–294. MR1090745
- [58] JARZYNSKI, C. (2011). Equalities and Inequalities: Irreversibility and the Second Law of Thermodynamics at the Nanoscale. Annual Review of Condensed Matter Physics 2 329–351.
- [59] KAMIONKOWSKI, M., KOSOWSKY, A. and STEBBINS, A. (1997). Statistics of cosmic microwave background polarization. *Phys. Rev. D* 55 7368–7388.
- [60] KARHUNEN, K. (1947). Über lineare Methoden in der Wahrscheinlichkeitsrechnung. Ann. Acad. Sci. Fennicae Ser. A. I. Math.-Phys. 1947 79. MR23013
- [61] KARIMI, P., MALYARENKO, A., OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M. and ZHANG, X. (2020). RVE problem: mathematical aspects and related stochastic mechanics. *Internat. J. Engrg. Sci.* 146 103169, 16. MR4031379
- [62] KELLER, L. V. and FRIEDMANN, A. A. (1925). Differentialgleichungen für die turbulente Bewegung einer kompressibelen Flüssigkeit. In Proceedings of the first international congress for applied mechanics, Delft, 1924 (C. B. BIEZENO and J. M. BURGERS, eds.) 395–404. Technische Boekhandel en Drukkerij J. Waltman Jr., Delft.
- [63] KLINE, M. (1990). Mathematical thought from ancient to modern times. Vol. 3, Second ed. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York. MR1058203
- [64] KRÖNER, E. (1958). Kontinuumstheorie der Versetzungen und Eigenspannungen. Ergebnisse der angewandten Mathematik. Bd. 5. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Göttingen-Heidelberg. MR0095615
- [65] LAWSON, H. B. JR. and MICHELSOHN, M.-L. (1989). Spin geometry. Princeton Mathematical Series 38. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ. MR1031992
- [66] LERARIO, A., MARINUCCI, D., ROSSI, M. and STECCONI, M. (2022). Geometry and topology of spin random fields. Preprint arXiv: 2207.08413v1 [math.PR].

- [67] LIM, L.-H. (2021). Tensors in computations. Acta Numer. 30 555–764. MR4298222
- [68] LOMAKIN, V. A. (1964). Statistical description of the stressed state of a body under deformation. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR* 155 1274–1277. MR0163467
- [69] LOMAKIN, V. A. (1965). Deformation of microscopically nonhomogeneous elastic bodies. J. Appl. Math. Mech. **29** 1048–1054.
- [70] LUBARDA, V. A. and KRAJCINOVIC, D. (1993). Damage tensors and the crack density distribution. *Internat. J. Solids Structures* **30** 2859–2877.
- [71] MA, Z.-Q. (2019). Group theory for physicists. World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd., Hackensack, NJ. MR3969956
- [72] MALYARENKO, A. (2011). Invariant random fields in vector bundles and application to cosmology. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré Probab. Stat. 47 1068–1095. MR2884225
- [73] MALYARENKO, A. (2013). Invariant random fields on spaces with a group action. Probability and its Applications (New York). Springer, Heidelberg With a foreword by Nikolai Leonenko. MR2977490
- [74] MALYARENKO, A. (2017). Spectral expansions of random sections of homogeneous vector bundles. *Teor. Imovīr. Mat. Stat.* 97 142–156. MR3746005
- [75] MALYARENKO, A. and OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M. (2014). Statistically isotropic tensor random fields: correlation structures. *Math. Mech. Complex Syst.* 2 209–231. MR3336288
- [76] MALYARENKO, A. and OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M. (2016). Spectral expansions of homogeneous and isotropic tensor-valued random fields. Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 67 Art. 59, 20. MR3493458
- [77] MALYARENKO, A. and OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M. (2016). Spectral expansion of three-dimensional elasticity tensor random fields. In Engineering mathematics. I. Electromagnetics, fluid mechanics, material physics and financial engineering, (S. Silvestrov and M. Rančić, eds.). Springer Proc. Math. Stat. 178 281–300. Springer, Cham. MR3630567
- [78] MALYARENKO, A. and OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M. (2016). A random field formulation of Hooke's law in all elasticity classes. Preprint arXiv: 1602. 09066v2 [math-ph]. MR3621303
- [79] MALYARENKO, A. and OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M. (2017). A random field formulation of Hooke's law in all elasticity classes. J. Elasticity 127 269–302. MR3621303
- [80] MALYARENKO, A. and OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M. (2017). Fractal planetary rings: energy inequalities and random field model. *Internat. J. Mod*ern Phys. B **31** 1750236, 14. MR3732655
- [81] MALYARENKO, A. and OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M. (2018). Random fields related to the symmetry classes of second-order symmetric tensors. In *Stochastic processes and applications*, (S. Silvestrov, A. Malyarenko and M. Rančić, eds.). *Springer Proc. Math. Stat.* **271** 173–185. Springer, Cham SPAS2017, Västerås and Stockholm, Sweden, October 4–6, 2017, Based on the International Conference "Stochastic processes and algebraic

structures—from theory towards applications". MR3903345

- [82] MALYARENKO, A. and OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M. (2019). Tensor-valued random fields for continuum physics. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. MR3930601
- [83] MALYARENKO, A. and OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M. (2022). Polyadic random fields. Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 73 Paper No. 204. MR4475038
- [84] MALYARENKO, A., OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M. and AMIRI-HEZAVEH, A. (2020). Random fields of piezoelectricity and piezomagnetism. Correlation structures. SpringerBriefs in Applied Sciences and Technology. Springer, Cham. MR4200126
- [85] MARINUCCI, D. and PECCATI, G. (2011). Random fields on the sphere. Representation, limit theorems and cosmological applications. London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series 389. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. MR2840154
- [86] MARINUCCI, D. and PECCATI, G. (2013). Mean-square continuity on homogeneous spaces of compact groups. *Electron. Commun. Probab.* 18 no. 37, 10. MR3064996
- [87] MATHEWS, J. (1962). Gravitational multipole radiation. J. Soc. Indust. Appl. Math. 10 768–780. MR191580
- [88] MIHAI, L. A. (2022). Stochastic Elasticity. A Nondeterministic Approach to the Nonlinear Field Theory. Interdisciplinary Applied Mathematics 55. Springer International Publishing AG.
- [89] MISNER, C. W., THORNE, K. S. and WHEELER, J. A. (1973). Gravitation. W. H. Freeman and Co., San Francisco, Calif. MR0418833
- [90] MONIN, A. S. and YAGLOM, A. M. (2007). Statistical fluid mechanics: mechanics of turbulence. Vol. I. Dover Publications, Inc., Mineola, NY Translated from the 1965 Russian original, Edited and with a preface by John L. Lumley, English edition updated, augmented and revised by the authors, Reprinted from the 1971 edition. MR2406667
- [91] MONIN, A. S. and YAGLOM, A. M. (2007). Statistical fluid mechanics: mechanics of turbulence. Vol. II. Dover Publications, Inc., Mineola, NY Translated from the 1965 Russian original, Edited and with a preface by John L. Lumley, English edition updated, augmented and revised by the authors, Reprinted from the 1975 edition. MR2406668
- [92] MONTGOMERY, D. and ZIPPIN, L. (1974). Topological transformation groups. Robert E. Krieger Publishing Co., Huntington, N.Y. Reprint of the 1955 original. MR0379739
- [93] MOYAL, J. E. (1952). The spectra of turbulence in a compressible fluid; eddy turbulence and random noise. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 48 329–344. MR49014
- [94] MUNTEANU, G. (2004). Complex spaces in Finsler, Lagrange and Hamilton geometries. Fundamental Theories of Physics 141. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht. MR2102340
- [95] MURAKAMI, S. (2012). Continuum damage mechanics. A continuum mechanics approach to the analysis of damage and fracture. Solid Mechanics, Applicat. 185. Springer, Dordrecht.

- [96] NAĬMARK, M. A. and ŠTERN, A. I. (1982). Theory of group representations. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences] 246. Springer-Verlag, New York Translated from the Russian by Elizabeth Hewitt, Translation edited by Edwin Hewitt. MR793377
- [97] NEWMAN, E. T. and PENROSE, R. (1966). Note on the Bondi-Metzner-Sachs group. J. Mathematical Phys. 7 863–870. MR194172
- [98] NISHAWALA, V. V., OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M., LEAMY, M. J. and PORCU, E. (2016). Lamb's problem on random mass density fields with fractal and Hurst effects. *Proc. A.* 472 20160638, 14. MR3597929
- [99] NOSHADRAVAN, A., GHANEM, R., GUILLEMINOT, J., ATODARIA, I. and PERALTA, P. (2013). Validation of a probabilistic model for mesoscale elasticity tensor of random polycrystals. *Int. J. Uncertain. Quantif.* 3 73–100. MR3044911
- [100] OBUKHOV, A. M. (1947). Statistically homogeneous random fields on a sphere. Uspehi Mat. Nauk 2 196–198.
- [101] OGDEN, R. W. (1974). On isotropic tensors and elastic moduli. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 75 427–436. MR342001
- [102] OLIVE, M. (2019). Effective computation of SO(3) and O(3) linear representation symmetry classes. Math. Mech. Complex Syst. 7 203–237. MR4045367
- [103] OLIVE, M. and AUFFRAY, N. (2013). Symmetry classes for even-order tensors. *Math. Mech. Complex Syst.* 1 177–210.
- [104] OLIVE, M. and AUFFRAY, N. (2014). Symmetry classes for odd-order tensors. Z. Angew. Math. Mech. 94 421–447. MR3208052
- [105] OLVER, F. W. J., LOZIER, D. W., BOISVERT, R. F. and CLARK, C. W., eds. (2010). *NIST handbook of mathematical functions*. U.S. Department of Commerce, National Institute of Standards and Technology, Washington, DC; Cambridge University Press, Cambridge With 1 CD-ROM (Windows, Macintosh and UNIX). MR2723248
- [106] OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M. (2008). Microstructural randomness and scaling in mechanics of materials. CRC Series: Modern Mechanics and Mathematics. Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL. MR2341287
- [107] OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M. (2019). Ignaczak equation of elastodynamics. Math. Mech. Solids 24 3674–3713. MR4000178
- [108] OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M., KALE, S., KARIMI, P., MALYARENKO, A., RAGHAVAN, B. V., RANGANATHAN, S. I. and ZHANG, J. (2016). Scaling to RVE in Random Media. In *Advances in Applied Mechanics, vol.* 49 (S. P. A. Bordas and D. S. Balint, eds.) 111–211. Elsevier, Burlington.
- [109] OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M. and LAUDANI, R. (2020). Violations of the Clausius–Duhem inequality in Couette flows of granular media. Proc. R Soc. A 476 20200207, 17. MR4203086
- [110] OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M. and MALYARENKO, A. (2014). Continuum mechanics beyond the second law of thermodynamics. Proc. R Soc. A 470 20140531.
- [111] OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M., SHEN, L. and MALYARENKO, A. (2015). Ten-

sor random fields in conductivity and classical or microcontinuum theories. *Math. Mech. Solids* **20** 418–432. MR3327730

- [112] PENROSE, R. and RINDLER, W. (1987). Spinors and space-time. Vol. 1. Two-spinor calculus and relativistic fields. Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. MR917488
- [113] PENZIAS, A. A. and WILSON, R. W. (1965). A Measurement of Excess Antenna Temperature at 4080 Mc/s. Astrophys. J. Lett. 142 419–421.
- [114] PERRIN, G. and SOIZE, C. (2020). Adaptive method for indirect identification of the statistical properties of random fields in a Bayesian framework. *Comput. Statist.* **35** 111–133.
- [115] POINCARÉ, H. (1895). Analysis situs. J. de l'École Polytechnique (2) 1 1–123.
- [116] PONTRYAGIN, L. S. (1966). Topological groups. Translated from the second Russian edition by Arlen Brown. Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, Inc., New York-London-Paris. MR0201557
- [117] RICCI-CURBASTRO, G. (1892). Résumé de quelques travaux sur les systèmes variables de fonctions associés à une forme différentielle quadratique. Bull. des Sci. Math. (II) 16 167–189.
- [118] RICCI-CURBASTRO, G. and LEVI-CIVITA, T. (1900). Méthodes de calcul différentiel absolu et leurs applications. *Math. Ann.* 54 125–201. MR1511109
- [119] ROBERTSON, H. P. (1940). The invariant theory of isotropic turbulence. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 36 209–223. MR0001702 (1,286c)
- [120] RUIZ-MEDINA, M. D., PORCU, E. and FERNANDEZ-PASCUAL, R. (2011). The Dagum and auxiliary covariance families: Towards reconciling twoparameter models that separate fractal dimension and the Hurst effect. *Probab. Engng. Mech.* 26 259–268.
- [121] SCHOENBERG, I. J. (1938). Metric spaces and completely monotone functions. Ann. of Math. (2) 39 811–841. MR1503439
- [122] SCORPAN, A. (2005). The wild world of 4-manifolds. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI. MR2136212
- [123] SELIVANOVA, S. (2014). Computing Clebsch–Gordan matrices with applications in elasticity theory. In *Logic, computation, hierarchies*, (V. Brattka, H. Diener and D. Spreen, eds.). *Ontos Math. Log.* 4 273–295. De Gruyter, Berlin Festschrift for Victor Selivanov. MR3308053
- [124] SENA, M. P., OSTOJA-STARZEWSKI, M. and COSTA, L. (2013). Stiffness tensor random fields through upscaling of planar random materials. *Probab. Engng. Mech.* 34 131–156.
- [125] SHERMERGOR, T. D. (1971). Relations between the components of the correlation functions of an elastic field. *Journal of Applied Mathematics* and Mechanics 35 392–397.
- [126] SOIZE, C. (2006). Non-Gaussian positive-definite matrix-valued random fields for elliptic stochastic partial differential operators. *Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg.* **195** 26–64. MR2174357
- [127] SOIZE, C. (2008). Construction of probability distributions in high di-

mension using the maximum entropy principle: applications to stochastic processes, random fields and random matrices. *Internat. J. Numer. Methods Engrg.* **76** 1583–1611. MR2468055

- [128] SOIZE, C. (2008). Tensor-valued random fields for meso-scale stochastic model of anisotropic elastic microstructure and probabilistic analysis of representative volume element size. *Probabilistic Engineering Mechanics* 23 307–323. 5th International Conference on Computational Stochastic Mechanics.
- [129] SOIZE, C. (2010). Identification of high-dimension polynomial chaos expansions with random coefficients for non-Gaussian tensor-valued random fields using partial and limited experimental data. *Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg.* **199** 2150–2164. MR2654015
- [130] SOIZE, C. (2011). A computational inverse method for identification of non-Gaussian random fields using the Bayesian approach in very high dimension. *Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. Engrg.* 200 3083–3099. MR2844038
- [131] SOIZE, C. (2021). Computational stochastic homogenization of heterogeneous media from an elasticity random field having an uncertain spectral measure. *Comput. Mech.* 68 1003–1021. MR4318420
- [132] SOIZE, C. (2021). Stochastic elliptic operators defined by non-Gaussian random fields with uncertain spectrum. *Theory Probab. Math. Statist.* 105 113–136. MR4421367
- [133] SOIZE, C. and DESCELIERS, C. (2010). Computational aspects for constructing realizations of polynomial chaos in high dimension. SIAM J. Sci. Comput. 32 2820–2831. MR2735982
- [134] SPENCER, A. J. M. (1971). Part III. Theory of invariants. In *Continuum physics. Vol. I* (A. C. Eringen, ed.) 239–355. Academic Press, New York-London.
- [135] STABER, B. and GUILLEMINOT, J. (2018). A random field model for anisotropic strain energy functions and its application for uncertainty quantification in vascular mechanics. *Comput. Methods Appl. Mech. En*grg. 333 94–113. MR3771889
- [136] STECCONI, M. (2021). Isotropic random spin weighted functions on  $S^2$  vs isotropic random fields on  $S^3$ . Theory Probab. Math. Statist. In press, preprint arXiv: 2108.00736v1 [math.PR]. MR4511145
- [137] TAYLOR, G. I. (1935). Statistical theory of turbulence. Proc. Roy. Soc. A. 151 421–444.
- [138] TEMPLE, G. F. J. (2004). Cartesian tensors. An introduction. Dover Publications, Inc., Mineola, NY Reprint of the 1960 original. MR2105604
- [139] THORNE, K. S. (1980). Multipole expansions of gravitational radiation. *Rev. Modern Phys.* **52** 299–339. MR569166
- [140] TRAUTMAN, A. (1997). Clifford and the "square root" ideas. In Geometry and nature (Madeira, 1995), (H. Nencka and J.-P. Bourguignon, eds.). Contemp. Math. 203 3–24. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI In memory of W. K. Clifford, Papers from the Conference on New Trends in Geometrical and Topological Methods held in Madeira, July 30–August 5, 1995.

MR1443911

- [141] TRAUTMAN, A. (2006). Clifford Algebras and Their Representations. In Encyclopedia of Mathematical Physics (J.-P. Françoise, G. L. Naber and T. S. Tsun, eds.) 518–530. Academic Press, Oxford.
- [142] TRAUTMAN, A. (2008). Connections and the Dirac operator on spinor bundles. J. Geom. Phys. 58 238–252. MR2384313
- [143] VANMARCKE, E. (2010). Random fields. Analysis and synthesis, new ed. World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd., Hackensack, NJ. MR2676223
- [144] VILENKIN, N. YA. and KLIMYK, A. U. (1991). Representation of Lie groups and special functions. Vol. 1. Mathematics and its Applications (Soviet Series) 72. Kluwer Academic Publishers Group, Dordrecht Simplest Lie groups, special functions and integral transforms, Translated from the Russian by V. A. Groza and A. A. Groza. MR1143783
- [145] VILENKIN, N. YA. and KLIMYK, A. U. (1993). Representation of Lie groups and special functions. Vol. 2. Class I representations, special functions, and integral transforms. Mathematics and its Applications (Soviet Series) 74. Kluwer Academic Publishers Group, Dordrecht Translated from the Russian by V. A. Groza and A. A. Groza. MR1220225
- [146] VON KÁRMÁN, T. (1937). On the statistical theory of turbulence. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 23 98–105.
- [147] VON KÁRMÁN, T. (1937). The fundamentals of the statistical theory of turbulence. J. Aeron. Sci. 4 131–138.
- [148] VON KÁRMÁN, T. (1948). Sur la théorie statistique de la turbulence. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 226 2108–2111. MR26884
- [149] VON KÁRMÁN, T. (1948). Progress in the statistical theory of turbulence. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 34 530–539. MR28160
- [150] VON KÁRMÁN, T. and HOWARTH, L. (1938). On the statistical theory of isotropic turbulence. *Proc. Roy. Soc.* 164 192–215.
- [151] VON KÁRMÁN, T. and LIN, C. C. On the statistical theory of isotropic turbulence. In Advances in Applied Mechanics, vol. 2 (R. von Mises and T. von Kármán, eds.) 1–19. MR0042255
- [152] WALD, R. M. (1984). General relativity. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL. MR757180
- [153] WALLACH, N. R. (1973). Harmonic analysis on homogeneous spaces. Pure and Applied Mathematics 19. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York. MR0498996
- [154] WEYL, H. (1997). Die Idee der Riemannschen Fläche. Teubner-Archiv zur Mathematik. Supplement [Teubner Archive on Mathematics. Supplement]
  5. B. G. Teubner Verlagsgesellschaft mbH, Stuttgart Reprint of the 1913 German original, With essays by Reinhold Remmert, Michael Schneider, Stefan Hildebrandt, Klaus Hulek and Samuel Patterson, Edited and with a preface and a biography of Weyl by Remmert. MR1440406
- [155] WEYL, H. (1997). The classical groups, their invariants and representations. Princeton Landmarks in Mathematics. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ Fifteenth printing, Princeton Paperbacks. MR1488158
- [156] WHITNEY, H. (1936). Differentiable manifolds. Ann. of Math. (2) 37 645–680. MR1503303

- [157] WINEMAN, A. S. and PIPKIN, A. C. (1964). Material symmetry restrictions on constitutive equations. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 17 184–214. MR171421
- [158] YADRENKO, M. I. (1983). Spectral theory of random fields. Translation Series in Mathematics and Engineering. Optimization Software, Inc., Publications Division, New York Translated from the Russian. MR697386
- [159] YAGLOM, A. M. (1948). Homogeneous and isotropic turbulence in a viscous compressible fluid. *Izvestiya Akad. Nauk SSSR. Ser. Geograf. Geofiz.* 12 501–522. MR0033702
- [160] YAGLOM, A. M. (1957). Certain types of random fields in n-dimensional space similar to stationary stochastic processes. *Teor. Veroyatnost. i Primenen* 2 292–338. MR0094844
- [161] YAGLOM, A. M. (1961). Second-order homogeneous random fields. In Proc. 4th Berkeley Sympos. Math. Statist. and Prob., Vol. II. Contributions to Probability Theory (J. NEYMAN, ed.) 593–622. Univ. California Press, Berkeley, Calif. MR0146880
- [162] YAGLOM, A. M. (1987). Correlation theory of stationary and related random functions. Vol. I. Basic results. Springer Series in Statistics. Springer-Verlag, New York. MR893393
- [163] YAGLOM, A. M. (1987). Correlation theory of stationary and related random functions. Vol. II. Supplementary notes and references. Springer Series in Statistics. Springer-Verlag, New York. MR915557
- [164] ZALDARRIAGA, M. and SELJAK, U. (1997). An all sky analysis of polarization in the microwave background. *Phys. Rev. D* 55 1830–1840.
- [165] ZERILLI, F. J. (1970). Tensor harmonics in canonical form for gravitational radiation and other applications. J. Mathematical Phys. 11 2203–2208. MR270692
- [166] ZERILLI, F. J. (1970). Gravitational field of a particle falling in a Schwarzschild geometry analyzed in tensor harmonics. *Phys. Rev. D* (3) 2 2141–2160. MR321491
- [167] ZHANG, X., MALYARENKO, A., PORCU, E. and OSTOJA-STARZEW-SKI, M. (2022). Elastodynamic problem on tensor random fields with fractal and Hurst effects. *Meccanica* 57 957–970. MR4397960
- [168] ZHENG, Q. S. and BOEHLER, J.-P. (1994). The description, classification, and reality of material and physical symmetries. Acta Mech. 102 73–89. MR1251809